
April 2008

Fellow Shareholders: 

The market tailwinds that benefited our share price and the share prices of other REITs through the second 
quarter of 2007 turned into a headwind reducing our share price substantially by year end.  While cash available for 
distribution as well as our dividend increased in 2007, total annual shareholder return declined for the first time 
under current management by 17%.  We make no excuse for this result but believe that, as discussed in this letter, 
we have well positioned the company to protect against the risks of the current market downturn and to take 
advantage of the opportunities that will be afforded. 

Throughout 2007, we continued the conservative investment approach of 2006 avoiding the auction 
environment for single asset transactions, electing instead to invest our equity capital through joint ventures with 
existing partners.  Together with the Sealy group we formed a second joint venture to acquire a 50% interest in an 
$87 million 13 building flex office complex located in Nashville compromising 1,155,000 square feet of leaseable 
space.  Expanding on our Marc Realty platform, we converted the distressed debt position acquired in 2006 into 
ownership of 241,000 square feet of office space together with an adjoining 131 space parking lot in Chicago.  In 
addition, we jointly purchased a $22.6 million underperforming 226,000 square office building located in downtown 
Chicago.  Our ventures with Marc Realty, which seek to acquire and then reposition underperforming office 
properties, continue to generate superior profitability as represented by the sale of two properties in 2007 yielding a 
28.3% blended return to our investment. 

The principal focus of our investment activity in 2007 was through our joint venture debt platform with 
Lexington Realty Trust, Concord Debt Holdings (“Concord”).  Together with Lexington, we grew the portfolio from 
$610 million in assets to approximately $1.2 billion by year’s end.  The loans acquired and originated are in each 
case consistent with the criteria which we apply to our equity investments; that is, we limit our lending to 
conventional apartments, retail, warehouse, office, and quality hospitality assets.  We avoid condominium, 
residential, raw-land, specialty use, manufacturing or development properties.  We will not acquire a loan tied to any 
asset in which we lack management expertise and as to which there are not a number of potential buyers.  Concord 
currently has no non-performing bonds or loans in its portfolio.   

Operationally, we are very pleased with the performance of our assets in 2007.  Our core portfolio of 
wholly owned properties is currently 98% occupied.  Our joint venture with Marc Realty, which focuses on 
acquiring underperforming office buildings for repositioning, is presently 80% occupied as compared to 81% 
occupied at 2006 year’s end.  The difference primarily results from the addition of two new underperforming 
properties and the sale of two well leased properties.  The two Sealy joint ventures concluded the year with an 89% 
occupancy rate as compared to 87% in 2006 for the single joint venture. 

Obviously, the immediate questions before us is how do we view the present economic and investment 
climate and how will that impact on us and our investment strategies for the future.  We are all well aware that the 
country in general and real estate in particular are undergoing an unparalleled liquidity crisis in both suddenness of 
occurrence and breadth of impact.  While we lack the ability to make macroeconomic predictions, we would be 
foolish not to incorporate in our planning the likelihood of slowing economic growth if not outright recession.  As 
real estate asset values correlate closely to the availability and affordability of debt and equity capital, we believe 
that the resulting increase to their cost will ultimately translate into a decline in real estate pricing.  Further, an 
economic slowdown reducing user demand for real estate assets can only magnify the downward pressure on real 
estate values.  It has always been our view, however, that corrective cycles create the most significant opportunities 
for extraordinary risk adjusted returns which we intend to exploit. 

Before we can seek new opportunities, we first must make certain that all reasonable steps have been taken 
to both protect against and prepare for the rigors of this changed environment.  Each of our investment platforms 
and investments is essentially a standalone business such that any potential problems or liabilities which might occur 
are limited to that specific platform or investment.  Consequently, our exposure in each case is limited to our equity 
in that particular investment and not to Winthrop as a whole.  Further, inclusive of extension rights, the secured debt 
of our wholly owned assets has no debt maturing in 2008, approximately $9.5 million or 4% of the total outstanding 
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debt maturing in 2009, and the balance of $226 million or 96% of our total debt maturing in 2011 or later.  In 
addition, the company has an unused credit facility of $70 million.  With respect to Concord, 44% of the platform’s 
debt obligations mature in November of 2016 and 45% has been extended to mature in March of 2011.  The 
remaining approximately 10% of its debt, or $87.8 million, has a maturity of less than one year.  Moreover, we 
recently obtained for Concord its own $100 million three year term revolver with which to make new investments as 
well as to reduce the amount of its existing outstanding liabilities if needed. 

While we have “battened down the hatches” as it were, we also have taken significant steps to permit us to 
pursue the opportunities which we believe will be forthcoming in the future.  Most importantly, we will have 
increased our cash position from $36.7 as of year end to approximately $130 million upon conclusion of our 
outstanding rights offering and $200 million when one includes the aforementioned $70 million revolving loan 
facility.  We suspect that our company, upon conclusion of the rights offering, will have more cash as a percentage 
of share price than most, if not all, other publicly traded real estate investment trusts.  We strongly believe that at 
this point of the investment cycle “cash will be king” and we intend to be accorded royal treatment. 

Management is dedicated to an opportunistic value oriented real estate investment strategy having 
previously participated in a number of real estate downturns.  The effects and duration of each downturn is as unique 
as its origins and currently impossible to predict.  Nevertheless, our prior experience has provided us with certain 
lessons as to which we intend to adhere in this cycle.  First, tread cautiously and deliberately.  More often than not 
those that rush to invest too early in a downturn needlessly expose their capital to excessive risk and miss more 
attractive opportunities that may emerge later in the cycle.  Focus on investing in the highest quality assets.  Since 
their pricing falls almost to the same extent as lesser quality assets and their price recovery is generally quicker and 
more certain, these assets constitute the best bargains.  If you have the stomach for it as we do, consider both 
performing and distressed debt as a near term investment strategy.  Why not enjoy exceptional yields, with the 
possibility of acquiring an asset at a discounted price point.  When available, strongly consider portfolio and 
corporate real estate investments.  You are almost always less likely to be mistaken in your valuation of 30 assets 
than you are with respect to one asset.  Finally, pursue joint venture investment platforms as a means of diversifying 
your opportunities and maximizing the returns on your capital. 

In summary, we believe that over the past several months we have taken the needed steps to position 
Winthrop both to avail itself of the investment opportunities which are likely to occur and to reduce our exposure to 
the risks that are equally likely to arise. 

Once again, I want to acknowledge the significant efforts and contributions made by our entire 
management team, our advisor’s personnel and our dedicated Board of Trustees.  We are all of course disappointed 
by the recent resignation of Bruce Berkowitz a long time Trustee of the company from the Board.  His insight and 
perspectives will certainly be missed.  He has assured me, however, that as an ongoing shareholder and personal 
friend, we will continue to have his ear when needed.  I also would like to welcome to the Board of Trustees Steven 
Zalkind, a very experienced and successful real estate investor from whose advice and tutelage I have benefitted 
from for more than 25 years.  Additionally, I am pleased that Thomas McWilliams has been nominated for a 
position on our Board of Trustees.  Tom is the managing partner of the investment committee of Court Square 
Capital Partners, a private equity company that manages approximately $6 billion.  His experience in the private 
equity world will give Winthrop an investment perspective not previously available to us.    

As always, I look forward to meeting with you at our annual meeting on May 21 and addressing any 
questions which you might have. 

Sincerely,

Michael L. Ashner 
Chief Executive Officer 
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EXPLANATORY PARAGRAPH

This Form 10-K/A Amendment No.1 is being filed solely for the purpose of (i) attaching as Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2  
the audited financial statements of Concord Debt Holdings LLC and the Marc Portfolio, respectively, as required by 
Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X and (ii) adding the information required by Part III of Form 10-K which was 
previously incorporated by reference to Winthrop Realty Trust’s proxy statement for its Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders to be held on May 21, 2008.  In light of the timing of Winthrop Realty Trust’s anticipated rights 
offering, this information has now been included in the Form 10-K.  For the reader’s convenience, Winthrop Realty 
Trust is re-filing its entire Form 10-K with these items incorporated.  This Form 10-K/A Amendment No. 1 has not 
been updated for events or information subsequent to the date of filing of the original Form 10-K.  Accordingly, this 
Form 10-K/A Amendment No. 1 should be read in conjunction with the Trust’s filings made with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission subsequent to the filing of the original Form 10-K.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Any statements in this report, including any statements in the documents that are incorporated by reference herein that 
are not strictly historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Any such forward-looking statements contained or incorporated by reference 
herein should not be relied upon as predictions of future events. Certain such forward-looking statements can be 
identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes,” “expects,” “may,” “should,” “seeks,” 
“approximately,” “intends,” “plans,” “pro forma,” “estimates” or “anticipates” or the negative thereof or other variations 
thereof or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy, plans, intentions or anticipated or projected events, 
results or conditions. Such forward-looking statements are dependent on assumptions, data or methods that may be 
incorrect or imprecise and they may be incapable of being realized. Such forward-looking statements include statements 
with respect to:  

the declaration or payment of distributions by us;  

the ownership, management and operation of properties;  

potential acquisitions or dispositions of our properties, investments or other businesses;  

our policies regarding investments, acquisitions, dispositions, financings and other matters;  

our qualification as a real estate investment trust under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended;  

the real estate industry and real estate markets in general;  

the availability of debt and equity financing;  

interest rates;  

general economic conditions;  

supply of real estate investment opportunities and demand;  

trends affecting us or our properties, investments or other businesses;  

the effect of acquisitions or dispositions on our capitalization and financial flexibility;  

the anticipated performance of our assets and of acquired properties and businesses, including, without 
limitation, statements regarding anticipated revenues, cash flows, funds from operations, earnings before 
interest, depreciation and amortization, property net operating income, operating or profit margins and 
sensitivity to economic downturns or anticipated growth or improvements in any of the foregoing; and  

our ability, and that of our properties, investments and businesses, to grow.  

Holders of common shares of beneficial interest are cautioned that, while forward-looking statements reflect our good 
faith beliefs, they are not guarantees of future performance and they involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. 
Actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors. The 
information contained or incorporated by reference in this report and any amendment hereof including, without 
limitation, the information set forth in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” below or in any risk factors in documents that are 
incorporated by reference in this report, identifies important factors that could cause such differences. We undertake no 
obligation to publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements that may reflect any future 
events or circumstances.  
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PART I 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

Overview

Winthrop Realty Trust (formerly First Union Real Estate Equity and Mortgage Investments), which, together with its 
subsidiaries, we refer to as the Trust, we, us, and Company, is a real estate investment trust, which we refer to as a REIT, 
under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we refer to as the Code.  We 
are an unincorporated association in the form of a business trust organized in Ohio under a Declaration of Trust dated 
August 1, 1961, as amended and restated on December 15, 2005.  Our principal executive offices are at 7 Bulfinch Place, 
Suite 500, Boston, MA 02114, our telephone number is 617-570-4614, and our website is www.winthropreit.com.
Information on our website is not a part of this report. 

We are engaged in the business of owning real property and real estate related assets which we categorize into three 
specific areas:  (i) ownership of operating properties, which we refer to as operating properties; (ii) origination and 
acquisition of loans and debt securities secured directly or indirectly by commercial and multi-family real property, 
including collateral mortgage-backed securities and collateral debt obligation securities, which we refer to as loan assets 
and loan securities; and (iii) ownership of equity interests in other REITs, which we refer to as REIT equity interests.  

We hold our assets through our wholly-owned operating partnership, WRT Realty L.P. (formerly First Union REIT L.P.), 
a Delaware limited partnership, which serves as our operating partnership in connection with our umbrella partnership 
real estate investment trust or "UPREIT" structure.  The UPREIT structure provides a method for us to acquire properties 
by issuing to sellers, as a form of consideration, limited partnership interests in the operating partnership. 

We acquire assets through direct ownership as well as through entering into specific strategic alliances and ventures.  In 
particular, we have entered into two significant venture arrangements.  Our venture with Marc Realty LLC, which we 
refer to as Marc Realty, a Chicago area real estate company, is our primary vehicle for investments in the Chicago 
metropolitan area.  In addition, since its formation in March 2006, we acquire substantially all of our loan assets and loan 
securities through Concord Debt Holdings LLC, which we refer to as Concord, a venture with Lexington Realty Trust, 
which we refer to as Lexington.  The formation of Concord enables us to increase and diversify our loan asset and loan 
security portfolio as it effectively doubles the capital available for investments in loan assets and loan securities. 

Management 

We are externally advised by FUR Advisors LLC, which we refer to as our advisor, an entity controlled by and partially 
owned by our current executive officers.  Our advisor is required to administer our affairs including seeking, servicing 
and managing our investments.  For providing these and the other services contemplated by the advisory agreement 
between us and our advisor, which we refer to as the Advisory Agreement, our advisor receives a base management fee 
and is entitled to an incentive fee.  See “Employees” and “Item 1A. Risk Factors – Risk Relating to Our Management” 
below.   

Pursuant to our bylaws, our executive officers are permitted to acquire or dispose of an investment with an aggregate 
value of $5,000,000 or less without the consent of our Board of Trustees.  However, if such transaction is with (i) our 
advisor (and any successor advisor), Michael Ashner, and any of their respective affiliates; (ii) Lexington, The Lexington 
Master Limited Partnership, or Apollo Real Estate Investment Fund III, L.P. or any of their respective affiliates; (iii) a 
beneficial owner of more than 4.9% of our issued and outstanding common shares of beneficial interest, which we refer 
to as our common shares, either directly or upon the conversion of any of our preferred shares of beneficial interest, 
which we refer to as our preferred shares; or (iv) a beneficial owner of more than 4.9% of any other entity in which we 
hold a 10% or greater interest, then regardless of the amount of the transaction, such transaction must be approved by a 
majority of our independent trustees (acting as members of our Conflicts Committee). 
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Our Objectives and Strategies

Our business objective is to maximize long-term shareholder value through a total return value approach to real estate 
investing.  We seek to achieve this objective by identifying and investing in discrete real estate investments as well as 
entering into ventures including arrangements with regional or specialized real estate professionals with extensive 
experience in a particular market or asset type.  In addition, where the opportunity arises we may seek to enter into 
strategic co-investment ventures managed by us with institutional and high net worth investors to enhance our total 
return through acquisition, asset management and other fees and a promoted economic interests. 

In general, we seek to  

acquire operating properties without regard to property type (subject to certain limitations), location or 
position in the capital structure we believe  

are undervalued, 
present an opportunity to outperform the marketplace while at the same time providing 
current cash flow, or 
will provide superior returns on the investment to the marketplace through an infusion of 
capital and/or improved management; 

acquire and originate loan assets and loan securities primarily through Concord utilizing the same 
underwriting criteria as used for operating properties and then taking advantage of the financing 
opportunities to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns;  

acquire interests in other REITs we believe to be undervalued; and 

retain our advisor which has a large experienced management team that provides us with resources at a cost 
that we believe to be less expensive than if such persons were employed directly by us. 

Except as indicated below or as limited by the restrictions placed on us in order to meet our requirements to maintain our 
status as a REIT and our own self-imposed restrictions, our investment decisions will not be materially affected by the 
nature of an investment or where that investment falls in an entity’s capital structure.  Generally, we do not acquire 
operating properties used for special use or healthcare or invest in development projects, single family projects, 
condominium or condo conversion projects, raw land or, to date, assets located outside of the United States.  Also, in 
connection with our investment in Lexington we have agreed not to make any future direct investments in net lease or 
single-tenant properties so long as Michael L. Ashner serves as an executive officer or trustee for both us and Lexington; 
however, as long as we hold our interest in Lexington, we will have a significant investment in single-tenant assets.   

We do not limit our investments to a specific type of real estate asset (either direct property investments, loans, office 
buildings etc.), our strategy is to concentrate our investments in those areas that we believe will generate the best risk-
adjusted return on our investments.  Accordingly, at such times as we believe that the purchase price for operating 
properties is purchaser favorable, it is likely that we will focus our investments in operating property acquisitions.  
Likewise, at such times as we believe that the purchase price for operating properties is high, it is likely that we will 
focus our investments on loan assets where the hypothetical purchase price for the underlying property collateralizing the 
loan asset, if acquired on a “last dollar loss” basis, is consistent with the purchase price that we would pay to acquire the 
property which serves to collateralize the loan asset.  That is, if we were required to foreclose on our lien, the effective 
purchase price for the asset would be the then outstanding principal balance and any accrued interest of our loan plus the 
outstanding principal balance and any accrued interest of any loans senior to our loan.   

We intend to fund our investments through one or more of the following: cash reserves, borrowings under our credit 
facility, property loans or the issuance by us of additional debt and/or equity.  Toward that end, we recently filed with the 
Securities Exchange Commission a registration statement on Form S-3 to enable us to sell 8,845,036 of our common 
shares pursuant to a rights offering to the existing holders of our common shares and our Series B-1 Cumulative 
Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares, which we refer to as our Series B-1 preferred shares.  As investments mature 
in value to the point where we are unlikely to achieve better than a market return on their then enhanced value, it is likely 
we will seek to exit the investment and redeploy the capital to what we believe will be higher yielding opportunities. 
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Our History  

Effective December 31, 2003, FUR Investors LLC, an entity controlled by and partially owned by our current executive 
officers, acquired 5,000,000 of our common shares pursuant to a tender offer at a price of $2.30 per share.  In addition, 
FUR Investors purchased an additional 5,000,000 newly issued common shares for a price of $2.60 per share. As a result 
of these purchases, FUR Investors acquired a total of 10,000,000 of the outstanding common shares which represented 
32.2% of the then total outstanding common shares.  

In connection with the acquisition by FUR Investors of our common shares: (i) our advisor was retained as our external 
advisor; (ii) Michael L. Ashner was appointed our Chief Executive Officer; (iii) Mr. Ashner entered into an exclusivity 
agreement with us, which we refer to as the Exclusivity Agreement; (iv) FUR Investors entered into a covenants 
agreement pursuant to which it agreed not to take certain actions which, among other things, would adversely impact our 
status as a REIT or the listing of our common shares on the New York Stock Exchange; (v) our Board of Trustees was 
substantially reconstituted; and (vi) the terms of the members of our Board of Trustees were destaggered.  

On November 7, 2005 in a transaction reviewed and approved by our Conflicts Committee which had engaged separate 
legal counsel, we assigned to Newkirk Realty Trust, Inc., which we refer to as Newkirk, all of our rights under the 
Exclusivity Agreement with respect to “net lease assets.”  As defined, net lease assets include a property that is either net 
leased or the tenant leases at least 85.0% of the rentable square footage of the property, and, in addition to base rent, the 
tenant is required to pay some or all of the operating expenses for the property and, in either case, the lease has a 
remaining term, exclusive of all unexercised renewal terms, of more than 18 months.  Our use of the term net lease assets 
also includes management agreements and master leases with terms of greater than three years where a manager or 
master lessee bears all operating expenses of a property and pays the owner a fixed return.  The term net lease assets also 
includes all retenanting and redevelopment associated with net lease properties as well as all agreements, leases and 
activities incidental thereto.  In addition, interests in net lease properties, include, without limitation, securities of 
companies, whether or not publicly traded, that are primarily invested in net lease assets.  In exchange for this 
assignment, we received 1,250,000 shares of Newkirk’s common stock which, at that time, was valued at $20,000,000.   

At the time of issuance, one half of the Newkirk shares (625,000 shares) we received were subject to forfeiture.  Each 
month 17,361 shares vested and were no longer subject to forfeiture.  In addition, we invested $50,000,000 in Newkirk 
by purchasing 3,125,000 shares at $16 per share.  All of the shares held in Newkirk by us were subject to a lock-up 
agreement which prohibited us from selling these shares until the earlier of (i) the termination of an advisory agreement 
between NKT Advisors LLC, an affiliate of our advisor, and Newkirk or (ii) November 7, 2008. 

On December 31, 2006, Newkirk was merged into Lexington Corporate Properties Trust (which upon the merger 
changed its name to Lexington Realty Trust). The merger required our consent and was reviewed and approved by our 
Conflicts Committee.  In connection with the merger, the Newkirk shares held by us were no longer subject to forfeiture 
or lock-up, and (ii) the assignment of the exclusivity rights with respect to net lease assets was vested in Lexington. 

Also in connection with the merger, Michael L. Ashner, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the former 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Newkirk, became a trustee and Executive Chairman of Lexington pursuant to 
the terms of an employment agreement between Mr. Ashner and Lexington, also approved by our Conflicts Committee.  
An agreement was entered into with Mr. Ashner which provides that in the event Lexington makes a real estate 
investment other than in a net-lease asset, Mr. Ashner is obligated to terminate his employment and other positions with 
Lexington, unless a majority of our independent trustees consent to his remaining with Lexington.  Further, Mr. Ashner 
is not permitted to agree to certain amendments to his employment agreement without the consent of our Conflicts 
Committee.  Due to Mr. Ashner’s position with Lexington, all future transactions with respect to the shares held by us in 
Lexington are subject to approval by our Conflicts Committee. 

Our Assets

We make investments in real estate related assets directly and in ventures with third parties.  We classify these 
investments into three segments:  (i) operating properties; (ii) loan assets and loan securities; and (iii) REIT equity 
interests. 
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At December 31, 2007, our assets consisted of: 

Operating properties containing 9,490,000 square feet of space, including the properties in the Marc Realty 
and Sealy portfolios, and 230 rental units at a multi-family property. 

Loan assets directly held having an aggregate principal balance of $85,699,000 and a 50% ownership 
interest in Concord which held loan assets and loan securities having an aggregate principal balance of 
$1,178,000,000. 

REIT equity interests with a market value of $51,804,000. 

Operating Properties

See “Item 2. Properties.” 

Loan Assets and Loan Securities

General 

Loan assets directly held by us at December 31, 2007 consisted of: 

Property/Collateral
Property 
Location

Outstanding 
Principal Balance Interest Rate Maturity

     
Marc Realty Portfolio (1) Various    $    55,586,000 7.65% April 2012 
     
Marc Realty – 180 Michigan (1) Chicago, IL 17,669,000 7.32% June 2008 
     
Marc Realty - Various (2) Chicago, IL       12,444,000 8.50% (2) 
     
  $     85,699,000   

(1) See “Marc Realty Loans” below for additional information relating to these loans. 
(2) Tenant improvement and capital expenditure loans with respect to certain of the properties in the Marc Realty 

portfolio which mature from July 2012 to November 2013.  See “Marc Realty Loans” below. 

Concord Debt Holdings

General

As described above, in March 2006 we formed a venture with Lexington called Concord Debt Holdings LLC for the 
purpose of acquiring and originating a diversified portfolio of real estate loans and securities.  There are a number of 
risks associated with our investment in Concord that are set forth below in Item 1A. Risk Factors. 

To date, we and Lexington have each committed to invest $162,500,000 in Concord, of which $157,413,000 was 
contributed at December 31, 2007.  In addition to the capital contributions made by us and Lexington, Concord currently 
finances its loan assets and loan securities, and expects to continue to finance its loan assets and loan securities, through 
various structures including, repurchase facilities, credit lines, term loans and securitizations.  Concord may seek 
additional capital through sales of preferred or common equity in Concord to institutional or other investors.     

Concord is managed by WRP Sub-Management LLC, which we refer to as the Concord Advisor, which is an affiliate of, 
and has substantially the same executive officers as, our advisor.  Investments and other material decisions with respect 
to Concord’s business require the consent of both us and Lexington or our and their representatives on Concord’s 
investment committee. 

Concord’s business is to acquire and originate loan assets and loan securities collateralized by real estate assets including 
mortgage loans (commonly referred to as whole loans), subordinate interests in whole loans (either through the 
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acquisition of a B-Note or a participation interest), mezzanine loans, preferred equity and commercial real estate 
securities including collateralized mortgage-backed securities, which we refer to as CMBS, and real estate collateral debt 
obligations, which we refer to as a CDO.  Concord seeks to produce a stable income stream from its investments in loan 
assets and loan securities by carefully managing credit risk and interest rate risk.  The loan assets and loan securities in 
which it invests are selected based on their long-term earnings potential and credit quality.  Concord’s primary objective 
is to derive earnings from interest income rather than trading gains and, accordingly, intends to hold its loan assets and 
loan securities to maturity.  During the investment process, Concord uses the real estate expertise of its management 
team, which includes members of our advisor to underwrite and analyze the loan assets and loan securities and properties 
collateralizing them. 

Concord seeks to achieve its objective by acquiring and originating loan assets and loan securities where the real estate 
collateral for the loan asset or loan security, its debt yield and the hypothetical purchase price for such real estate if 
acquired on a “last dollar loss” basis meet our value-driven, risk adjusted investment strategy.  Further, as a value 
investor Concord seeks loan assets and loan securities for which the real estate collateral is consistent with our and 
Lexington’s core real estate groups of income producing office, retail, multifamily, warehouse and hospitality assets.  
Concord does not generally invest in industrial, R&D, special use or healthcare assets, and it does not invest in any 
development projects, single family projects, condominium or condo conversion projects, raw land, synthetic loans or 
loans originated on assets located outside of the United States.  Further, Concord does not directly invest in single family 
home mortgages nor does it acquire loan assets where the underlying obligor is either us or Lexington or our respective 
affiliates.  Concord only invests in assets in which the pool of potential buyers is broad and seeks to avoid assets which 
lack existing cash flow and/or were developed on a “for sale” basis.  Moreover, depending on the size of the loan class, 
Concord generally seeks to acquire between 51% and 100% of the ownership position in the loan asset in which it 
invests so as to control any decision making which might occur with respect to such loan asset in the future.   

Following the acquisition of a loan asset or loan security, the Concord Advisor seeks to enhance the return to Concord on 
such assets by obtaining financing which is accretive to Concord.  Concord’s original business model was to ultimately 
finance its loan assets and loan securities with long-term debt through the issuance of CDOs.  To this end, Concord 
formed its first CDO, Concord Real Estate CDO 2006-1, Ltd., which we refer to as CDO-1, pursuant to which it financed 
approximately $464,601,000 of its loan assets and loan securities.  However, the debt capital markets have experienced 
an increase in volatility and reduction in liquidity since the second quarter of 2007.  This was initially triggered by credit 
concerns emanating from the single family residential market, particularly those loans commonly referred to as sub-
prime loans.  Concord’s sole exposure to the single family residential market is with respect to an $11,500,000 
investment in a $983,869,000 bond, 21.3% of which is subordinate to Concord’s position.  Collateral for this bond can 
consist of up to 10% of residential loans, with the balance of the collateral consisting of commercial loans.  At December 
31, 2007, the collateral for the bond consisted of only 3.4% of residential loans.  Accordingly, even if all of the 
residential loans were to be valueless, an additional 17.9% of the value of the remaining loans collateralizing the bond 
would have to be eliminated before Concord would suffer any actual loss.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Concord 
elected to take an $11,028,000 other-than-temporary impairment even though the loan security is performing in 
accordance with its terms and it is Concord’s intention to hold this loan security to maturity.  

As a result of the increase in volatility of the debt capital markets, CDO securitizations have become difficult if not 
impossible to execute.  As a result, Concord has continued to finance its acquisition of loan assets and loan securities 
through repurchase facilities and additional capital from us and Lexington.  Concord expects to issue additional CDOs or 
other types of securitizations at such time, if at all, as such issuances will generate attractive equity returns. 

CDOs are a securitization structure whereby multiple classes of debt are issued to finance a portfolio of income 
producing assets, such as loan assets and loan securities.  Cash flow from the portfolio of assets is used to repay the CDO 
liabilities sequentially, in order of seniority.  The most senior classes of debt typically have credit ratings of "AAA" 
through "BBB " and therefore can be issued at yields that are lower than the average yield of the assets backing the 
CDO.  That is, the gross interest payments on the senior classes of CDO securities are less than the average of the 
interest payment received by the CDO from its assets.  On its existing CDO, Concord retained, and Concord expects that 
it will retain on any future CDOs, the equity and the junior CDO debt securities.  As a result, assuming the CDOs’ assets 
are paid in accordance with their terms, Concord’s return will be enhanced as Concord will retain the benefit of the 
spread between the yield on the CDO loan assets and loan securities and the yield on the CDO debt.  The equity and the 
junior CDO debt securities that Concord holds and intends to retain are the most junior securities in the CDO's capital 
structure and are usually unrated or rated below investment grade.  Concord also earns ongoing management fees for its 
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management of the CDO collateral.  A portion of these management fees is senior to the ‘‘AAA’’ rated debt securities of 
each CDO.  In CDO-1, the level of leverage on the underlying assets was approximately 80%.  The leverage level of 
Concord’s future CDOs may vary depending on the composition of the portfolio and market conditions at the time of the 
issuance of each CDO.  Concord may increase or decrease leverage on its investment grade CDOs, at securitization, 
upward or downward to improve returns or to manage credit risk.  In addition to CDOs, Concord may also use other 
capital markets vehicles to finance its real estate debt portfolio of loan assets and loan securities. 

The Concord Advisor provides accounting, collateral management and loan brokerage services to Concord and its 
subsidiaries, including CDO-1.  For providing these services, Concord reimburses the Concord Advisor for the costs 
incurred by Concord Advisor solely for the benefit of Concord, including salaries of employees dedicated to Concord’s 
business, which amounted to $2,571,000 in 2007.  In order to create an economy of scale, an affiliate of both our advisor 
and the Concord Advisor provides accounting and other non-loan origination and loan acquisition services for the 
Concord Advisor.  In connection with providing these services, the Concord Advisor reimburses such affiliate for the 
estimated costs associated with providing these services, which costs we refer to as the Concord Credit Amount.  As 
describe above, we hold a 50% interest in Concord.  As a result, we effectively pay 50% of Concord Credit Amount.  
Accordingly, because the Concord Credit Amount is paid to an affiliate of our advisor, we receive a credit against the 
advisory fee payable to our advisor equal to 50% of the Concord Credit Amount which credit amounted to $189,000 for 
2007. 

For additional information relating to Concord and its assets, see “Item 7. Management Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Conditions and Results of Operations – Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” and “Item 8. Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Data – Note 8 – Concord Debt Holdings LLC.”

Marc Realty Portfolio 

At December 31, 2007, our Marc Realty portfolio consisted of one first mortgage bridge loan, two participating second 
mortgage loans and 19 convertible mezzanine loans, together with an equity investment in each mezzanine borrower, in 
the aggregate amount of approximately $73,255,000.  Each of the borrowers is owned primarily by the principals of 
Marc Realty, a Chicago-based real estate company.  Each loan is secured by the applicable borrower's ownership interest 
in a limited liability company, which we refer to as a Property Owner, that in turn owns an office building or complex 
primarily in the Chicago business district or suburban area.  Each borrower holds a 100% interest in the applicable 
Property Owner other than with respect to one property, in which the borrower holds a 75% interest in the Property 
Owner. Each loan, other than the first mortgage bridge loan, bears interest at 7.65%, matures on April 18, 2012 and 
requires monthly payments of interest only.   The first mortgage bridge loan, in the amount of $17,669,000, bears interest 
at 7.32%, requires monthly payments of interest only and matures on June 20, 2008. 

In connection with the making of these loans, we acquired an equity interest in each of the borrowers.  The equity 
interest entitles us to participate in capital proceeds derived from the sale or refinancing of the applicable property to the 
extent such proceeds generate amounts in excess of that required to fully satisfy all of the debt encumbering that property, 
including our respective loan and a return to the borrower of its deemed equity (the agreed value of the applicable 
property less all debt encumbering that property including the loan made by us) plus a 7.65% return thereon. 

During 2007, two of the properties underlying the mezzanine loans were sold.  Upon the sale of these two properties, 
exclusive of interest, we received an aggregate of $17,866,000 on our original investment of $11,333,000. 
During 2006, four of the properties underlying the mezzanine loans were sold.  Upon the sale of these four properties, 
exclusive of interest, we received an aggregate of $7,716,000 on our original investment of $6,635,000. 

In addition, in connection with the original Marc Realty transaction both us and Marc Realty committed to each provide 
up to $7,350,000 in additional financing, which we refer to as TI/Capex Loans, to cover the costs of tenant 
improvements and capital expenditures at the properties underlying the Marc Realty portfolio.  During 2007, TI/Capex 
Loans in excess of the $7,350,000 commitment were required.  Accordingly, although neither us nor Marc Realty has 
committed to provide additional TI/Capex Loans, at December 31, 2007 both us and Marc Realty had each advanced 
approximately $12,444,000 in TI/Capex Loans.  The TI/Capex Loans bear interest of 8.50% per annum and are secured 
by a subordinate loan on the applicable property. 
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The following table sets forth certain information relating to the office buildings held by each Property Owner at 
December 31, 2007: 

Address Property Location Square Footage

Principal Balance  

Loan

Principal Balance 

TI/Capex Loans 

(1) 

1111 Plaza Drive   Schaumburg, IL  127,000  $      2,144,000  $                     –
1000 Plaza Drive   Schaumburg, IL  125,000   994,000   –
999 Plaza Drive   Schaumburg, IL  137,000   1,787,000   –
8 South Michigan Avenue   Chicago, IL  174,000   5,207,000   1,050,000
11 East Adams Street   Chicago, IL  159,000   3,810,000   1,221,000
29 East Madison Street   Chicago, IL  235,000   6,515,000   502,000
30 North Michigan Avenue   Chicago, IL  221,000   5,527,000   3,099,000
600 West Jackson Street (2)   Chicago, IL  101,000   1,736,000   453,000
999 East Touhy Avenue (2)   Des Plaines, IL  146,000   736,000   133,000
223 West Jackson Street   Chicago, IL  167,000   5,507,000   889,000
1803-1995 Hicks Road   Rolling Meadows, IL  75,000   1,254,000   413,000
4415 West Harrison Street   Hillside, IL  192,000   4,905,000   231,000
6546 Mercantile Way   Lansing, MI  403,000   2,587,000   637,000
2000-2060 East Algonquin    Schaumburg, IL  101,000   434,000   682,000
1701 East Woodfield Road   Schaumburg, IL  173,000   3,278,000   236,000
2720 River Road   Des Plaines, IL  108,000   3,314,000   255,000
3701 Algonquin Road   Rolling Meadows, IL  194,000   1,858,000   987,000
1051 Perimeter Drive   Schaumburg, IL  194,000   549,000   -
2205-2255 Enterprise Drive   Westchester, IL  130,000   1,600,000   1,135,000
900 Ridgebrook  Northbrook, IL 119,000 1,484,000 432,000
180 North Michigan Avenue   Chicago, IL 226,000 17,669,000 -
2860 River Road  Des Plaines, IL           57,000             360,000                 89,000
        3,564,000 $     73,255,000 $        12,444,000

(1) Loans made to finance tenant improvements and capital expenditures. 
(2) Property is currently under contract for sale. 

First Mortgage Residential Whole-Pool Loan Certificates 

During 2005 and 2006, we invested $173,083,000 (including $609,000 of purchased interest) in agency-sponsored whole 
pool certificates.  Of these securities, $163,385,000 were issued by FNMA and $9,089,000 were issued by FHLMC.  
Pools of FNMA and FHLMC adjustable rate residential mortgage loans underlie these securities.  These securities were 
subsequently sold in February 2008, and we recognized a gain of $233,000.   

The table below sets forth information regarding our investments in whole-pool loan certificates as of December 31, 
2007 (in thousands).  

 Amortized 
Cost

Unrealized
Gain (Loss)

Market 
Value Maturity

Initial Interest 
Rate

      
Fannie Mae  $    48,355 $         234 $     48,589 6/1/2035 4.24% 
Fannie Mae  9,742  (118) 9,624 8/1/2035 6.49% 
Freddie Mac/Fannie Mae       19,780            148        19,928 8/1/2046 5.11% 
Total $    77,877 $         264 $     78,141   



12

REIT Equity Interests

At December 31, 2007, our investments in REIT equity interests consisted of the following: 

REIT/Ticker Symbol Number of Shares

Lexington (NYSE:LXP) 3,500,000 
HRPT Properties (NYSE:HRP) 100,000 
Sun Communities, Inc. (NYSE: SUI) 10,000 

See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 6 for information relating to the purchase price for our 
REIT equity interests and their market value at December 31, 2007. 

In addition, we held a 28% interest in Lex-Win Acquisition LLC, a venture which we refer to as Lex-Win, formed for the 
purpose of acquiring shares of common stock in Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc., a private real estate investment trust 
which we refer to as Piedmont.  At December 31, 2007, Lex-Win held 3,885,616.525 shares in Piedmont at a per share 
price of $9.30, representing approximately 0.79% of the total outstanding shares in Piedmont. 

Revolving Line of Credit

For information relating to our Revolving Line of Credit see Item 8. Financial Statements And Supplementary Data – 
Note 11. 

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had no employees. During 2007, our affairs were administered by our advisor pursuant to 
the terms of the Advisory Agreement.  Pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement, our advisor is responsible for 
providing asset management services to us and coordinating with our shareholder transfer agent and property managers.  
Under the Advisory Agreement, we pay to our advisor a quarterly base management fee equal to the lesser of an asset 
based fee or an equity based fee.  In general, the asset based fee is calculated as follows: 1% of our gross asset value up 
to $100,000,000, 0.75% of our gross asset value between $100,000,000 and $250,000,000, 0.625% of our gross asset 
value between $250,000,000 and $500,000,000 and 0.50% of our gross asset value in excess of $500,000,000.  To 
accommodate the high leverage on the properties that we refer to as the Finova properties, our advisor agreed to reduce 
its fee for these properties to 0.25% of the gross asset value for the portion of that portfolio that is subject to leverage. In
addition, in light of the nature of and leverage of our whole pool mortgage-backed loans, their value is entirely excluded 
from gross assets. 

The equity based fee is calculated as follows: (i) 1.5% of our issued and outstanding equity securities plus (ii) .25% of 
any equity contribution by an unaffiliated third party to a venture managed by us.  For purposes of the equity based 
calculation, the 31,058,913 common shares outstanding at January 1, 2005 are to be valued as follows: $2.30 (The tender 
offer price paid by an affiliate of our advisor in its December 2003 tender offer) with respect to 26,058,913 common 
shares and $2.60 (the purchase price paid by such affiliate) with respect to the 5,000,000 common shares acquired on 
December 31, 2003.  Our common shares issued upon the conversion of our Series A Preferred Shares are valued at 
$5.0825 per common share, the conversion price. All preferred and common shares issued subsequent to January 1, 2005 
are and will be valued at the net issuance price, including any common shares issued in connection with the conversion 
of preferred shares. 

In connection with the acquisition of the Newkirk shares, the Advisory Agreement was modified to provide for a credit 
to us against the payment of the quarterly base management fee payable to our advisor equal to 80% of the incentive 
management fee, if any, payable by Newkirk to NKT Advisors under their advisory agreement.  FUR Holdings LLC, 
which owns 100% of our advisor and 80% of NKT Advisors, effectively guaranteed any payments.  In connection with 
the Newkirk/Lexington merger, the advisory agreement between NKT Advisors and Newkirk was terminated, and NKT 
Advisors received a payment of $5,500,000 attributable to its incentive fee.  As a result, we received a $4,400,000 credit, 
$1,159,000 of which was used to offset our advisory fee payable for the quarter ended December 31, 2006 and the 
balance was used to offset a portion of the advisory fee payable during 2007.  In addition, we are entitled to receive a 
further credit against the advisory fee equal to 50% of the Concord Credit Amount. 
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In addition to the base management fee, pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement, at such time, if at all, as we 
have paid aggregate dividends to our holders of common shares in excess of a threshold amount ($349,653,000 at 
December 31, 2007 assuming conversion of all Series B-1 preferred shares at such date), our advisor will be entitled to 
receive 20% of all subsequent dividends paid to our holders of common shares.  If we had liquidated or sold all or a 
substantial portion of our assets at December 31, 2007, based upon a per share price equal to the closing price on 
December 31, 2007 ($5.29 per common share), the amount payable to our advisor as incentive fee compensation would 
be approximately $23,310,000.  Although the foregoing calculation of the incentive fee is based on the closing price of 
our common shares on the last day of the year, if the advisory agreement were terminated, the actual incentive fee 
payable would be based on an appraised valuation or the liquidation proceeds received for our assets, which may be 
substantially in excess of the amount calculated based on the market price of our common shares. 

Competition

We have significant competition with respect to our acquisition of operating properties and our acquisition and 
origination of loan assets with many other companies, including other REITs, insurance companies, commercial banks, 
private investment funds, hedge funds, specialty finance companies and other investors.  Our ability to grow our 
investment portfolio depends to a significant degree on our ability to implement our investment policy and operating 
strategies.   Some competitors may have a lower cost of funds and access to funding sources that are not available to us.  
In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or make different risk assessments, which could 
allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and establish more relationships than us.  We cannot assure you 
that the competitive pressures we face will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.  Also, as a result of this competition, we may not be able to take advantage of attractive investment 
opportunities from time to time, and we can offer no assurance that we will be able to identify and make investments that 
meet our investment objective.  We will continue to capitalize on the acquisition and investment opportunities that our 
advisor brings to us as a result of its acquisition experience as well as our partners in ventures which serve as platforms 
to investments in various geographic areas and particular classes of assets.  Through its broad experience, our advisor’s 
senior management team has established a network of contacts and relationships, including relationships with operators, 
financiers, commercial real estate brokers, potential tenants and other key industry participants.   

Environmental Regulations  

Our operations and properties are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations concerning the 
protection of the environment including air and water quality, hazardous or toxic substances and health and safety. See 
“Item 1A. Risk Factors – Environmental Liabilities.”  

Segment Data  

Our business segment data may be found in Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.  

Additional Information About Us  

We make the following materials available free of charge through our website at www.winthropreit.com as soon as 
reasonably practicable after such materials are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which we refer to as the Exchange Act:  

our annual reports on Form 10-K and all amendments thereto; 

our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and all amendments thereto; 

our current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments thereto; and 

various other filings that we make with the SEC. 
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We also make the following materials available free of charge through our website at www.winthropreit.com:

Audit Committee Charter; 

Compensation Committee Charter; 

Conflicts Committee Charter; 

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter; 

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and 

Corporate Governance Guidelines. 

We will provide a copy of the foregoing materials without charge to anyone who makes a written request to our Investor 
Relations Department, c/o FUR Advisors, LLC, 7 Bulfinch Place, Suite 500, P.O. Box 9507, Boston, Massachusetts 
02114.  

We also intend to promptly disclose on our website any amendments that we make to, or waivers for our trustees or 
executive officers that we grant from, the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.  

NYSE Certification 

As required by applicable New York Stock Exchange listing rules, on May 9, 2007, following our 2007 Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer submitted to the New York Stock Exchange a certification 
that he was not aware of any violation by us of New York Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards.  

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS  

We, our assets and the entities in which we invest are subject to a number of risks customary for REITs, property owners, 
loan originators and holders and equity investors as well as a number of risks involved in our investment policy that not 
all REITs may have.  Although this section is divided into a number of subheadings, it should be read in its entirety and 
although certain risks are more likely to occur with respect to certain types of assets in which we invest, and have been 
included under such heading, such risks may be applicable to other types of assets in which we invest or in which we 
may invest in the future.  Accordingly, this section should be read in its entirety to fully understand the risks applicable 
to an investment in us. 

General Risks Relating to Us and Our Business 

We have grown rapidly since January 1, 2004.  We may not be able to maintain this rapid growth and our failure to 

do so could adversely affect our stock price. 

We have experienced rapid growth in recent years, increasing our total assets from approximately $146,838,000 at 
December 31, 2003 to approximately $745,447,000 at December 31, 2007.  We may not be able to maintain a similar 
rate of growth in the future or manage our growth effectively.  In fact, our assets remained relatively constant during 
2007 as we elected to limit our investments due primarily to the high cost of real estate assets and the capital market 
crisis limiting debt investment opportunities.  Our failure to continue to grow our assets may have a material adverse 
affect on our financial condition and results of operations, our stock price and our ability to pay dividends to our 
shareholders. 

We may not be able to invest our cash reserves in suitable investments.  

At December 31, 2007, we had approximately $36,654,000 of cash and cash equivalents available for investment.  Our 
ability to generate increased revenues is dependent upon our ability to invest these funds as well as additional funds 
which we may raise or borrow in real estate related assets that will ultimately generate favorable returns.   

We are subject to significant competition and we may not compete successfully. 

See “Item 1. Business-Competition” for information relating to this risk. 
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Investing through ventures presents additional risks. 

Our investments in entities which we do not control, including ventures such as Concord and Marc Realty, present 
additional risks such as our having differing objectives than our partners or the entities in which we invest or our 
becoming involved in disputes or competing with those persons.  In addition, we rely on the internal controls and 
financial reporting controls of these entities and their failure to comply with applicable standards may adversely affect us. 

Investing in private companies involves specific risks.   

We have held ownership interests in, and may acquire additional ownership interests in, private companies not subject to 
the reporting requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Investments in private businesses involve a 
higher degree of business and financial risk, which can result in substantial losses and accordingly should be considered 
speculative.  There is generally no publicly available information about these private companies, and we will rely 
significantly on the due diligence of our advisor to obtain information in connection with our investment decisions.   

We may acquire or sell additional assets or properties.  Our failure or inability to consummate these transactions or 

manage the results of these transactions could adversely affect our operations and financial results.  

We may acquire or sell properties or acquire or sell other real estate companies when we believe that an acquisition or 
sale is consistent with our business objective.  We may not, however, succeed in consummating desired acquisitions or 
sales.  Also, we may not succeed in leasing newly acquired properties at rents sufficient to cover the costs of acquisition, 
debt service and operation.  Difficulties in integrating acquisitions into our portfolio may prove costly or time-consuming 
and could consume a disproportionate share of management's and/or our advisor’s attention. 

Many of our investments are illiquid, and we may not be able to adjust our portfolio in response to changes in 

economic and other conditions, which may result in losses to us.

Many of our investments are relatively illiquid and, therefore, our ability to sell properties and purchase other properties, 
securities and debt promptly in response to a change in economic or other conditions may be limited.  The requirements 
of the Code with regard to REITs also places limits on our ability to sell properties held for fewer than four years.  These 
considerations could make it difficult for us to dispose of properties, even if a disposition were in the best interest of our 
shareholders.  In addition, we invest in REIT equity interests that are not publicly traded which limits our ability to 
dispose of such assets.  As a result, our ability to adjust our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other 
conditions may be relatively limited, which may result in losses to us. 

We leverage our portfolio, which may adversely affect our return on our investments and may reduce cash available 

for distribution.  

We seek to leverage our portfolio through borrowings.  Our return on investments and cash available for distribution to 
holders of our preferred and common shares may be reduced to the extent that changes in market conditions cause the 
cost of our financings to increase relative to the income that can be derived from the assets.  Our debt service payments 
reduce the cash available for distributions to holders of preferred and common shares.  We may not be able to meet our 
debt service obligations and, to the extent that we cannot, we risk the loss of some or all of our assets to foreclosure or 
forced sale to satisfy our debt obligations.  A decrease in the value of the assets may lead to a requirement that we repay 
certain borrowings.  We may not have the funds available, or be able to arrange for refinancings, to satisfy such 
repayments.   

We may change our investment and operational policies. 

We may change our investment and operational policies, including our policies with respect to investments, acquisitions, 
growth, operations, indebtedness, capitalization and distributions, at any time without the consent of our shareholders, 
which could result in our making investments that are different from, and possibly riskier than, the types of investments 
described in this filing.  A change in our investment strategy may increase our exposure to interest rate risk, default risk 
and real estate market fluctuations, all of which could adversely affect our share price and our ability to make 
distributions. 
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Interest rate fluctuations may reduce the spread we earn on our interest-earning investments and may reduce our 

investment return.

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting from changes in interest rates and equity prices.  Although we seek to 
finance our assets on a match-funded basis and mitigate the risk associated with future interest rate volatility, we are 
subject to credit risk and interest rate risk with respect to our investments in loan assets and loan securities that are not 
match-funded.  Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary and tax policies, 
domestic and international economic and political considerations and other factors beyond our control. 

Our interest rate risk sensitive assets, liabilities and related derivative positions are generally held for non-trading 
purposes.  As of December 31, 2007, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates applied to our variable rate 
assets would increase our annual interest income by approximately $4,534,000, offset by an increase in our interest 
expense of approximately $3,314,000 on our variable rate liabilities after the impact of our interest rate swaps.  Similarly, 
a hypothetical 100 basis point decrease in interest rates would decrease our annual interest income by the same net 
amount. 

We and Concord engage in hedging transactions that may limit gains or result in losses.  

We and Concord use derivatives to hedge our respective liabilities and this has certain risks, including:  

losses on a hedge position have in the past and may in the future reduce the cash available for distribution to us 
as a partner in Concord and to our shareholders and such losses may exceed the amount invested in such 
instruments;  

counterparties to a hedging arrangement could default on their obligations; and  

we and Concord may have to pay certain costs, such as transaction fees or brokerage costs.   

Our Board of Trustees has authorized our advisor to use interest rate swaps, the purchase or sale of interest rate collars, 
caps or floors, options, mortgage derivatives and other hedging instruments in order to hedge as much of the interest rate 
risk as it determines is in the best interest of our shareholders, given the cost of such hedges and the need to maintain our 
status as a REIT.  We may use these hedging instruments in our risk management strategy to limit the effects of changes 
in interest rates on our operations.  A hedge may not be effective in eliminating all of the risks inherent in any particular 
position.  Our profitability may be adversely affected as a result of the use of derivatives.   

We must manage our investments in a manner that allows us to rely on an exemption from registration under The 

Investment Company Act in order to avoid the consequences of regulation under that Act.   

We intend to operate so that we are exempt from registration as an investment company under the Investment Company 
Act of 1940, as amended.  Therefore, the assets that we may invest in, or acquire, are limited by the provisions of the 
Investment Company Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.  If we are required to make investments 
in order to be exempt from registration, such investments may not represent an optimum use of our capital when 
compared to other available investments. 

We may not be able to obtain capital to make investments.  

At such time as we utilize our cash reserves, we will be dependent primarily on external financing to fund the growth of 
our business.  This is because one of the requirements for a REIT is that it distribute 90% of its net taxable income, 
excluding net capital gains, to its shareholders.  There is also a separate requirement to either distribute net capital gains 
or pay a corporate level tax.  Our access to debt or equity financing depends on the willingness of third parties to lend or 
make equity investments as well as the general condition of the capital markets.  We and other companies in the real 
estate industry have experienced limited availability of financing from time to time.  Although we believe that we will be 
able to finance any investments we seek to make in the foreseeable future, requisite financing may not be available on 
acceptable terms.   
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We have significant distribution obligations to holders of our Series B-1 preferred shares.

The provisions of our Series B-1 preferred shares currently require us to make annual distributions presently aggregating 
approximately $6,127,000 before any distributions may be made on our common shares.   

Our ratio of total debt to total entity value may increase. 

As of December 31, 2007, we had approximately $236,925,000 of mortgage loans payable and $98,266,000 in 
liquidation value of Series B-1 preferred shares which are included as debt for financial statement purposes.  Our ratio of 
this debt to total entity value was approximately 41.8%.  When we say “entity value” we mean market equity value of 
our common and preferred shares plus this debt.  In the future, we may incur additional debt to finance acquisitions, 
property developments or ventures and thus increase our ratio of total debt to total entity value.  If our level of 
indebtedness increases, it may increase the risk of default on our obligations and adversely affect our financial condition 
and results of operations.  In addition, in a rising interest rate environment the cost of our existing floating rate debt and 
any new debt or other market rate securities or instruments may increase. 

Covenants in our debt instruments could adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to make future 

investments.

The mortgages on our properties contain customary covenants such as those that limit our ability, without the prior 
consent of the lender, to further mortgage the applicable property.  Our credit facility contains, and other loans that we 
may obtain in the future may contain, customary restrictions, requirements and other limitations on our ability to incur 
indebtedness, including a limitation on our ability to incur debt based upon the level of our ratio of total debt to total 
assets, our ratio of secured debt to total assets, our ratio of EBITDA to interest expense and fixed charges, and a 
requirement for us to maintain a certain level of unencumbered assets to unsecured debt.  Our ability to borrow under our 
credit facility is subject to compliance with certain other covenants.  In addition, failure to comply with our covenants 
could cause a default under the applicable debt instrument, and we may then be required to repay such debt with capital 
from other sources which may not be available to us, or be available only on unattractive terms.   

Additionally, our ability to satisfy current or prospective lenders’ insurance requirements may be adversely affected 
should lenders insist upon insurance coverage against acts of terrorism not available to us in the marketplace on 
commercially reasonable terms. 
We rely on debt financing, including borrowings under our credit facility, issuances of unsecured debt and debt secured 
by individual properties, to finance our acquisition activities and for working capital.  If we are unable to obtain debt 
financing from these or other sources, or to refinance existing indebtedness upon maturity, our financial condition and 
results of operations would be adversely affected.  If we breach covenants in our debt agreements, the lenders can 
declare a default and, if the debt is secured, exercise their remedies including seeking to foreclose on the collateral 
securing the defaulted loan. 

Future issuances and sales of equity or debt interests pursuant to an outstanding registration statement may affect the 

market price of our common shares.

We currently have an effective “shelf” registration statement on file covering the issuance, from time to time, of up to 
$256,388,000 of our common shares, preferred shares and/or debt securities.  The registration statement also covers the 
resale by certain selling shareholders of up to 23,222,223 common shares.  The actual issuance of additional common 
shares or sale of these or other large holdings of common shares may decrease the market price of our common shares.  
We have also agreed to file a registration statement covering the resale of 3,522,566 common shares which were issued 
in a privately negotiated transaction in 2005.   

If we issue preferred equity or debt we may be exposed to additional restrictive covenants and limitations on our 

operating flexibility, which could adversely affect our ability to pay dividends. 

If we decide to issue preferred equity or debt in the future, it is likely that they will be governed by an indenture or other 
instrument containing covenants restricting our operating flexibility.  Holders of preferred equity or debt may be granted 
specific rights, including but not limited to: the right to hold a perfected security interest in certain of our assets, the right 
to accelerate payments due under the indenture, rights to restrict dividend payments, and rights to require approval to sell 
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assets.  Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences 
and privileges more favorable than those of our common shares.  We, and indirectly our shareholders, will bear the cost 
of issuing and servicing such securities. 

Our due diligence may not reveal all of the liabilities associated with a proposed investment and may not reveal other 

weaknesses.

Before making an investment in an operating property, loan asset or loan security, our advisor assesses the value of the 
operating property or, in the case of a loan asset or loan security, the value of the assets underlying the loan or loan 
security.  Further, in entering into a venture or making a loan or acquiring a loan security, our advisor assesses the 
strength and skills of such entity's management and other factors that it believes are material to the performance of the 
investment.  This process is particularly important and subjective with respect to newly organized entities because there 
may be little or no information publicly available about the entities.  In making the assessment and otherwise conducting 
customary due diligence, our advisor relies on the resources available to it and, in some cases, an investigation by third 
parties including, when available, audited financial statements prepared by independent accountants.  There can be no 
assurance that its due diligence processes will uncover all relevant facts or that the investment will be successful. 

We may fail to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT and may be required to pay income taxes at corporate rates.

Although we believe that we have been and will remain organized and have operated and will continue to operate so as 
to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we cannot assure this result.  Qualification as a REIT for federal 
income tax purposes is governed by highly technical and complex provisions of the Code for which there are only 
limited judicial or administrative interpretations.  Our qualification as a REIT also depends on various facts and 
circumstances that are not entirely within our control.  In addition, legislation, new regulations, administrative 
interpretations or court decisions might change the tax laws with respect to the requirements for qualification as a REIT 
or the federal income tax consequences of qualification as a REIT.   

If, with respect to any taxable year, we fail to maintain our qualification as a REIT and certain relief provisions do not 
apply, we would not be able to deduct distributions to our shareholders in computing our taxable income and would have 
to pay federal corporate income tax (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) on our taxable income.  If we 
had to pay federal income tax, the amount of money available to distribute to our shareholders would be reduced for the 
year or years involved, and we would no longer be required to pay dividends to our shareholders.  In addition, we would 
be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification was 
lost and thus our cash available for distribution to our shareholders would be reduced in each of those years, unless we 
were entitled to relief under relevant statutory provisions.   

Although we currently intend to operate in a manner designed to allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT, future 
economic, market, legal, tax or other considerations might cause us to revoke the REIT election.  In that event, we and 
our shareholders would no longer be entitled to the federal income tax benefits applicable to a REIT.   

Pursuant to an agreement with one of our common shareholders, we may be liable to pay damages to that shareholder in 
the event we fail to maintain our status as a REIT.   

In order to maintain our status as a REIT, we may be forced to borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions.  

As a REIT, we generally must distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income, subject to certain adjustments, 
to our shareholders.  To the extent that we satisfy the REIT distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our 
taxable income, we will be subject to federal corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income.  In addition, we 
will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we pay to our shareholders in a calendar year is 
less than a minimum amount specified under federal tax laws.   

From time to time, we may have taxable income greater than our cash flow available for distribution to our shareholders 
(for example, due to substantial non-deductible cash outlays, such as capital expenditures or principal payments on debt).  
If we do not have other funds available in these situations, we could be required to borrow funds, sell investments at 
disadvantageous prices or find alternative sources of funds to make distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out 
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enough of our taxable income to satisfy the REIT distribution requirement and to avoid income and excise taxes in a 
particular year.  These alternatives could increase our operating costs and diminish our rate of growth.  

Factors that may cause us to lose our New York Stock Exchange listing.  

We might lose our listing on the NYSE depending on a number of factors, including failure to qualify as a REIT, or our 
not meeting the NYSE’s requirements, including those relating to the number of shareholders and the amount and 
composition of our assets.   

Ownership limitations in our Bylaws may adversely affect the market price of our Common Shares.  

Our bylaws contain an ownership limitation that is designed to prohibit any transfer that would result in our being 
"closely-held" within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code.  This ownership limitation, which may be waived by 
our Board of Trustees, generally prohibits ownership, directly or indirectly, by any single shareholder of more than 9.8% 
of the common shares.  Our Board of Trustees has waived this ownership limitation on a number of occasions.  Unless 
the Board of Trustees waives the restrictions or approves a bylaw amendment, common shares owned by a person or 
group of persons in excess of 9.8% of our outstanding common shares are not entitled to any voting rights, are not 
considered outstanding for quorum or voting purposes, and are not entitled to dividends, interest or any other 
distributions with respect to the common shares.  The ownership limit may have the effect of inhibiting or impeding a 
change of control or a tender offer for our common shares.   

We may be adversely affected by unfavorable economic changes. 

Adverse economic conditions in the United States in general and particularly in areas where the properties underlying 
our investments are located (including business layoffs or downsizing, industry slowdowns, changing demographics and 
other factors) and local real estate conditions (such as oversupply of, or reduced demand for, office and industrial 
properties) may have an adverse affect on the value of our properties.  A material decline in demand, or the ability of 
tenants to pay rent, for office and industrial space may result in a material decline in our cash available for distribution. 

Risks Relating to our Operating Properties 

Risks incidental to the ownership and operation of real estate assets.  

The value of an investment in us depends upon our financial performance and the value of our operating properties, both 
those presently held as well as future investments, which are subject to the risks normally associated with the ownership, 
operation and disposal of real estate properties and real estate related assets, including:  

changes in the general and local economic climate; 

competition from other properties; 

changes in interest rates and the availability of financing; 

the cyclical nature of the real estate industry and possible oversupply of, or reduced demand for, space in the 
markets in which our properties are located; 

the attractiveness of our properties to tenants and purchasers; 

how well we manage our properties; 

changes in market rental rates and our ability to rent space on favorable terms; 

the financial condition of our tenants and borrowers including bankruptcy or insolvency of tenants and 
borrowers; 

the need to periodically renovate, repair and re-lease space and the costs thereof; 

increases in maintenance, insurance and operating costs; 

civil unrest, armed conflict or acts of terrorism against the United States; and 

earthquakes and other natural disasters or acts of God that may result in uninsured losses. 

In addition, applicable federal, state and local regulations, zoning and tax laws and potential liability under 
environmental and other laws may affect real estate values.  Further, throughout the period that we own real property, 
regardless of whether or not a property is producing any income, we must make significant expenditures, including those 
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for property taxes, maintenance, insurance and related charges and debt service.  The risks associated with real estate 
investments may adversely affect our operating results and financial position, and therefore the funds available for 
distribution to you as dividends. 

We face a number of significant issues with respect to the properties we own which may adversely affect our financial 

performance.  

Leasing Issues.  With respect to our properties, we are subject to the risk that, upon expiration, leases may not be 
renewed, the space may not be relet, or the terms of renewal or reletting, including the cost of any required renovations, 
may be less favorable than the current lease terms.  This risk is substantial with respect to our net lease properties as 
single tenants lease 100% of each property.  Twenty of our properties, containing an aggregate of approximately 
2,947,000 square feet of space are net leased to seven different tenants.  Leases accounting for approximately 2% of the 
aggregate 2006 annualized base rents from our properties, representing approximately 1% of the net rentable square feet 
at the properties, expired without penalty or premium through the end of 2007, and leases accounting for approximately 
3% of aggregate 2007 annualized base rent from the properties, representing approximately 2% of the net rentable square 
feet at the properties, are scheduled to expire in 2008.  Other leases grant tenants early termination rights upon payment 
of a termination penalty.  Lease expirations will require us to locate new tenants and negotiate replacement leases with 
new tenants.  The costs for tenant improvements, tenant concessions and leasing commissions, with respect to new leases, 
are traditionally greater than costs relating to renewal leases.  If we are unable to promptly relet or renew leases for all or
a substantial portion of the space subject to expiring leases, or if the rental rates upon such renewal or reletting are 
significantly lower than expected, our revenue and net income could be adversely affected.   

Financial Condition of Tenant.  A tenant may experience a downturn in its business, which could result in the tenant's 
inability to make rental payments when due.  In addition, a tenant may seek the protection of bankruptcy, insolvency or 
similar laws, which could result in the rejection and termination of such tenant's lease and cause a reduction in our cash 
flow.  If this were to occur at a net lease property, the entire property would become vacant.   

We cannot evict a tenant solely because of its bankruptcy.  A court, however, may authorize a tenant to reject and 
terminate its lease.  In such a case, our claim against the tenant for past due rent and unpaid future rent would be subject 
to a statutory cap that might be substantially less than the remaining rent owed under the lease.  In any event, it is 
unlikely that a bankrupt tenant will pay in full the amount it owes us under a lease.  The loss of rental payments from 
tenants could adversely affect our cash flows and operating results 

Tenant Concentration.  Our Jacksonville property (previously leased to Winn-Dixie) has two tenants that occupy 78% of 
the space at the property.  Our properties at 550-650 Corporetum and 701 Arboretum (Chicago, Illinois market), each 
have two tenants who occupy 49% and 67% of the space at the property, respectively.   

Our Ontario property in which we hold an 80% interest has two tenants that occupy 26% of the space at the property.  
We believe that the relocation or future financial weakness of these tenants would not have a material adverse affect on 
our rental revenue.   

With respect to the net lease properties, leases with Viacom Inc. and, The Kroger Co. represent approximately 34% and 
20%, respectively, of the total rentable square footage of the net lease properties.  Accordingly, the financial weakness of 
either of these tenants could negatively impact our operations and cash flows.  

We may be unable to refinance our existing debt or obtain favorable refinancing terms.  

We are subject to the normal risks associated with debt and preferred share financings, including the risk that our cash 
flow will be insufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest on debt and distributions to holders of 
preferred shares and the risk that indebtedness on our properties, or unsecured indebtedness, will not be able to be 
renewed, repaid or refinanced when due, or that the terms of any renewal or refinancing will not be as favorable as the 
terms of such indebtedness.  This risk is exacerbated by the recent capital market crisis which has resulted in tightened 
lending requirements for real estate related assets.  If we were unable to refinance indebtedness on acceptable terms, or at 
all, we might be forced to dispose of one or more of our properties on disadvantageous terms, which might result in 
losses to us, which could have a material adverse affect on us and our ability to pay distributions to our holders of 
preferred and common shares.  Furthermore, if a property is mortgaged or a loan pledged to secure payment of 
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indebtedness and we are unable to meet the debt payments, the lender could foreclose upon the property or the loan, 
appoint a receiver or obtain an assignment of rents and leases or pursue other remedies, all with a consequent loss of 
revenues and asset value to us.  Foreclosures could also create taxable income without accompanying cash proceeds, 
thereby hindering our ability to meet the REIT distribution requirements.   

Some of our potential losses may not be covered by insurance.

We may not be able to insure our properties against losses of a catastrophic nature, such as terrorist acts, earthquakes and 
floods, because such losses are uninsurable or are not economically insurable.  We will use our discretion in determining 
amounts, coverage limits and deductibility provisions of insurance, with a view to maintaining appropriate insurance 
coverage on our investments at a reasonable cost and on suitable terms.  This may result in insurance coverage that, in 
the event of a substantial loss, would not be sufficient to pay the full current market value or current replacement cost of 
the lost investment and also may result in certain losses being totally uninsured.  Inflation, changes in building codes, 
zoning or other land use ordinances, environmental considerations, lender imposed restrictions and other factors also 
might make it not feasible to use insurance proceeds to replace the property after such property has been damaged or 
destroyed.  Under such circumstances, the insurance proceeds, if any, received by us might not be adequate to restore our 
economic position with respect to such property.  With respect to our net lease properties, under the lease agreements for 
such properties, the tenant is required to adequately insure the property, but their failure or inability to have adequate 
coverage for catastrophic losses may adversely affect our economic position with respect to such property.   

Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and fire, safety and other regulations may require us to make 

unanticipated expenditures that adversely affect our ability to pay dividends. 

All of our properties are required to comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, or the ADA.  The ADA has 
separate compliance requirements for "public accommodations" and "commercial facilities," but generally requires that 
buildings be made accessible to people with disabilities.  Compliance with the ADA requirements could require, for 
example, removal of access barriers and non-compliance could result in imposition of fines by the U.S.  Government or 
an award of damages to private litigants, or both.  Although we believe that our properties are in compliance with the 
ADA, it is possible that we may incur additional expenditures which, if substantial, could adversely affect our results of 
operations, our financial condition and our ability to pay dividends to you.   

In addition, we are required to operate our properties in compliance with fire and safety regulations, building codes and 
other land use regulations, as they may be adopted by local, state and federal governmental agencies and bodies and 
become applicable to our properties.  We may be required to make substantial capital expenditures to comply with those 
requirements and these expenditures could have an adverse affect on our ability to pay dividends to you.  Additionally, 
failure to comply with any of these requirements could result in the imposition of fines by such governmental authorities 
or awards of damages to private litigants, or both.  While we intend to acquire only properties that we believe are 
currently in substantial compliance with all regulatory requirements, these requirements could change or new 
requirements could be imposed which would require significant unanticipated expenditures by us and could have an 
adverse affect on our cash flow and ability to pay dividends.   

We may incur costs to comply with environmental laws.

The obligation to pay for the cost of complying with existing environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, as well as 
the cost of complying with future legislation, may adversely affect our operating costs.  Under various federal, state and 
local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real property may be 
liable for the costs of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on or under the property.  Environmental 
laws often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such 
hazardous or toxic substances and whether or not such substances originated from the property.  In addition, the presence 
of hazardous or toxic substances, or the failure to remediate such property properly, may adversely affect our ability to 
borrow by using such property as collateral.  We maintain insurance related to potential environmental issues on our 
currently non-net leased properties which may not be adequate to cover all possible contingencies.   

Certain environmental laws and common law principles could be used to impose liability for releases of hazardous 
materials, including asbestos-containing materials ("ACMs") into the environment.  In addition, third parties may seek 
recovery from owners or operators of real property for personal injury associated with exposure to released ACMs or 
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other hazardous materials.  Environmental laws may also impose restrictions on the use or transfer of property, and these 
restrictions may require expenditures and/or affect the value of such property.  In connection with the ownership and 
operation of any of our properties, we and the lessees of these properties may be liable for any such environmental costs.  
The cost of defending against claims of liability or remediating contaminated property and the cost of complying with 
environmental laws could materially adversely affect our ability to pay amounts due on indebtedness and dividends to 
our shareholders.  This risk is mitigated for our net lease properties as the lease agreements for those properties require 
the tenant to comply with all environmental laws and indemnify us for any loss relating to environmental liabilities, 
which may be affected by the financial ability of the tenant to discharge its responsibility.  We have no reason to believe 
that any environmental contamination or violation of any applicable law, statute, regulation or ordinance governing 
hazardous or toxic substances has occurred or is occurring, except for the property located in Jacksonville, Florida, 
previously net leased to Winn-Dixie.  Given the nature of the contamination at the Jacksonville property and the fact that 
a substantial portion of the costs associated with the remediation are covered by a state sponsored plan, we do not believe 
the costs to be borne by us will be material.  Prior to undertaking major transactions, we hire independent environmental 
experts to review specific properties.  Our advisor also endeavors to protect us from acquiring contaminated properties or 
properties with significant compliance problems by obtaining site assessments and property reports at the time of 
acquisition when it deems such investigations to be appropriate.  There is no guarantee, however, that these measures 
will successfully insulate us from all such liabilities.   

Risks Relating to our Loan Assets and Loan Securities 

We invest in loan assets and loan securities both directly and indirectly through Concord.  All references in this “Risks 
Relating to our Loan Assets” section to we, us or the like shall, except as expressly provided otherwise, include us and 
Concord. 

The mortgage loans we invest in are subject to delinquency, foreclosure and loss. 

We seek to make commercial mortgage loans directly and indirectly that are secured by income producing property.  
These loans are subject to risks of delinquency and foreclosure as well as risk associated with the capital markets.  The 
ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent primarily upon the 
successful operation of such property rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower.  If 
the net operating income of the property is reduced, the borrower's ability to repay the loan may be impaired.  Net 
operating income of an income-producing property can be affected by, among other things: tenant mix; success of tenant 
businesses; property management decisions; property location and condition; competition from comparable types of 
properties; changes in laws that adversely affect operating expense such as increases in real estate tax rates or limit rents 
that may be charged; the need to address environmental contamination at the property; the occurrence of any uninsured 
casualty at the property; changes in national, regional or local economic conditions and/or specific industry segments; 
declines in regional or local real estate values; declines in regional or local rental or occupancy rates; increases in interest
rates and other operating expenses; changes in governmental rules, regulations and fiscal policies, including 
environmental legislation; acts of God; terrorism; social unrest; and civil disturbances.   

In the event of a default under a mortgage loan held directly by us, we will bear a risk of loss of principal to the extent of 
any deficiency between the value of the collateral, including the overall financial condition of the tenant, and the 
principal and accrued interest of the mortgage loan, which could have a material adverse affect on our cash flow from 
operations.  In the event of the bankruptcy of a mortgage loan borrower, the loan will be deemed to be secured only to 
the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determined by the bankruptcy court), and 
the lien securing the mortgage loan will be subject to the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee or debtor-in-
possession to the extent the lien is unenforceable under state law.  Foreclosure of a mortgage loan can be an expensive 
and lengthy process which could negatively affect our return on the foreclosed mortgage loan. 

The subordinate loan assets we invest in may be subject to risks relating to the structure and terms of the transactions, 

and there may not be sufficient funds or assets remaining to satisfy our subordinate notes, which may result in losses 

to us.  

We invest in loan assets that are subordinate in payment and collateral to more senior loans.  If a borrower defaults or 
declares bankruptcy, after the more senior obligations are satisfied, there may not be sufficient funds or assets remaining 
to satisfy our subordinate notes.  Because each transaction is privately negotiated, subordinate loan assets can vary in 
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their structural characteristics and lender rights.  Our rights to control the default or bankruptcy process following a 
default will vary from transaction to transaction.  The subordinate loan assets that we invest in may not give us the right 
to demand foreclosure as a subordinate debtholder.  Furthermore, the presence of intercreditor agreements may limit our 
ability to amend the loan documents, assign the loans, accept prepayments, exercise remedies and control decisions made 
in bankruptcy proceedings relating to borrowers.  Bankruptcy and borrower litigation can significantly increase the time 
needed for us to acquire possession of underlying collateral in the event of a default, during which time the collateral 
may decline in value.  In addition, there are significant costs and delays associated with the foreclosure process. 

We invest in subordinate mortgage-backed securities which are subject to a greater risk of loss than senior securities.  

We may hold the most junior class of mortgage-backed securities which are subject to the first risk of loss if any 

losses are realized on the underlying mortgage loans.

We invest in a variety of subordinate loan securities, and sometimes hold a "first loss" subordinate holder position.  The 
ability of a borrower to make payments on the loan underlying these securities is dependent primarily upon the 
successful operation of the property rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower since 
the underlying loans are generally non-recourse in nature.  In the event of default and the exhaustion of any equity 
support, reserve funds, letters of credit and any classes of securities junior to those in which we invest, we will not be 
able to recover all of our investment in the securities purchased. 

Expenses of enforcing the underlying mortgage loans (including litigation expenses), expenses of protecting the 
properties securing the mortgage loans and the liens on the mortgaged properties, and, if such expenses are advanced by 
the servicer of the mortgage loans, interest on such advances will also be allocated to such "first loss" securities prior to 
allocation to more senior classes of securities issued in the securitization.  Prior to the reduction of distributions to more 
senior securities, distributions to the "first loss" securities may also be reduced by payment of compensation to any 
servicer engaged to enforce a defaulted mortgage loan.  Such expenses and servicing compensation may be substantial 
and consequently, in the event of a default or loss on one or more mortgage loans contained in a securitization, we may 
not recover our investment. 

If credit spreads widen, the value of Concord’s assets may suffer.

The value of Concord’s loan securities is dependent upon the yield demanded on these loan securities by the market 
based on the underlying credit.  A large supply of these loan securities combined with reduced demand will generally 
cause the market to require a higher yield on these loan securities, resulting in a higher, or "wider," spread over the 
benchmark rate of such loan securities.  Under such conditions, the value of loan securities in our portfolio would tend to 
decline.  Such changes in the market value of our portfolio may adversely affect our net equity through their impact on 
unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale loan securities, and therefore our cash flow since we would be unable to 
realize gains through sale of such loan securities.  Also, they could adversely affect our ability to borrow and access 
capital. 

The value of our investments in mortgage loans, mezzanine loans and participation interests in mortgage and mezzanine 
loans is also subject to changes in credit spreads.  The majority of the loans we invest in are floating rate loans whose 
value is based on a market credit spread to LIBOR.  The value of the loans is dependent upon the yield demanded by the 
market based on their credit.  The value of our portfolio would tend to decline should the market require a higher yield 
on such loans, resulting in the use of a higher spread over the benchmark rate.  Any credit or spread losses incurred with 
respect to our loan portfolio would affect us in the same way as similar losses on our loan securities portfolio as 
described above. 

Concord prices its assets based on its assumptions about future credit spreads for financing of those assets.  Concord has 
obtained, and may obtain in the future, longer term financing for its assets using structured financing techniques such as 
CDOs.  Such issuances entail interest rates set at a spread over a certain benchmark, such as the yield on United States 
Treasury obligations, swaps or LIBOR.  If the spread that investors are paying on structured finance vehicles over the 
benchmark widens and the rates Concord charges on its securitized assets are not increased accordingly, this may reduce 
Concord’s income or cause losses. 
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Prepayments can increase, adversely affecting yields on our investments.

The value of our assets may be affected by an increase in the rate of prepayments on the loans underlying our loan assets 
and loan securities.  The rate of prepayment on loans is influenced by changes in current interest rates and a variety of 
economic, geographic and other factors beyond our control and consequently such prepayment rates cannot be predicted 
with certainty.  In periods of declining real estate loan interest rates, prepayments of real estate loans generally increase. 
If general interest rates decline as well, the proceeds of such prepayments received during such periods are likely to be 
reinvested by us in assets yielding less than the yields on the loans that were prepaid.  Under certain interest rate and 
prepayment scenarios we may fail to recoup fully our cost of acquisition of certain investments. 

Concord may not be able to issue CDO securities, which may require Concord to seek more costly financing for its 

real estate loan assets or to liquidate assets.

Concord has and may continue to seek to finance its loan assets on a long-term basis through the issuance of CDOs.  
Prior to a new investment grade CDO issuance, there is a period during which real estate loan assets are identified and 
acquired for inclusion in a CDO, known as the repurchase facility accumulation period.  During this period, Concord 
authorizes the acquisition of loan assets and loan securities under one or more repurchase facilities from repurchase 
counterparties.  The repurchase counterparties then purchase the loan assets and loan securities and hold them for later 
repurchase by Concord.  As a result, Concord is subject to the risk that it will not be able to acquire, during the period 
that its repurchase facilities are available, a sufficient amount of loan assets and loan securities to support the execution 
of an investment grade CDO issuance.  In addition, conditions in the capital markets may make it difficult, if not 
impossible, for Concord to pursue a CDO when it does have a sufficient pool of collateral.  If Concord is unable to issue 
a CDO to finance these assets or if doing so is not economical, Concord may be required to seek other forms of 
potentially less attractive financing or to liquidate the assets at a price that could result in a loss of all or a portion of the 
cash and other collateral backing its purchase commitment. 

Concord’s repurchase facilities and its CDO financing agreements may limit its ability to make investments.

In order for Concord to borrow money to make investments under its repurchase facilities, its repurchase counterparties 
have the right to review the potential investment for which Concord is seeking financing.  Concord may be unable to 
obtain the consent of its repurchase counterparties to make certain investments in which case Concord may be unable to 
obtain alternate financing for that investment.  Concord’s repurchase counterparties consent rights with respect to its 
repurchase facility may limit Concord’s ability to execute its business strategy. 

The repurchase agreements that Concord uses to finance its investments may require it to provide additional 

collateral.

If the market value of the loan assets and loan securities pledged or sold by Concord to repurchase counterparties decline 
in value, which decline is determined, in most cases, by the repurchase counterparties, Concord may be required by the 
repurchase counterparties to provide additional collateral or pay down a portion of the funds advanced.  Concord may 
not have the funds available to pay down its debt, which could result in defaults.  Posting additional collateral to support 
its repurchase facilities will reduce Concord’s liquidity and limit its ability to leverage its assets.  Because Concord’s 
obligations under its repurchase facilities are recourse to Concord, if Concord does not have sufficient liquidity to meet 
such requirements, it would likely result in a rapid deterioration of Concord’s financial condition and solvency and 
adversely affect our investment in Concord.   

Concord’s future investment grade CDOs, if any, will be collateralized with loan assets and loan securities that are 

similar to those collateralizing its existing investment grade CDO, and any adverse market trends are likely to 

adversely affect Concord’s CDO and the issuance of future CDOs.

Concord’s existing investment grade CDO is collateralized by fixed and floating rate loan assets and loan securities, and 
we expect that future issuances, if any, will be backed by similar loan assets and loan securities.  Any adverse market 
trends that affect the value of these types of loan assets and loan securities will adversely affect the value of Concord’s 
interests in the CDOs and, accordingly, our investment in Concord.  Such trends could include declines in real estate 
values in certain geographic markets or sectors, underperformance of loan assets or loan securities, or changes in federal 
income tax laws that could affect the performance of debt issued by REITs. 
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The recent capital market crisis has made financings through CDOs difficult.

The recent events in the subprime mortgage market have impacted Concord’s ability to consummate a second CDO.  
Although Concord holds only one bond of $11,500,000 which has minimal exposure to subprime residential mortgages, 
conditions in the financial capital markets have made issuances of CDOs at this time less attractive to investors.  If 
Concord is unable to issue future CDOs to finance its assets, Concord will be required to hold its loan assets under its 
existing repurchase facilities longer than originally anticipated or seek other forms of potentially less attractive financing.
The inability to issue future CDOs at accretive rates may have a negative impact on Concord’s cash flow and anticipated 
return.  

Concord may not be able to access financing sources on favorable terms, or at all, which could adversely affect its 

ability to execute its business plan and its ability to make distributions. 

Concord seeks to finance its loan assets and loan securities over the long-term through a variety of means, including 
repurchase agreements, credit facilities, CDOs and other structured financings.  Concord may also seek to finance its 
investments through the issuance of common or preferred equity interests in Concord.  Concord’s ability to execute this 
strategy depends on various conditions in the financial markets which are beyond its control.  If these markets are not an 
efficient source of long-term financing for Concord’s loan assets and loan securities, Concord will have to find 
alternative forms of long-term financing for its loan assets and loan securities.  This could subject Concord to more 
expensive financing arrangements which would require a larger portion of its cash flow, thereby reducing cash available 
for distribution to its members and funds available for operations as well as for future business opportunities. 

Credit ratings assigned to Concord’s investments are subject to ongoing evaluations and we cannot be sure that the 

ratings currently assigned to Concord’s investments will not be downgraded.

Some of Concord’s investments are rated by the major rating agencies.  The credit ratings on these investments are 
subject to ongoing evaluation by credit rating agencies, and we cannot assure you that any such ratings will not be 
changed or withdrawn by a rating agency in the future if, in its judgment, circumstances warrant.  If rating agencies 
assign a lower rating or reduce, or indicate that they may reduce, their ratings of Concord’s investments, the market 
value of those investments could significantly decline, which could have an adverse affect on Concord’s financial 
condition. 

Concord may make investments in assets with lower credit quality, which will increase our risk of losses.

Concord may make investments in unrated loan securities or participate in unrated or distressed mortgage loans.  An 
economic downturn, for example, could cause a decline in the market price of lower credit quality investments and 
securities because the ability of obligors of mortgages, including mortgages underlying mortgage-backed securities, to 
make principal and interest payments might become impaired. 

The use of CDO financings with coverage tests may have a negative impact on Concord’s operating results and cash 

flows.

Concord’s current CDO contains, and it is likely that future CDOs, if any, will contain coverage tests, including over-
collateralization tests, which are used primarily to determine whether and to what extent principal and interest proceeds 
on the underlying collateral debt securities and other assets may be used to pay principal and interest on the subordinate 
classes of bonds in the CDO.  In the event the coverage tests are not met, distributions otherwise payable to Concord 
may be re-directed to pay principal on the bond classes senior to Concord’s.  Therefore, Concord’s failure to satisfy the 
coverage tests could adversely affect Concord’s operating results and cash flows. 

Certain coverage tests which may be applicable to Concord’s interest in its CDOs (based on delinquency levels or other 
criteria) may also restrict Concord’s ability to receive net income from assets pledged to secure the CDOs.  If Concord’s 
assets fail to perform as anticipated, Concord’s over-collateralization or other credit enhancement expense associated 
with its CDOs will increase.  There can be no assurance of completing negotiations with the rating agencies or other key 
transaction parties on any future CDOs as to what will be the actual terms of the delinquency tests, over-collateralization, 
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cash flow release mechanisms or other significant factors regarding the calculation of net income to Concord.  Failure to 
obtain favorable terms with regard to these matters may materially reduce the net income to Concord.   

Risks Relating to our REIT Equity Interests 

Our investments in REIT equity interests are subject to specific risks relating to the particular REIT issuer of the 

securities and to the general risks of investing in equity interests of REITs.   

Our investments in REIT equity interests, such as our investment in Lexington involve special risks.  REITs generally 
are required to substantially invest in real estate or real estate-related assets and are subject to the inherent risks described 
above including:  (i) risks generally incident to interests in real property; (ii) risks associated with the failure to maintain
REIT qualification; and (iii) risks that may be presented by the type and use of a particular commercial property.   

Risks Relating to Our Management 

Ability of our advisor to operate properties directly affects our financial condition.  

The ultimate value of our assets and the results of our operations will depend on the ability of our advisor to operate our 
properties and manage our other investments in a manner sufficient to maintain or increase revenues and control our 
operating and other expenses in order to generate sufficient revenues to pay amounts due on our indebtedness and to pay 
dividends to our shareholders. 

We are dependent on our advisor and the loss of our advisor’s key personnel could harm our operations and 

adversely affect the value of our shares.

We have no paid employees.  Our officers are employees of our advisor.  We have no separate facilities and are 
completely reliant on our advisor, which has significant discretion as to the implementation of our strategies and 
operating policies.  We are subject to the risk that our advisor will terminate its advisory agreement and that no suitable 
replacement will be found to manage us.  Furthermore, we are dependent on the efforts, diligence, skill, network of 
business contacts and close supervision of all aspects of our business by our advisor and, in particular, Michael Ashner, 
chairman of our Board of Trustees and our chief executive officer, and Peter Braverman, our president, as well as our 
other executive officers.  While we believe that we could find replacements for these key personnel, the loss of their 
services could harm our operations and adversely affect the value of our shares.   

There are conflicts of interest in our relationship with our advisor.

Our chairman and chief executive officer and each of our executive officers also serve as officers of our advisor.  Our 
base management and incentive fee compensation agreements with our advisor were negotiated as part of an overall 
transaction in which an affiliate of our advisor acquired control of us.  Accordingly, the terms of the advisory agreement, 
including fees payable, may not be as favorable to us as if it had been negotiated with an unaffiliated third party.   

The incentive fee payable to our advisor may be substantial. 

Pursuant to the terms of the advisory agreement, at such time, if at all, as we have paid aggregate dividends to our 
holders of common shares in excess of a threshold amount ($349,653,000 at December 31, 2007), our advisor will be 
entitled to receive 20% of subsequent dividends paid to holders of our common shares.  If we were to liquidate or sell all 
or a substantial portion of our assets at December 31, 2007, based upon a per share price equal to the closing price on the 
last day of the year ($5.29 per share at December 31, 2007), the amount payable to our advisor as incentive fee 
compensation would be approximately $23,310,000.  Although the foregoing calculation of the incentive fee is based on 
the closing price of our common shares on the last day of the year, if the advisory agreement were terminated, the actual 
incentive fee payable would be based on an appraised valuation or the liquidation proceeds received for our assets, which 
may be substantially in excess of the amount calculated based on the market price of our common shares.  At such time 
as shareholders’ equity in our financial statements exceeds the threshold amount, we will record a liability equal to 
approximately 20% of the difference between shareholders’ equity and the threshold amount in accordance with GAAP.  
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Termination of the Advisory Agreement may be costly.

Termination of the advisory agreement either by us or our advisor may be costly.  Upon termination of the advisory 
agreement, our advisor is entitled to a termination fee equal to the incentive fee based on an appraised valuation of our 
assets assuming we were then liquidated.  The amount payable on termination of the advisory agreement could be 
substantial which may have a negative affect on the price of our shares. 

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

We have no written comments regarding our periodic or current reports from the staff of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission that were issued 180 days or more preceding the end of our 2007 fiscal year that remain unresolved.  

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The following table sets forth certain information relating to our properties at December 31, 2007: 

Property Type/Location Tenant Square 
Feet/Units (1)

Ownership
of Land (2)

    
Mixed Use:    
   Churchill, PA* Viacom, Inc. 1,008,000 Ground Lease 
   Atlanta, GA (Sealy) (3) Multiple tenants 472,000 Fee 
   Nashville, TN (Sealy) (4) Multiple tenants 1,155,000 Fee 
    
Office:    
   Amherst, NY* Ingram Micro Systems 170,000 Fee (10) 
   Amherst, NY* Ingram Micro Systems 30,000 Fee (10) 
   Andover, MA* Verizon of New England, Inc. 93,000 Ground Lease 
   Chicago, IL (Ontario) (5) Multiple tenants 126,000 Fee (6) 
   Chicago, IL (Marc Realty Portfolio) (7) Multiple tenants 3,564,000 Fee 
   Chicago, IL (River City) (8) Multiple tenants 241,000 Fee 
   Houston, TX (9)* Duke Energy 614,000 Fee 
   Indianapolis, IN Multiple tenants 110,000 Fee 
   Orlando, FL* Siemens Real Estate, Inc. 256,000  Ground Lease 
   Plantation, FL* BellSouth Communications, Inc. 133,000 Land Estate 
   South Burlington, VT* Verizon of New England, Inc. 56,000 Ground Lease 
   Lisle, IL Multiple tenants 169,000 Fee 
   Lisle, IL Multiple tenants 67,000 Fee 
   Lisle, IL (11) Ryerson 54,000 Fee 
    
Retail:    
   Athens, GA* The Kroger Co. 52,000 Land Estate 
   Atlanta, GA* The Kroger Co. 61,000 Ground Lease 
   Louisville, KY* The Kroger Co. 47,000 Land Estate 
   Lafayette, LA* The Kroger Co. 46,000 Ground Lease 
   St. Louis, MO* (12) The Kroger Co. 46,000 Land Estate 
   Biloxi, MS* The Kroger Co. 51,000 Land Estate 
   Greensboro, NC* The Kroger Co. 47,000 Ground Lease 
   Knoxville, TN* The Kroger Co. 43,000 Land Estate 
   Memphis, TN* The Kroger Co. 47,000 Land Estate 
   Denton, TX* The Kroger Co. 48,000 Land Estate 
   Seabrook, TX* The Kroger Co. 53,000 Land Estate 
   Sherman, TX* The Kroger Co. 46,000 Land Estate 
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Property Type/Location Tenant Square 
Feet/Units (1)

Ownership
of Land (2)

    
Multi-Family:    
   Kansas City, KS  Multiple tenants 230 Fee 
    
Warehouse:    
   Jacksonville, FL Multiple tenants    585,000 Fee 
    
Total Square Feet  9,490,000
    
Total Units            230

* Property is net-leased to tenant. 
(1) The square footage shown represents net rentable area.  Units represent number of rental units at the multi-family 

properties. 
(2) Ground Lease means that we lease the land on which the improvements are situated for a fixed period of time.  Land 

Estate means that we hold title to the land for a set period of time after which ownership of the land reverts to a 
remainderman at which time we have the right to lease the land. Fee means that we own fee title to the land. See “The 
Net Lease Properties” below for information relating to our ground lease and land estate interests. 

(3) Consists of 12 flex properties.  Properties held in a venture with Sealy & Co. pursuant to which we hold a 60% non-
managing interest. 

(4) Consists of 13 light distribution and service center properties.  Properties held in a venture with Sealy & Co. pursuant to 
which we hold a 50% non-managing interest.  

(5) Property is held in a venture with Marc Realty in which we hold an 80% interest. 
(6) We own fee title to a commercial space condominium consisting of the first six floors in a mixed-use building together 

with 208 parking spaces. The residential condominiums, which occupy the 45 floors above our six floors, are owned by 
unrelated third parties. 

(7) Consists of 22 properties in which we hold an ownership interest in each of the borrowers in a participating second 
mortgage loan (see Item 1. Business – Our Assets – Loans – Marc Realty Loans which entitles us to share in the 
proceeds from sales and refinancings). 

(8) Property is held in a venture with  Marc Realty in which we hold a 60% interest. 
(9) Property is held indirectly through a limited partnership in which we are the general partner and hold an 8% limited 

partnership interest. 
(10) The ground underlying these properties is leased to us by the local industrial development authority pursuant to a ground 

lease which requires no rental payments. Effective October 31, 2013, legal title to these properties will vest in us. 
(11) Property is held in a venture with Marc Realty in which we hold a 60% interest. 
(12) Included in discontinued operations pending condemnation proceedings by the City of St. Louis. 

See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis and Results of Operations" for information relating to capital 
improvements at our properties.  
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The following tables set forth certain information relating to our consolidated properties. 

Circle Tower - Indianapolis, Indiana 

The following table lists the average occupancy rates and effective rental rate per square foot at December 31 of each of 
the years listed for the Circle Tower property.  

 2007 2006 2005
    
Occupancy 89%     91%     84% 
Average Effective Base Rental Rate (1) $14.77 $14.34 $14.63 

(1) Average Effective Base Rental Rate is equal to the annual base rent divided by the occupied square 
feet at December 31. 

The following table sets forth certain information concerning lease expirations (assuming no renewals) for the Circle 
Tower property as of December 31, 2007: 

 Number of Tenants 
Whose Leases 

Expire

Aggregate Sq. Ft. 
Covered by Expiring 

Leases
2007 Rental for 
Leases Expiring

Percentage of Total 
Annualized Rental

     
2008 17 24,500 $       313,000 22% 
2009 12 17,500 258,000 18% 
2010 15 27,200 431,000 30% 
2011 7 6,300 70,000 5% 
2012 - - - - 
2013 - - - - 
2014 - - - - 
2015 2 14,200 196,000 14% 
2016  - - - - 
2017 and beyond 3 8,700 149,000 11% 

The annual real estate tax was approximately $85,000 based on the 2007 real estate tax rate for the Circle Tower 
property which was $4.09 per $1,000.  

Ontario Property - Chicago, Illinois

The following table lists the average occupancy rates and effective rental rate per square foot at December 31 for each of 
the years listed for the Ontario property. 

 2007 2006 2005
    
Occupancy 89% 94% 90% 
Average Effective  Base Rental Rate (1) $23.43 $23.19 $24.89 

(1) Average Effective Base Rental Rate is equal to the annual base rent divided by the occupied 
square feet at December 31. 
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The following table sets forth certain information concerning lease expirations (assuming no renewals) for the Ontario 
property as of December 31, 2007: 

 Number of Tenants 
Whose Leases Expire

Aggregate Sq. Ft. Covered 
by Expiring Leases

2007 Rental for 
Leases Expiring

Percentage of Total 
Annualized Rental

     
2008 3 13,600 $     287,000 11% 
2009 3 12,100 343,000 13% 
2010 2 8,500 186,000 7% 
2011 4 24,800 587,000 22% 
2012 - - -                - 
2013 3 9,900 331,000 13% 
2014 1 9,600 251,000 9% 
2015 3 17,100 490,000               18% 
2016  1 8,500 181,000                  7% 
2017 and beyond 2 8,200 -         - 

The annual real estate tax was estimated to be approximately $895,000 based on the 2007 real estate tax rate for the 
Ontario property which was estimated at $5.30 per $1,000. 

Jacksonville Property – Jacksonville, Florida

Prior to November 3, 2005, this property was net leased to Winn-Dixie. Effective November 4, 2005, Winn-Dixie 
rejected its lease in bankruptcy and we became responsible for the costs at the property.  The property has been 
subsequently leased to five tenants occupying 553,000 square feet or 94% occupancy at December 31, 2007. 

The following table lists the average occupancy rates and effective rental rate per square foot at December 31 for each of 
the years listed for the Jacksonville property. 

 2007 2006 2005
    
Occupancy 94% 61% 83% 
Average Effective Base Rental Rate (1) $2.14 $1.53 $2.22 (2) 

(1) Average Effective Base Rental Rate is equal to the annual base rent divided by the occupied square feet 
at December 31. 

(2) Represents effective rental rate at November 3, 2005, the date on which Winn-Dixie elected to reject its 
lease.

The following table sets forth certain information concerning lease expirations (assuming no renewals) for the 
Jacksonville property as of December 31, 2007: 

 Number of Tenants 
Whose Leases Expire

Aggregate Sq. Ft. Covered 
by Expiring Leases 

2007 Rental for 
Leases Expiring

Percentage of Total 
Annualized Rental

     
2008 (1) - - - - 
2009 3 514,300 1,077,000 91% 
2010 - - - - 
2011 - - - - 
2012 - - - - 
2013 - - - - 
2014 - - - - 
2015 - - - - 
2016  1 27,100 108,000 9% 
2017 and beyond 1 12,000 - - 
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(1) A tenant that leases 175,000 square feet with 2007 rent of $365,000 has the right to terminate its lease effective 
May 31, 2008.  If such right is not exercised, the lease terminates in 2009. 

The annual real estate tax was approximately $174,000 based on the 2007 real estate tax rate for the Jacksonville 
property which was $16.69 per $1,000.  

Corporetum Properties – Lisle, Illinois 

550/650 Corporetum Property 

The following table lists the average occupancy rates and effective rental rate per square foot at December 31 for each of 
the years listed for the 550/650 Corporetum property. 

 2007 2006 2005
    
Occupancy 93% 96% N/A 
Average Effective Base Rental Rate (1) $14.15 $13.66 N/A 

(1) Average Effective Base Rental Rate is equal to the annual base rent divided by the occupied square feet 
at December 31. 

The following table sets forth certain information concerning lease expirations (assuming no renewals) for the 550/650 
Corporetum property as of December 31, 2007: 

 Number of 
Tenants Whose 
Leases Expire

Aggregate Sq. Ft. 
Covered by Expiring 

Leases
2007 Rental for 
Leases Expiring

Percentage of Total 
Annualized Rental

     
2008 6 27,000 309,000 14% 
2009 5 22,300 227,000 10% 
2010 3 33,200 610,000 28% 
2011 1 60,400 800,000 36% 
2012 -          -            - - 
2013 1 15,000 272,000 12% 
2014 -          -            - - 
2015 -          -            - - 
2016  -          -            - - 
2017 and beyond -          -            - - 

The annual real estate tax was approximately $439,000 based on the 2007 real estate tax rate for the 550/650 Corporetum 
property which was $6.06 per $1,000. 

701 Arboretum Property 

The following table lists the average occupancy rates and effective rental rate per square foot at December 31 for each of 
the years listed for the 701 Arboretum property. 

 2007 2006 2005
    
Occupancy 98% 90% N/A 
Average Effective Base Rental Rate (1) $13.35 $14.19 N/A 

(1) Average Effective Base Rental Rate is equal to the annual base rent divided by the occupied square 
feet at December 31. 
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The following table sets forth certain information concerning lease expirations (assuming no renewals) for the 701 
Arboretum property as of December 31, 2007: 

 Number of Tenants 
Whose Leases 

Expire

Aggregate Sq. Ft. 
Covered by Expiring 

Leases
2007 Rental for 
Leases Expiring

Percentage of Total 
Annualized Rental

     
2008 1 9,900 175,000 20% 
2009 - - - - 
2010 3 41,700 589,000 67% 
2011 - - - - 
2012 1 10,800 70,000 8% 
2013 1 3,800 48,000 5% 
2014 - - - - 
2015 - - - - 
2016  - - - - 
2017 and beyond - - - - 

The annual real estate tax was approximately $187,000 based on the 2007 real estate tax rate for the 701 Arboretum 
property which was $6.06 per $1,000. 

1050 Corporetum Property 

In January 2007, the building was leased to Ryerson, Inc. pursuant to a lease agreement which commenced in May 2007, 
expires in April 2018, and has base rent beginning at $13.89 per square foot, increasing during the term to $19.24 per 
square foot. 

The annual real estate tax was approximately $139,000 based on the 2007 real estate tax rate for the 1050 Corporetum 
property in 2007 which was $6.06 per $1,000. 

River City Property – Chicago, Illinois 

The following table lists the average occupancy rates and effective rental rate per square foot at December 31 for each of 
the years listed for the River City property. 

 2007 2006 2005
    
Occupancy 64% N/A N/A 
Average Effective Base Rental Rate (1) $3.35 N/A N/A 

(1) Average Effective Base Rental Rate is equal to the annual base rent divided by the occupied square feet at 
December 31. 
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The following table sets forth certain information concerning lease expirations (assuming no renewals) for the River City 
property as of December 31, 2007: 

 Number of Tenants 
Whose Leases 

Expire

Aggregate Sq. Ft. 
Covered by Expiring 

Leases
2007 Rental for 
Leases Expiring

Percentage of Total 
Annualized Rental

     
2008 5 30,400 133,000 31% 
2009 3 55,000 105,000 25% 
2010 2 3,600 18,000 4% 
2011 1 55,000 113,000 26% 
2012 2 10,100 62,000 14% 
2013 - - - - 
2014 - - - - 
2015 - - - - 
2016  - - - - 
2017 and beyond - - - - 

The annual real estate tax was estimated to be approximately $895,000 based on the 2007 real estate tax rate for the 
River City property which was estimated at $5.30 per $1,000. 

The Net Lease Properties  

Pursuant to the terms of the lease agreements with respect to the following properties, the tenant at each property is 
required to pay all costs associated with the property including property taxes, ground rent, maintenance costs and 
insurance.  These costs are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements.   

The following table sets forth the terms and rental rates for each property: 

Property Location
Initial Term  

Expiration Date
Initial Term  
Annual Rent Renewal Terms

    
Amherst, NY (170,000 sq. ft.) 10/31/2013 $     1,713,000 Two, 5 year 
Amherst, NY (30,000 sq. ft.) 10/31/2013 302,000 Two, 5 year 
Andover, MA 12/31/2009 2,544,000 Four, 5 year and one, 10 year 
Athens, GA 10/31/2010 220,000 Six, 5 year 
Atlanta, GA 10/31/2010 259,000 One, 6 year and two, 5 year 
Biloxi, MS 10/31/2010 219,000 Six, 5 year 
Churchill, PA 12/31/2010 2,786,000 Six, 5 year 
Denton, TX 10/31/2010 220,000 Six, 5 year 
Greensboro, NC 10/31/2010 203,000 One, 7 year and five, 5 year 
Houston, TX 4/30/2018       7,144,000  (1) Two, 5 year 
Knoxville, TN 10/31/2010 214,000 Six, 5 year 
Lafayette, LA 10/31/2010 179,000 One, 7 year and six, 5 year 
Louisville, KY 10/31/2010 197,000 Six, 5 year 
Memphis, TN 10/31/2010 220,000 Six, 5 year 
Orlando, FL            12/31/2017 (2) 3,196,000  (2) Five, 5 year 
Plantation, FL 3/29/2010 3,158,000 Five, 5 year 
Seabrook, TX 10/31/2010 212,000 Six, 5 year 
Sherman, TX 10/31/2010 203,000 Six, 5 year 
South Burlington, VT 12/31/2009 1,109,000 Five, 5 year 
St. Louis, MO 10/31/2010 233,000 Six, 5 year 

(1) Annual rent as of December 31, 2007.  Rent is subject to annual increases equal to 1.75% on May 1 of each year. 
(2) Lease was modified in February 2007 to extend the term to December 31, 2017.  Rent increases by 2% annually. 
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The following table sets forth the terms of the land estates:  

Property Location Land Estate Expiration
Lease Term Options Upon 
Expiration of Land Estate Lease Term Rents Per Annum

    
Athens, GA (1) 10/31/2010 Fourteen, 5 year $    18,600 
Biloxi, MA (1) 10/31/2010 Fourteen, 5 year 54,000 
Denton, TX (1) 10/31/2010 Fourteen, 5 year 86,880 
Knoxville, TN (1) 10/31/2010 Fourteen, 5 year 97,200 
Louisville, KY (1) 10/31/2010 Fourteen, 5 year 35,400 
Memphis, TN (1) 10/31/2010 Fourteen, 5 year 60,360 
Plantation, FL 02/28/2010 Thirteen, 5 year 261,919 through 6th term and 

then fair market value 
Seabrook, TX (1) 10/31/2010 Fourteen, 5 year 58,560 
Sherman, TX (1) 10/31/2010 Fourteen, 5 year 80,160 
St. Louis, MO (1) 10/31/2010 Fourteen, 5 year 61,400 

(1)  The Trust has the option to purchase the land at fair market value prior to September 30, 2010. 

The following table sets forth the terms of the ground leases:  

Property Location
Current Term 

Expiration Renewal Terms Lease Term Rents Per Annum (1)
    
Andover, MA 9/2/2010 Four, 5 year and one, 10 year $99,920 through current term and 

then fair market value 
    
Atlanta, GA 9/30/2011 Four, 5 year $30,000 plus ½ of 1% of sales 

greater than $27,805,800 
    
Lafayette, LA 4/30/2008 Eight, 5 year $176,244 increased by 5% for each 

successive renewal term 
    
Greensboro, NC 12/31/2012 Four, 5 year and fifteen, 1 year $59,315 increased by approximately 

$12,000 for each successive renewal 
period plus 1% of sales over 
$35,000,000 

    
Orlando, FL 12/31/2017 Five, 5 year $1 through the current term and then 

fair market value 
    
Churchill, PA 12/31/2010 Six, 5 year $2 through the current term and then 

fair market value 
    
South Burlington, VT 1/2/2010 Four, 5 year and one, 10 year $51,584 through the current term 

and then fair market value 

(1) The lease requires the tenant to perform all covenants under the ground lease including the payment of ground rent. 
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Mortgage Loans  

The following table sets forth the terms of the first mortgages for each of the properties.  

Property Location

Principal Balance 
at December 31, 

2007    Maturity Interest Rate
2008 Debt 

Service
Prepayment 

Terms
      
Amherst, NY $   17,276,000 10/6/2013 5.65% $ 1,346,000 Make Whole 

Premium (1) 
Indianapolis, IN 4,447,000 4/11/2015 5.82% 325,000 Defeasance (2) 
Houston, TX 69,801,000 4/1/2016 6.66% 7,231,000 Make Whole 

Premium (1) 
Andover, MA 6,503,000 2/16/2011 6.6% 547,000 Defeasance (2) 
South Burlington, VT 2,787,000 2/16/2011 6.6% 234,000 Defeasance (2) 
Lisle, IL 17,466,000 6/1/2016 6.26% 1,208,000 Defeasance (2) 
Lisle, IL 7,134,000 6/1/2016 6.26% 493,000 Defeasance (2) 
Lisle, IL 5,600,000 3/9/2017 5.55% 311,000 Defeasance (2) 
Chicago, IL 21,600,000 3/1/2016 5.75% 1,445,000 Defeasance (2) 
Chicago, IL 9,500,000 3/28/2008 Prime plus .5% 9,708,000 No restriction (3) 
Orlando, FL  40,034,000 7/1/2017 6.4% 3,017,000 Defeasance (2) 
Kansas City, KS        5,893,000 6/1/2012 7.04% 422,000 (4) 
Various (5)      28,884,000       6/30/09 (6) LIBOR plus 1.75% 2,931,000 No restriction (3) 
 $ 236,925,000     
      
(1) Prepayment is based on a discounted cash flow method which provides the lender, on a present value basis, all of the 

interest it would have received had the loan been paid in accordance with its terms through maturity. 
(2) Requires the substitution of United States government securities with maturities sufficient to make the required 

payments on the loan as collateral for the loan. 
(3) Provided that no Event of Default then exists. 
(4) May be prepaid in whole after June 1, 2008 without premium or penalty. 
(5) Collateralized by our retail properties and our properties located in Churchill, PA; Plantation, FL and Jacksonville, 

FL.
(6) We have the right to extend the term for two, one-year extensions. 

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

From time to time we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. In management’s 
opinion, after consultation with legal counsel, the outcome of such matters is not expected to have a material adverse 
effect on the ownership, financial condition, management or operation of our properties or business.  

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

No matters were submitted to a vote of our common shares during the quarter ended December 31, 2007. 
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PART II 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR TRUST'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND 

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information.

Our common shares are listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “FUR.” The 
following table sets forth the high and low sales prices as reported by the NYSE for our common shares for each of the 
periods indicated below:  

 High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2006:   
   First quarter $               5.75 $                5.16 
   Second quarter 6.27 5.14 
   Third quarter 6.79 5.86 
   Fourth quarter 6.99 5.95 
   
Year Ended December 31, 2007:   
   First quarter 6.99 6.24 
   Second quarter 7.19 6.32 
   Third quarter 7.30 4.85 
   Fourth quarter 6.84 4.88 

Holders

As of December 31, 2007, there were 1,691 record holders of our common shares.  We estimate the total number of 
beneficial owners to be approximately 6,300.  

Dividend Policy 

In 2006, we began paying regular quarterly dividends on our common shares.  In addition, during 2006 and 2007 we 
declared special dividends on our common shares.  To retain REIT status, we are required by the Code to distribute at 
least 90% of our REIT taxable income.  While we intend to continue paying regular quarterly dividends and special 
dividends as needed to comply with the annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Code and to 
avoid paying federal level corporate tax, future dividend declarations will be at the discretion of the Board of Trustees 
and will depend on various factors, including our actual cash flow, financial condition and capital requirements.  As of 
December 31, 2007, we had net operating loss carryforwards of $31,213,000, after utilizing $9,838,000 to partially offset 
2007 taxable income, which will expire from 2021 through 2023.  As a result of the net operating loss and a capital loss 
carryforwards, we have been able to reduce our taxable income in prior years, and expect that we will be able to utilize 
our net operating loss carryforwards in future years to reduce our required dividend payments which will enable us to 
reinvest more of our cash flow. 

Dividends declared on our common shares in each quarter for the last two years are as follows: 

Quarters Ended 2007  2006
     

March 31 $ 0.060  $      -  
June 30 0.060  -  
September 30 0.065  0.18 (2) 
December 31 0.245 (1)  0.12 (3) 

(1) Includes a regular dividend of $0.065 and a special dividend of $0.180. 
(2) Represents a regular dividend of $0.060 per quarter for the first three quarters of 2006. 
(3) Includes a regular dividend of $0.060 and a special dividend of $0.060. 
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Pursuant to the terms of our Series B-1 preferred shares, we are required to pay quarterly dividends of $0.40625 per 
Series B-1 preferred share, all of which were paid during 2007.  In addition, as a result of the special dividend declared 
on the common shares during the quarter ended December 31, 2007, we were required to declare a special dividend of 
$.7639 per Series B-1 preferred share during the quarter ended December 31, 2007. 

Share Issuances

During 2007, at the request of holders of our Series B-1 preferred shares we issued 329,681 of our common shares in 
redemption of 59,343 Series B-1 preferred shares. 

In addition, during 2007, we issued a total of 592,422 common shares pursuant to our Dividend Reinvestment and Stock 
Purchase Plan resulting in net proceeds of $3,921,000. 

Performance Graph 

The following graph is a comparison of the five-year cumulative return of common shares, a peer group index and the 
Morgan Stanley REIT Index for the periods shown.  The peer group consists of REITs with a diversity and other 
property focus and have a current market value as of January 18, 2008 of less than $750 million.  The graph assumes that 
$100 was invested on December 31, 2002 in common shares, a peer group index and the Morgan Stanley REIT Index 
and that all dividends were reinvested without the payment of any commissions. There can be no assurance that the 
performance of our shares will continue in line with the same or similar trends depicted in the graph below. 
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Winthrop Realty Trust 100.00 121.35 211.80 325.44 411.05 341.34 

MSCI US REIT (RMS) 100.00 136.74 179.80 201.61 274.03 227.95 

Peer Group 100.00 113.92 145.22 145.52 166.39 121.66 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following table sets forth selected, historical, consolidated financial data for the Trust and should be read in 
conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Trust and Notes thereto and Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this annual report on Form 10-K. 

Years Ended December 31, 
     

Operating Results 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
 (in thousands, except for per share data) 
      
Revenues $  51,299 $   52,857 $  30,740   $    4,702 $     1,590
      
Income (loss) from continuing operations $    1,446 $   42,820   $  23,090 $    1,943   $  (6,575) 
Income from discontinued operations (1) 1,035 116 531 1,242 619 
Gain on sale of real estate              -               -              -    19,267             54
      
Net income (loss) 2,481 42,936 23,621 22,452 (5,902) 
Preferred dividends             -              -    (2,064)   (2,064)     (2,064)
      
Net income (loss) applicable to Common  
   Shares $    2,481 $ 42,936 $  21,557 $ 20,388 $  (7,966)
      
Per Common Share, basic       
      
Income (loss) from continuing operations, basic $     0.02 $     0.74 $      0.50 $           - $    (0.28) 
Income from discontinued operations, basic (1)        0.02             -         0.02        0.66          0.02
Net income (loss) applicable to Common   
   Shares, basic $     0.04 $     0.74 $      0.52 $     0.66 $    (0.26)
      
Income (loss) from continuing operations per  
   Common Share, diluted $     0.02 $     0.71 $      0.50 $           - $    (0.28) 
Income from discontinued operations, diluted        0.02             -         0.02        0.66           0.02
Net income (loss) applicable to Common    
   Shares, diluted     $    0.04 $     0.71 $      0.52 $     0.66 $    (0.26)
      
Dividends declared per Common Share  $     0.43 $     0.30 $      0.11 $           - $            -

Balance Sheet Data: December 31, 
 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
      
Total Assets $  745,447 $  851,620 $  658,848 $  289,968 $  146,838 
Total Debt $  335,191 $  362,522 $  321,143 $  161,012 $    41,521 
Total Shareholders’ Equity $  291,794 $  323,586 $  159,606 $  120,142 $    96,720 

(1) The results of Imperial Parking Limited and Park Plaza properties were classified as discontinued operations for 
2003 and 2004.  The results of Ventek were classified as discontinued operations for 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006, 
and 2007.  The results of the St. Louis property, which was purchased in November 2004, were classified as 
discontinued operations for 2004, 2005, 2006, and 2007. 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 

OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We are a real estate investment trust, which we refer to as a REIT, engaged in the business of owning real property and 
real estate related assets.  With certain self-imposed limitations, we will seek opportunities to invest in or acquire most 
types of real estate assets or securities.  We operate in three strategic business segments: (i) ownership of operating 
properties, which we refer to as operating properties; (ii) origination and acquisition of loans and debt securities secured 
directly or indirectly by commercial and multi-family real property, including collateral mortgage- backed securities and 
collateral debt obligation securities, which we refer to as loan assets and loan securities; and (iii) ownership of equity 
interests in other REITs, which we refer to as REIT equity interests.  We acquire assets through direct ownership as well 
as through entering into specific strategic alliances and ventures.  In particular, we have entered into two significant 
venture arrangements.  Our venture with Marc Realty LLC, which we refer to as Marc Realty, a Chicago area real estate 
company, is our primary vehicle for investments in the Chicago metropolitan area.  In addition, since its formation in 
March 2006, we acquire substantially all of our loan assets and loan securities through Concord Debt Holdings LLC, 
which we refer to as Concord, a venture with Lexington Realty Trust, which we refer to as Lexington.  The formation of 
Concord enables us to increase and diversify our loan asset and loan security portfolio as it effectively doubles the 
capital available for investments in loan assets and loan securities. 

As opportunities present themselves, we will continue to seek to enter into venture arrangements with regional or 
specialized real estate professionals with extensive experience in a particular market or asset type as well as seeking to 
enter into strategic co-investment ventures managed by us with institutional and high net worth investors to enhance our 
total return through acquisition, asset management and other fees and a promoted economic interest. 

In view of the foregoing, our near-term investment strategy will be to identify and invest in discrete real estate 
investments including investments through ventures.  As market conditions dictate, we will focus our investment activity 
in one or more of our business segments and aggressively pursue such opportunities. 

We intend to fund these investments through one or more of the following: cash, borrowings under our credit facility, 
property loans, issuance of debt and equity, and ventures with third parties.  For the long-term, as investments mature in 
value to the point where we are unlikely to achieve better than a market return on their then enhanced value, it is likely 
we will exit the investment and seek to redeploy the capital to higher yielding opportunities.  Therefore, the sale of these 
investments are an important part of our overall earnings and may result in uneven earnings that may vary greatly from 
quarter to quarter. 

Our business objective is to maximize long-term shareholder value through a total return value approach to real estate 
investing.  We measure our success in meeting this objective by a number of factors, including increases in diluted per 
share net income, cash returns generated by our investments, increases in shareholder equity and total return to our 
shareholders.  During 2007, 2006 and 2005, our operating results were as follow: 

 2007 2006 2005
    
Net income applicable to Common Shares $        2,481,000 $    42,936,000 $    21,557,000

Net income per common share, basic $                 0.04 $               0.74 $               0.52

Net income per common share, diluted $                 0.04 $               0.71 $               0.52

Net cash provided by operating activities $      22,154,000 $    27,687,000 $    15,870,000

    
Total assets $    745,447,000 $  851,620,000 $  658,848,000

    
Total shareholders’ equity $    291,794,000 $  323,586,000   $  159,606,000
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Trends

Competition

We face substantial competition for our targeted investments. Our ability to grow our investment portfolio depends to a 
significant degree on our ability to implement our investment policy and operating strategies. We compete with 
numerous other companies for investments, including other REITs, insurance companies, real estate opportunity funds, 
pension funds and a multitude of private investors.  Many of our competitors have greater resources than we do and for 
this and other reasons, we may not be able to compete successfully for particular investments.  We will continue to 
capitalize on the acquisition and investment opportunities that our advisor brings to us as a result of its acquisition 
experience as well as our partners in ventures which serve as platforms to investments in various geographic areas and 
particular classes of assets.  Through its broad experience, our advisor’s senior management team has established a 
network of contacts and relationships, including relationships with operators, financiers, commercial real estate brokers, 
potential tenants and other key industry participants.  

Interest Rate Environment

Both our loan assets and our loan obligations are customarily based on floating rate indexes, such as LIBOR or US 
Treasuries, which can fluctuate.  With respect to our loan assets, we seek to eliminate this risk by obtaining match 
financing.  That is, we finance a portion of our loan asset acquisitions through financings under which our interest 
payment obligations are tied to the same index as the loan asset.  In this way, we assure that the spread between the 
interest rate on the loan asset and the interest rate on the loan obligation remains constant.  With respect to our loan 
obligations secured by our operating properties, we may utilize a variety of financial instruments, including interest rate 
swaps, caps, options, floors and other interest rate exchange contracts, in order to limit the potential negative effects of 
fluctuations in interest rates on our operations.  In the past, we entered into the following agreements in order to limit our 
exposure to interest rate volatility: (i) an interest rate swap with a $40,000,000 notional amount, that was subsequently 
negotiated to a notional amount of $26,000,000, that expires December 1, 2009 and effectively converted the interest rate 
on that portion of principal of our note payable to KeyBank, with an outstanding balance at December 31, 2007 of 
$28,883,673, secured by certain of our net lease properties, from a floating rate equal to LIBOR plus 1.75% to a fixed 
LIBOR rate of 4.05% plus 1.75% and (ii) an interest rate swap with a balance guaranty on our Repurchase Agreement 
with respect to our first mortgage residential whole-pool loan certificates, which bears interest at LIBOR minus 0.002%, 
effectively fixing our rate at 4.055% on that financing. We do not intend to utilize derivatives for speculative purposes 
but only for interest rate risk management.   

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

Liquidity is a measurement of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including ongoing commitments to repay 
borrowings, fund and maintain investments and other general business needs. We believe that cash flow from operations 
will continue to provide adequate capital to fund our operating and administrative expenses, regular debt service 
obligations and all dividend payments in accordance with REIT requirements in both the short-term and long-term. In 
addition, we anticipate that cash on hand, borrowings under our credit facility and issuance of equity and debt, as well as 
other alternatives, will provide the necessary capital required for our investment activities. Additionally, to maintain our 
status as a REIT, we must pay dividends annually in an amount equal to at least 90% of our REIT taxable income.  As a 
result of this dividend requirement, we, like other REITs, are dependent on raising capital through equity and debt 
issuances to obtain funds with which to expand our business. 
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Our primary sources of funds for liquidity consist of: 

cash and cash equivalents; 

cash flow from our operating properties; 

payments received from our loan assets and loan securities; 

dividends received from our ownership of REIT equity interests; 

distributions from ventures; 

borrowings under our credit facility; and 

equity and debt issuances. 

We had cash and cash equivalents of $36,654,000 at December 31, 2007, which consisted of $29,958,000 in cash and 
$6,696,000 in cash equivalents with maturities of less than 90 days.  In addition, we had $70,000,000 available under our 
credit facility.  As noted above, we expect to raise additional funds through debt financing and/or equity offerings.  
Toward that end, during 2006 we raised approximately $137,936,000 from issuances of our common shares in registered 
offerings and in January 2008 we filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-3 to enable us to sell 8,845,036 
of our common shares pursuant to a rights offering to our existing holders of our common shares and our Series B-1 
preferred shares.  Further, pursuant to our dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan, which we refer to as our DRIP, 
which was instituted in 2006 we issued a total of 592,422 common shares resulting in gross proceeds of $3,921,000 in 
2007. 

At December 31, 2007, we had an effective registration statement under which we can offer an aggregate of 
approximately $256,388,000 of additional equity or debt securities.  In addition, our UPREIT structure will also enable 
us to acquire properties by issuing to sellers, as a form of consideration, limited partnership interests in our operating 
partnership.  Although to date we have not issued limited partnership interests in a transaction, we believe that this 
structure will facilitate our ability to acquire individual properties and portfolios of properties by enabling us to structure
transactions which will defer taxes payable by a seller while preserving our available cash for other purposes, including 
the possible payment of dividends.  

Future Cash Requirements  

The following table sets forth the timing of our payment obligations related to our off-balance sheet and contractual 
obligations, including all fixed and variable rate debt obligations, except as otherwise noted, as of December 31, 2007 (in 
thousands): 

Payments Due by Period

     
Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 Year 2-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 Years
      
Mortgage Loans Payable  
   (principal and interest) $   327,701 $    29,218 $     62,423 $    47,760 $   188,300 
Revolving Line of Credit  
   (principal and interest) - - - -

              
               - 

Repurchase Agreements 75,175 75,175 - -                - 
Ground Lease Obligations (1) - - - -                - 
Advisors’ Fee (2)          5,263          5,263                  -                 -                   -
      
 $   408,139 $   109,656 $     62,423 $    47,760 $   188,300
      
Off-Balance Sheet Obligations:      
Commitments (3)      
   Concord $5,087 $5,087 - -                - 

(1) The underlying lease agreements require the tenant to pay the ground rent expense. 
(2) Base management fee based upon the terms of the Advisory Agreement and equity and assets in place at December 

31, 2007, with no effect given to the additional investments or equity issuances after December 31, 2007 or to 
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incentive fee compensation to FUR Advisors.  No amounts have been included for subsequent renewal periods of 
the advisory agreement. 

(3) Excludes pending acquisitions that are subject to due diligence. 

We carry comprehensive liability and all risk property insurance: (i) fire; (ii) flood; (iii) extended coverage; (iv) “acts of 
terrorism,” as defined in the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002; and (v) rental loss insurance with respect to our 
operating properties where coverage is not provided by our net lease tenants.  Under the terms of our net leases, the 
tenant is obligated to maintain adequate insurance coverage.  

Our debt instruments, consisting of mortgage loans secured by our operating properties (which are generally non-
recourse to us) contain customary covenants requiring us to maintain insurance. Although we believe that we have 
adequate insurance coverage under these agreements, we may not be able to obtain an equivalent amount of coverage at 
reasonable costs in the future. Further, if lenders insist on greater coverage than we are able to obtain at reasonable costs, 
it could adversely affect our ability to finance and/or refinance our properties and expand our portfolio.  

Cash Flows  

Our level of liquidity based upon cash and cash equivalents decreased by approximately $52,809,000 during the year 
ended December 31, 2007.  The decrease resulted from $100,072,000 of cash used in financing activities, which was 
partially offset by $22,154,000 of cash provided by our operating activities and $25,109,000 of cash provided by our 
investing activities. 

Cash provided by operating activities of $22,154,000 was comprised of (i) net income of $2,481,000; (ii) net positive 
adjustments for non-cash items of $22,961,000, and (iii) a net negative change in operating assets and liabilities of 
$3,288,000.  The adjustments for non-cash items were comprised of increases due to (i) non-cash other-than-temporary 
impairment loss on our REIT equity interests of $18,218,000; (ii) depreciation and amortization of $15,759,000; 
(iii) minority interest expense of $578,000; (iv) provision for loss on loan receivable of $1,266,000; (v) loss on early 
extinguishment of debt of $369,000; (vi) a decrease in interest receivable on loans of $435,000; and (vii) bad debt 
expense of $71,000.  The decreases in non-cash items were due to (i) net gains on sale of securities available for sale of 
$10,187,000; (ii) the effect of straight-lining of rental income of $1,825,000; (iii) equity in earnings of equity 
investments in excess of distributions of $1,563,000; (iv) interest earned on restricted cash of $148,000; and (v) earnings 
of preferred equity investments in excess of distributions of $12,000.  See “Results of Operations” below for additional 
details on our operations.  

Cash provided by investing activities consisted of $64,360,000 of collections of loan receivables, $38,694,000 of 
proceeds received from repayment on our whole pool mortgage-backed securities available for sale, $24,004,000 of 
proceeds from the sale of real estate securities, $16,162,000 of proceeds from preferred equity investments, $10,000,000 
of return of capital distributions on our equity investments, return of capital distribution from available for sale securities
of $10,047,000 and $1,347,000 of cash received upon foreclosure of property. 

We used cash for investing activities in 2007 as follows:  (i) $76,071,000 for investment in our Concord venture and 
$22,130,000 for investment in our other equity investments; (ii) $17,669,000 for investment in our preferred equity 
investment; (iii) $9,716,000 for operating property acquisitions and capital improvements to our existing operating 
properties; (iv) $9,224,000 to issue new loans receivable; (v) $3,172,000 to purchase available for sale securities; and (vi) 
$1,523,000 to increase restricted cash held in escrow. 

We used cash for financing activities in 2007 as follows:  (i) $20,012,000 for dividend payments on our common shares; 
(ii) $36,736,000 for repayment of borrowings under repurchase agreements; (iii) $47,536,000 for mortgage loan 
repayments; (iv) $21,438,000 for distributions to minority interests; (v) $887,000 for payment of deferred loan costs; and 
(vi) $30,004,000 for repayment of loans.   

Cash provided by financing activities in 2007 was the result of $51,693,000 of mortgage loan proceeds, $3,921,000 of 
proceeds from our DRIP, $787,000 of contributions from minority partners and $140,000 decrease in restricted cash held 
in escrow. 
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Results of Operations 

As discussed earlier, one of the factors used to measure management’s performance is net operating income.  We define 
net operating income for each segment presented as the segment’s revenue and other income less operating expenses. 

We have determined that we have three reportable operating segments:  Operating Properties, Loan Assets and Loan 
Securities and REIT Equity Interests.  The reportable segments were determined based on our method of internal 
reporting. 

The Operating Properties segment includes all of our wholly and partially owned operating properties.  The Loan Assets 
and Loan Securities segment includes all of our activities related to senior and mezzanine real estate loans.  The REIT 
Equity Interests segment includes all of our activities related to the ownership of securities in other publicly traded real 
estate companies.   

In addition to our three business segments, we report our non-segment specific income and expenses under Corporate 
Activities. 

Summary of Segment Operating Results  

The following table presents a summary of our assets held in each business segment for the years ended December 31, 
2007, 2006 and 2005 and capital expenditures incurred with respect to our operating properties for the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

  2007    2006   2005 

 (in thousands) 
Identifiable Assets               
    Operating properties   $ 293,241  $ 271,991   $ 244,902 
    Loan assets and loan securities    320,671   363,089     272,094 
    REIT equity interests    71,353   104,392     104,604 
    Other (1)    60,182   112,148     37,248 

           
Total Assets   $ 745,447  $ 851,620   $ 658,848 

         
Capital Expenditures           

Operating Properties   $ 1,755  $ 1,483   $ 684 

(1) Includes cash and cash equivalents. 

The following table presents a summary of revenues from Operating Properties, Loan Assets and Loan Securities and 
REIT Equity Interests and expenses incurred by each business segment for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 
and 2005.  Interest on cash reserves, general and administrative expenses and other non-segment specific income and 
expense items are reported under Corporate Income (Expense). 

   2007    2006   2005 

    (in thousands) 
Operating Properties               
    Rents and reimbursements  $ 40,470   $ 38,822  $ 25,454 
    Operating expenses   (5,851)    (4,054)    (1,205) 
    Real estate taxes   (2,139)    (1,879)    (220) 
    Loss on extinguishment of debt   (369)   (646)   - 
    Equity in loss of Sealy Northwest Atlanta, L.P.   (470)   (51)   - 
    Equity in loss of Sealy Airpark Nashville, L.P.   (936)   -   - 

         Net operating income    30,705    32,192   24,029 
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   2007    2006   2005 

    (in thousands) 
Loan Assets and Loan Securities

    Interest   7,826    12,962   3,664 
    Earnings of preferred equity investment   11,836    6,849   4,066 
    Equity in earnings of Concord Debt Holdings, LLC   5,098   1,340   - 
    Gain on sale of limited partnership interest   1,997   -   - 
    Loan fee income   -    -   75 
    Provision for loss on loan receivable   (1,266)   -   - 

          Net operating income   25,491    21,151   7,805 

           
REIT Equity Interests               
    Dividends   3,003    1,073   1,622 
    Gain on sale of real estate securities   10,187    8,130   243 

      Impairment loss on available for sale securities    (18,218)   -   - 
      Assignment of exclusivity agreement – net lease assets   -   9,500   10,500 

    Equity in earnings of Newkirk Realty Trust   -    7,280   304 
    Gain on exchange of equity investment   -   9,285   - 
    Equity in loss of Lex-Win Acquisition, LLC   (45)   -   - 

           Net operating income (loss)   (5,073)    35,268   12,669 

           
Net Operating Income   51,123   88,611   44,503 

         
Less - Depreciation and Amortization   12,713    11,216   6,994 
           
Less - Interest Expense               
    Operating properties   14,369    14,304   12,475 
    Loans   6,377    8,258   2,515 
           
Corporate Income (Expense)               
    Interest income   3,149    1,630   2,111 
    General and administrative (1)   (8,341)    (2,680)   (5,949) 
    Interest expense   (10,731)    (8,495)   (5,912) 
    Legal settlement   -    -   11,000 
    State and local taxes   (417)    (234)   (500) 
    Other   700   530   - 

           
Income from continuing operations before minority interest   2,024    45,584   23,269 
Minority interest   (578)    (2,764)   (179) 

           
Income from continuing operations   1,446    42,820   23,090 

         
Income from discontinued operations   1,035   116   531 

         
Net Income  $ 2,481  $ 42,936  $ 23,621 

         
 (1) After credits – See Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data - Note 19.” 

2007 Versus 2006  

Net Earnings 

Net income decreased by $40,455,000 to $2,481,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $42,936,000 for the 
year ended December 31, 2006.  As described in greater detail below, the decrease was due primarily to the recognition 
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at December 31, 2007 of other than temporary non-cash losses attributable to our REIT equity interests and certain loan 
securities held by Concord and the recognition at December 31, 2006 of non-cash gains attributable to our REIT equity 
interests. 

Operating Properties 

Net operating income from our operating properties decreased by 1,487,000 to $30,705,000 for the year ended December 
31, 2007 from $32,192,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006.  The changes in net operating income from our 
operating properties were the result of the following: 

rental income increased by $1,648,000 to $40,470,000 due to an increase of $3,156,000 from operating 
properties acquired during 2006 and 2007 and a decrease of $1,508,000 from operating properties held for all 
12 months ended December 31, 2007 and 2006: 

- $988,000 increase at our Chicago, Illinois (Ontario) property resulting primarily from a $1,123,000 
lease termination in June 2007 

- $416,000 decrease at our Jacksonville, Florida property due primarily to a $1,093,000 stock 
settlement received in December 2006 from Winn-Dixie which vacated the property in November 
2005.  Without giving effect to the stock settlement, rental income at this property increased by 
$677,000 in 2007 due to increased occupancy at the property   

- $23,000 increase at our Circle Tower property 
- $700,000 decrease at our Orlando, Florida property due to a lease modification effective January 1, 

2007 
- $1,333,000 increase at our Lisle, Illinois properties, which were acquired during the first quarter of 

2006 
- $744,000 of rental revenue from our Creekwood Apartments property, which was acquired at the 

end of the first quarter of 2007 
- $1,079,000 of rental revenue from our River City property which we acquired through a foreclosure 

sale on October 2, 2007. 
- $1,403,000 decrease from properties held for all 12 months due to an out of period adjustment 

recognized in the fourth quarter of 2007 as described in Note 2 of the financial statements 

operating expenses increased by $1,797,000 to $5,851,000 due to an increase of $271,000 from operating 
properties held for all 12 months ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and an increase of $1,526,000 from 
operating properties acquired during 2006 and 2007: 

- $188,000 increase at our Chicago, Illinois (Ontario) property 
- $70,000 increase at our Circle Tower property 
- $718,000 of expense at our Creekwood Apartments property which was acquired at the end of the 

first quarter of 2007 
- $446,000 of expense at our River City property which was acquired in October 2007 
- $362,000 increase at our Lisle, Illinois properties which were acquired during the first quarter of 

2006. 

Real estate tax expense increased by $260,000 to $2,139,000 due to: 
- $77,000 increase at our Lisle, Illinois properties which were acquired during the first quarter of 2006 
- $119,000 decrease at our Chicago, Illinois (Ontario) property as a result of receiving a final 

valuation from the county and a lower tax rate 
- $71,000 of expense increase at our Creekwood Apartments property which was acquired during the 

first quarter of 2007 
- $224,000 of expense at our River City property which was acquired in October 2007 

Interest expense related to our operating properties increased by $65,000 to $14,369,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 compared to $14,304,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 

Depreciation and amortization expense related to our operating properties increased by $1,497,000 to 
$12,713,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $11,216,000 for the year ended December 31, 
2006 as a result of property acquisitions during 2007 and 2006 and the recognition of an out of period 
adjustment in the fourth quarter of  2007 of approximately $645,000 as described in Note 2 of the financial 
statements
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Equity in loss on our investment in Sealy Northwest Atlanta, L.P., acquired in December 2006, and Sealy 
Airpark Nashville, acquired in April 2007, was $1,406,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 as a result of 
depreciation and amortization exceeding net operating income for these properties

Loss on extinguishment of debt was $369,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $646,000 for 
2006.  The loss in 2007 was primarily due to a $40,000,000 paydown on our debt secured by certain of our net 
lease properties, and the loss in 2006 was due to the refinancing of certain first mortgage debt on more 
favorable terms. 

Loan Assets and Loan Securities

Revenue from our loan assets and loan securities increased by $4,340,000 to $25,491,000 for the year ended December 
31, 2007 from $21,151,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006.  The changes were the result of the following:   

equity investment in Concord (entered into on March 31, 2006) generated $5,098,000 of equity income during 
the year ended December 31, 2007 as compared to equity income of $1,340,000 for the year ended December 
31, 2006.  The increase is due primarily to our investing in Concord in April 2006 and Concord ramping up 
operations during 2006 

earnings from preferred equity investment increased by $4,987,000 to $11,836,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2007.  The increase was due to the sales of two of the properties in the Marc Realty portfolio 
which generated a return on our equity investment of approximately $6,354,000, excluding interest.  This 
increase was partially offset by a decrease in earnings as a result of having a lower investment balance in 2007 

interest income of $96,000 from our Vision term loan which was originated in December 2006 

provision for loss on loan receivable of $1,266,000 recorded on our Vision term loan in 2007 

interest income on the Toy Building loan, which was fully satisfied in May 2007, decreased by $4,001,000 
during the year ended December 31, 2007  

interest income decreased by $1,043,000 on our River City loans which were acquired during the first quarter of 
2006 and were satisfied in the case of the loan secured by the office building upon the acquisition of the 
property through a foreclosure sale in October 2007, and in the case of the loan secured by the land, the 
repayment in full in accordance with its terms 

gain on sale of $1,997,000 recognized in the fourth quarter of 2007 related to the sale of our investment in a 
venture which held an interest in a Chicago office building known as One Financial Place 

interest income decreased by $163,000 related to the two mortgage loans which were fully satisfied during 2006.   

Interest expense related to our loan investments was $6,377,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to 
$8,258,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006.  The decrease was due primarily to a decrease in interest expense of 
$1,521,000 related to the borrowings collateralized by our Toy Building loan and a decrease in interest of $401,000 on 
our repurchase agreements.  This was partially offset by higher interest expense of $41,000 related to our borrowings 
collateralized by our River City loans.   

REIT Equity Interests

Our income from investments in REIT equity interests exclusive of non-cash items increased by $3,987,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2007 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2006 due to an increase in dividend income of 
$1,930,000 primarily due to $2,695,000 of dividend income recognized on our investment in Lexington and an increase 
in gain on sale of real estate securities of $2,057,000.  The gain on sale of real estate securities consisted primarily of 
$9,750,000 from the America First Apartment Investors sale in 2007 compared to $7,839,000 from the sale of Sizeler 
Property Investors stock in 2006.  At December 31, 2007, we held REIT equity interests that had a market value of 
$51,804,000 as compared to December 31, 2006 when we held REIT equity interests with a market value of $95,148,000.

Inclusive of non-cash items, income from our investments in REIT equity interests decreased by $40,341,000 to 
$5,073,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $35,268,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006.  This 
decrease is due primarily to the recognition of a non-cash other-than-temporary impairment loss on our Lexington shares 
of $17,745,000 at December 31, 2007 compared to the recognition of non-cash income of $18,785,000 at December 31, 
2006 relating to the Newkirk merger with Lexington.  We recorded a non-cash other-than-temporary impairment loss at 
December 31, 2007 with respect to our Lexington shares even though we did not sell our Lexington shares during 2007 
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because we believe that the value of the Lexington shares are not likely to have a market value in the near term necessary 
to recover our carrying value at December 31, 2007.  Although we have carried the value of our investment in Lexington 
on our balance sheets at its market value through an adjustment to other comprehensive income treating the decrease in 
market value as a temporary impairment, under applicable accounting rules, a recognition of an other-than-temporary 
impairment loss is required at December 31, 2007 due to our determination that it is unlikely that the value of the 
Lexington shares will, in the near term, increase to our carrying value.  

As a result of Newkirk’s merger with Lexington on December 31, 2006, we began accounting for our investment in 
Lexington as an available for sale real estate security.  This resulted in our recognition of a non-cash gain on sale of 
equity investment of $9,285,000 in 2006.  Further, we recognized additional non-cash income in 2006 of $9,500,000 on 
our Lexington shares due to the elimination of the forfeiture provision with respect to certain of our Lexington shares. 

Corporate Activities

Interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents during the year ended December 31, 2007 was $3,149,000 
compared to $1,630,000 for the same period during 2006.  The increase was due primarily to higher cash and cash 
equivalents available for short term investment during a majority of 2007. 

Interest expense increased by $2,236,000 to $10,731,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $8,495,000 for the 
year ended December 31, 2006.  The increase was primarily related to an increase of $2,817,000 of dividends paid on 
our Series B-1 preferred shares due to increased dividend payments on our common shares which was partially offset by 
a decrease of $576,000 in interest expense incurred on our revolving line of credit because there were no outstanding 
borrowings during 2007.   

General and administrative expenses increased by $5,661,000 to $8,341,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 from 
$2,680,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006.  This was primarily due to increases in the base management fee of 
$5,793,000 as a result of the increase in our outstanding equity and the $4,400,000 credit recognized in 2006, and an 
increase in professional fees of $168,000.  Without giving effect to the $4,400,000 credit, base management fee 
increased from $3,681,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 to $5,263,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007.  
These were partially offset by a decrease in reporting and subscription costs of $264,000.  All other general and 
administrative items remained relatively constant.  

State Income Taxes 

State income taxes of $417,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007, as compared to $234,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2006, resulted from our anticipated taxable income for state purposes after the dividends paid deduction 
and utilization of net operating loss carryforwards where applicable.  The increase is the result of having higher taxable 
income in states where there are no net operating losses available to be utilized.   

2006 Versus 2005

Net Earnings 

Net income increased by $19,315,000 to $42,936,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $23,621,000 for the 
year ended December 31, 2005.  As discussed in greater detail below, the increase was due primarily to an increase in 
revenues of $22,117,000 as a result of our acquisition activity and an increase in other income of $15,548,000.  These 
increases were partially offset by an increase in expenses of $15,350,000 and an increase in minority interest expense of 
$2,585,000. 
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Operating Properties 

Net operating income from our operating properties increased by $8,163,000 to $32,192,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2006 as compared to $24,029,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005.  The changes in net operating 
income from our operating properties were the result of the following:

rental income increased by $13,368,000 to $38,822,000 due to: 
- $4,464,000 of income at our Lisle, Illinois properties, which were acquired during the first quarter of 

2006 
- $765,000 increase at our Jacksonville, Florida property (vacated in November 2005) as a result of 

releasing efforts in 2006 
- $3,067,000 increase at our Verizon properties which were acquired at the end of the fourth quarter of 

2005 
- $947,000 increase at our Amherst property which was acquired during the second quarter of 2005 
- $4,051,000 increase at our Chicago (Ontario) property which was acquired during the fourth quarter of 

2005 
- $83,000 increase at our Circle Tower property due to higher occupancy levels in 2006 

operating expenses increased by $2,849,000 to $4,054,000 due to: 
- $956,000 increase at our Chicago, Illinois (Ontario) property which was acquired during the fourth 

quarter of 2005 
- $1,475,000 of expense at our Lisle, Illinois properties, which were acquired during the first quarter of 

2006 
- $10,000 increase at our Circle Tower property 
- $479,000 increase at our Jacksonville, Florida property as a result of releasing efforts in 2006 

real estate tax expense increased by $1,659,000 due to: 
- $688,000 of expense at our Lisle, Illinois properties which were acquired during the first quarter of 

2006 
- $857,000 increase at our Chicago, Illinois (Ontario) property as a result of owning the property for the 

full year in 2006 
- $112,000 increase at our Jacksonville, Florida property which was under a net lease to Winn-Dixie in 

2005 

interest expense related to our operating properties increased by $1,829,000 to $14,304,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2006 compared to $12,475,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily as a result of 
new property financings 

loss on extinguishment of debt of $646,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 due to the refinancing of 
certain first mortgage debt on more favorable terms 

depreciation and amortization expense relating to our operating properties increased by $4,222,000 to 
$11,216,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $6,994,000 for the year ended December 31, 
2005 as a result of property acquisitions during 2006 and 2005. 

Loan Assets and Loan Securities  

Revenue increased by $13,346,000 to $21,151,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $7,805,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2005.  The changes in our loan revenues were the result of the following:   

interest income on the Toy Building loan, which was originated in December 2005, increased by $6,033,000 
during the year ended December 31, 2006 

$2,579,000 increase on our whole pool mortgage-backed securities which were acquired during 2005 

interest income of $1,234,000 on our River City loans which were acquired during the first quarter of 2006 

earnings from preferred equity investment increased by $2,783,000 to $6,849,000 for the year ended December 
31, 2006.  The increase was due to our April 2005 origination of 24 mezzanine loans and two second mortgage 
loans and the sale in 2006 of four of the properties in the Marc Realty portfolio which generated a return on our 
equity investment of approximately $984,000 

equity investment in Concord (entered into on March 31, 2006) generated $1,340,000 of equity income during 
the year ended December 31, 2006. 
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Interest expense related to our loan investments was $8,258,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 
$2,515,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005.  The increase was due primarily to an increase in interest expense of 
$2,309,000 related to the borrowings collateralized by our Toy Building loan, a increase of $2,514,000 on our repurchase 
agreements and interest expense of $920,000 related to our borrowings collateralized by our River City loans.

REIT Equity Interests

Income from our investments in REIT equity interests increased by $22,599,000 to $35,268,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2006 from $12,669,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005.  Our Newkirk investment generated equity 
earnings from November 7, 2005 through December 31, 2005 of $304,000.  During 2006, the Newkirk equity investment 
generated $7,280,000 of income.  In connection with the consummation of the merger of Newkirk into Lexington, shares 
that were subject to forfeiture and the assignment of the exclusivity rights with respect to the net lease assets were vested 
in Lexington.  In addition, as consideration for assignment of our rights with respect to the net lease assets under the 
exclusivity agreement, we recognized other income of $9,500,000 and $10,500,000 in 2006 and 2005, respectively.  Also 
as a result of the merger with Lexington, we recognized a gain of $9,285,000 in 2006. 

Dividends recognized on real estate securities were $1,073,000 during the year ended December 31, 2006.  Also during 
2006 we recognized gains aggregating $8,130,000 on the sale of our shares of certain real estate securities. 

Corporate Activities

Interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $1,630,000 
compared to $2,111,000 for the same period during 2005.  The decrease was due primarily to less investment in cash and 
cash equivalents during 2006. 
Interest expense increased by $2,583,000 to $8,495,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 from $5,912,000 for the 
year ended December 31, 2005.  The increase was the result of an increase of $1,566,000 of dividends paid on our Series 
B-1 Preferred Shares and an increase in interest expense of $1,017,000 related to our revolving line of credit. 

General and administrative expenses decreased by $3,269,000 to $2,680,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 from 
$5,949,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005.  This was primarily due to a $4,400,000 credit we received related to 
the incentive management fee paid by Newkirk to NKT Advisors.  Base management fees increased by $3,681,000 for 
the year ended December 31, 2006 as a result of an increase in our outstanding equity.   

State Income Taxes 

State income taxes were $234,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to $500,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2005.  The decrease in state income taxes of $266,000 is due to a larger deduction for dividends paid in 
2006. 

Legal Settlement 

In 2005 we settled litigation with the state of California related to flood damage at our Peachtree Mall property.  In 
connection with this settlement we received $11,000,000 in fiscal year 2005.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We have two significant off-balance sheet arrangements, our Concord venture interest and our loans and preferred equity 
interests in the Marc Realty portfolio. 

Concord Debt Holdings LLC 

During 2007 we made a substantial portion of our investments through Concord, a venture with Lexington in which each 
of us and Lexington hold a 50% ownership interest.  Concord’s business is to acquire and originate a diversified 
portfolio of real estate loans.  Concord’s loan assets and loan securities are categorized as loan assets and loan securities 
held directly by Concord and those held in Concord Real Estate CDO 2006-1, Ltd., which we refer to as CDO-1. 
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At December 31, 2007, Concord had total assets of approximately $1.2 billion, total debt liabilities of approximately 
$849.0 million, 91% of which had maturity or redemption dates, after giving effect to extensions, ranging from three to 
nine years, and member’s equity of approximately $327.7 million.  Concord generated net income of $10.2 million 
during the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to net income of $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.  
The increase in net income was primarily due to increased investments during 2007.   

All of Concord’s loan assets and loan securities were performing in accordance with their terms at December 31, 2007.  
Subsequent to December 31, 2007, one loan asset held by Concord, its $44 million interest in the most senior mezzanine 
loan secured by a portfolio of four office buildings in New York City owned by an entity owned and controlled by Harry 
Macklowe, went into default when the loan matured and remained unpaid.  Concord believes that there is more than 
sufficient value in the properties collateralizing this loan to enable the loan to ultimately be satisfied in full. 

CDO-1

Concord holds loan assets and loan securities.  On December 21, 2006, Concord formed its first CDO, Concord Real 
Estate CDO 2006-1, Ltd., which we refer to as CDO-1, pursuant to which it financed approximately $464,601,000 of its 
loan assets by issuing an aggregate of approximately $376,650,000 of investment grade debt.  Concord retained an equity 
and junior debt interest in the portfolio with a notional amount of $88,350,000.  That is, if CDO-1 does not ultimately 
have sufficient funds to satisfy all of its obligations to its noteholders, Concord will bear the first $88,350,000 in loss, 
one half of which would be attributable to our interest in Concord. 

The financing through CDO-1 enhanced Concord’s return on the loan assets and loan securities held in CDO-1 as the 
weighted average interest rate on the loan assets and loan securities held in CDO-1 at December 31, 2007 was 6.7% and 
the weighted average interest rate on the amount payable by Concord on its notes at December 31, 2007 was 5.37%.  
Accordingly, assuming the loan assets and loan securities are paid in accordance with their terms, Concord retains an 
average spread of the difference between the interest received on the loan assets and loan securities and the interest paid 
on the loan assets and loan securities.   

The loan assets and loan securities and the note obligations for CDO-1 at December 31, 2007 are set forth below 
(amounts in thousands). 

CDO Loan Assets and Loan Securities
December 31, 2007

CDO Notes
December 31, 2007

Date
Closed

Par Value of 
CDO

Collateral (3)

Weighted 
Average 
Interest 

Rate

Weighted 
Average 

Life (years)
Outstanding 

CDO Notes (1)

Weighted 
Average 
Interest 

Rate
Stated

Maturity
Equity 

Value (2)
            

12/21/06 $ 464,601 6.70% 4.29  $ 376,650 5.37% 12/2016 $ 88,350 

(1) Includes only notes held by third parties. 
(2) Concord’s potential loss is limited to the equity value of its investment in CDO-1 of which we would bear 50% of 

such loss.  
(3) Consists of loan assets with a par value of $338,681 and loan securities with a par value of $125,920. 
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CDO-1’s loan assets were diversified by industry as follows at December 31, 2007:

Industry  % of Par Value
   

Hospitality  30.54% 
Office  44.22% 
Mixed Use  5.10% 
Retail  4.43% 
Industrial  7.09% 
Multi-family        8.62%
    100.00%

The following table sets forth the aggregate carrying values, allocation by loan type and weighted average coupons of the 
loan assets and loan securities held in CDO-1 as of December 31, 2007: 

   
Carrying 
Value(1) Par Value 

 Allocation by 
Investment 

Type

 Fixed Rate:  
Average 

Yield

 Floating Rate:  
Average Spread 
over LIBOR(2) 

             
 (In thousands)       
           
Whole loans, floating rate  $ 20,000  $ 20,000  4.31%  -  195 bps 
Whole loans, fixed rate    20,900   20,900  4.50%  6.56%  - 
Subordinate interests in whole 
loans, floating rate 108,766 108,864 23.43% - 244 bps 
Subordinate interests in whole 
loans, fixed rate 

   
 24,567

   
 27,619 5.95% 7.46% -

Mezzanine loans, floating rate    81,419    81,410               17.52%                     -                270 bps 
           
Mezzanine loans, fixed rate    77,669   79,888  17.19%  5.92%  - 
           
Loan securities, floating rate    100,955   103,428  22.26%  -  189 bps 
Loan securities, fixed rate    18,448   22,492  4.84%  5.97%  - 

             
Total/Average  $ 452,724  $  464,601  100.00%  6.30%  230 bps 

(1) Net of unamortized fees, discounts, and unfunded commitments. 
(2) Spreads over an index other than LIBOR have been adjusted to a LIBOR based equivalent. 

The following table sets forth the maturity dates for the loan assets held in CDO-1 at December 31, 2007: 

Year of Maturity 
 Number of Loan 

Assets Maturity 
  Carrying Value 

(in thousands) % of Total 

        
2008  7  $ 140,183  42.06% 
2009  2   34,584  10.38% 
2010  4   46,465  13.94% 
2011  1   20,900  6.27% 
2012  1   5,017  1.50% 
Thereafter  7   86,172  25.85% 

        
Total  22  $ 333,321  100.00% 

        
Weighted average maturity (1) 3.45 years                 
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(1) The calculation of weighted average maturity is based upon the remaining initial term and does not take into 
account any maturity extension periods or the ability to prepay the investment after a negotiated lock-out period, 
which may be available to the borrower. 

The following table sets forth a summary of the loan securities held in CDO-1 at December 31, 2007 (in thousands): 

Description 

   
Par

Value

   
Amortized 

Cost 

  Gross  
Unrealized Gain 

(Loss)

   
Realized

Loss

   
Carrying 

Value

                
Fixed rate  $   22,492  $ 20,370  $ (321)  $     (1,601)  $ 18,448 
Floating rate   103,428   103,310   (2,355)              -   100,955 

Total  $ 125,920  $ 123,680  $ (2,676)  $     (1,601)  $ 119,403 

The following table sets forth a summary of the underlying Standard & Poor’s credit rating of the loan securities held in 
CDO-1 at December 31, 2007: 

Rating  Par Value  Percentage 

  (in thousands)   
      
BBB+  $ 9,000  7.15% 
BBB   2,151  1.71% 
BBB-   44,384  35.25% 
BB+   33,392  26.52% 
BB   18,500  14.69% 
B+   7,000  5.56% 
NR   11,493  9.12% 

Total  $ 125,920  100.00% 

Concord’s Loan Assets and Loan Securities

The following table sets forth the aggregate carrying values, allocation by loan type and weighted average coupons of 
Concord’s loan assets and loan securities in addition to its equity and debt interest in CDO-1 as of December 31, 2007:  

Carrying 
Value (1) Par Value 

 Allocation by 
Investment 

Type

 Fixed Rate:  
Average 

Yield

 Floating Rate:  
Average Spread 
over LIBOR (2) 

            
       
          
Whole loans, floating rate $ 136,260  $ 136,260  19.09%  -  218 bps 
Whole loans, fixed rate   6,300      6,300  0.88%  6.40%  - 
Subordinate interests in whole 
loans, floating rate 163,077  163,907 22.96% - 223 bps 
Subordinate interests in whole 
loans, fixed rate  14,196    15,750 2.21% 8.63% -
Mezzanine loans, floating rate  230,853    236,437  33.12%  7.45%  222 bps 
          
Mezzanine loans, fixed rate   68,028      71,718  10.05%  -  - 
          
Loan securities, floating rate  43,260      56,400  7.90%  -  143 bps 
Loan securities, fixed rate   25,410     27,085  3.79%  6.68%  - 

            
Total/Average $ 687,384  $  713,857  100.00%  7.38%  214 bps 
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(1) Net of scheduled amortization payments and prepayments, unamortized fees, discounts, asset sales and 
unfunded commitments. 

(2) Spreads over an index other than LIBOR have been adjusted to a LIBOR based equivalent. 

The following table sets forth the maturity dates for Concord’s loan assets: 

Year of Maturity 
 Number of Loan 

Assets Maturity 
  Carrying Value 

(in thousands) % of Total 

        
2008  8  $ 170,500  27.56% 
2009  11   219,998  35.56% 
2010  3   81,903  13.24% 
2011  1   6,300  1.02% 
2012  3   72,968  11.79% 
Thereafter  7   67,045  10.83% 

        
Total  33   618,714  100.00% 

        
Weighted average maturity (1) 2.72 years          

(1) The calculation of weighted average maturity is based upon the remaining initial term and does not take into 
account any maturity extension periods or the ability to prepay the investment after a negotiated lock-out period, 
which may be available to the borrower. 

The following table sets forth a summary of Concord’s loan securities at December 31, 2007: 

Description 

   

Par Value 

   
Amortized 

Cost 

  Gross 
Unrealized
Gain (Loss) 

   
Realized

Loss

   
Carrying 

Value

                
Floating rate  $ 56,401  $ 56,173  $ (3,487)  $   (9,427)  $ 43,259 
Fixed rate   27,084   27,084   (1,673)             -   25,411 

Total  $ 83,485  $ 83,257  $ (5,160)     (9,427)   68,670 

The following table sets forth a summary of the underlying Standard & Poor’s credit rating of Concord’s loan securities 
at December 31, 2007: 

Rating   Par Value  Percentage 

      
AA-  $ 1,381  1.65% 
A-   1,966  2.36% 
BBB+   25,094  30.06% 
BBB   15,833  18.97% 
BBB-   30,392  36.40% 
BB+   5,000  5.99% 
NR   3,819  4.57% 

Total  $ 83,485  100.00% 
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Concord’s loan securities were diversified by industry as follows at December 31, 2007:

Industry % of Par Value

Hospitality 41.73% 
Office 46.35% 
Mixed Use 5.31% 
Retail - 
Industrial 0.24% 
Multi-family         6.37%
          100%

Credit Facilities

As described above, Concord has financed certain of its loan assets and loan securities through credit facilities in the 
form of repurchase agreements.  In the repurchase agreements entered into by Concord to date, the lender, referred to as 
the repurchase counterparty, purchases the loan asset or loan security from or on behalf of Concord.  Concord then 
repurchases the loan asset or loan security in cash on a specific repurchase date or, at the election of Concord, an earlier 
date.  While the loan asset is held by the repurchase counterparty, the repurchase counterparty retains a portion of each 
interest payment made on such loan asset or loan security equal to the “price differential” which is effectively the interest 
rate on the purchase price paid the repurchase counterparty to Concord for the loan asset or loan security, with the 
balance of such payments being paid to Concord.  Pursuant to the terms of the repurchase agreements, if the market 
value of the loan assets or loan securities pledged or sold by Concord decline, which decline is determined, in most cases, 
by the repurchase counterparty, Concord may be required to provide additional collateral or pay down a portion of the 
funds advanced.  During 2007, Concord was required to pay down an aggregate of $24,008,000 against $472,324,000 of 
outstanding repurchase obligations. 

Concord currently has five repurchase facilities, two of which are not loan asset/loan security specific and the other three 
of which are loan asset/loan security specific.  That is, under the non-loan asset/loan security specific repurchase 
facilities, Concord has the ability to pay back the loan with respect to such asset/loan security and finance other loan 
assets or loan securities through such facility.  With respect to the loan asset/loan security specific repurchase facilities, 
once the loan assets or loan securities securing such facility are satisfied, Concord cannot use the facility for additional 
loan assets or loan securities. 

All of Concord’s repurchase facilities are recourse to Concord and require Concord to maintain certain loan to asset 
value ratios, a minimum net worth and minimum liquidity.  At December 31, 2007, Concord was in compliance with its 
covenants.  In addition, all of the repurchase facilities require that Concord pay down borrowings under these facilities as 
principal payments on the loan assets and loan securities pledged to these facilities are received.   

The following table summarizes the terms of Concord’s current repurchase facilities at December 31, 2007 (in 
thousands): 

Counterparty 

   

Maximum 
Outstanding 

Balance

   

Outstanding 
Balance

Interest 
Rate – 
LIBOR      

    Plus (6) 
Maturity 

Date

   
Carrying Value 
of Loan Assets 

Securing
Facility

Greenwich(1)  $ 39,079  $ 39,079  100 bps  12/08  $ 55,827 
Greenwich(1)   59,613   59,613  100 bps  12/12   70,146 
Column(1)   16,414   16,414  100 bps        3/09 (3)   25,270 
Column(2)   350,000   308,508  85-135 bps (4)        3/09 (5)   412,561 
Bear Stearns(2)   150,000   48,710  85-115 bps (4)  11/08   83,258 

(1) Repurchase facilities cover specific loan assets and may not be used for any other loan assets. 



55

(2) Repurchase facilities may be used for multiple loan assets and loan securities subject to the repurchase 
counterparty’s consent.  Repurchase counterparties have advised that no additional advance will be made except, 
if at all, in connection with loans assets or debt securities acquired for the repurchase counterparty. 

(3) May be extended for up to three one-year extensions. 
(4) Interest rate is based on type of loan asset or loan security for which financing is provided.  Weighted average at 

December 31, 2007 on the Column repurchase facility was 5.84% and on the Bear Stearns repurchase facility 
was 5.49%. 

(5) May be extended for two additional years. 
(6) Concord has entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $203.3 million as of December 31, 

2007 to manage exposure to interest rate movements affecting interest payments on certain variable-rate 
obligations. 

In addition to its repurchase facilities, on March 7, 2008, Concord entered into a $100 million secured revolving credit 
facility with KeyBank National Association.  The credit facility enables Concord to finance existing unlevered assets as 
well as new assets acquired by Concord.  The initial maximum borrowings under the loan are $100 million, expandable 
to $350 million, upon compliance with certain conditions.  Borrowings under the facility will bear interest at spreads 
over LIBOR ranging from 1.75% to 2.25%, depending on the underlying loan asset or debt security for which such 
borrowing is made.  The facility, inclusive of extension rights, will mature in March 2011.  

See Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 8 - Concord Debt Holdings LLC for additional 
information relating to our investment in Concord. 

Marc Realty 

See Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 7- Marc Realty for information relating to our Marc 
Realty investment. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our most critical accounting policy relates to the evaluation of the carrying value of our operating properties, loan assets 
and loan securities, and our investments in ventures.   

We evaluate the need for an impairment loss on a real estate asset when indicators of impairment are present and the 
projected undiscounted cash flows from the asset are not sufficient to recover the asset’s carrying amount.  The 
impairment loss is measured by comparing the fair value of the asset to its carrying amount.  The projection of cash 
flows used in the impairment evaluation involves significant judgment by management.  

The allocation of the purchase price to operating properties upon acquisition also involves significant management 
judgment and has a significant impact on the amount and timing of depreciation and amortization.  Upon acquisition of 
an operating property, the fair value of the real estate, which includes the impact of mark-to-market adjustments for 
assumed mortgage debt related to the property acquired, is allocated to tangible assets, consisting of land, building and 
improvements, fixtures and equipment and identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting of the value of above-
market and below-market leases, other value of in-place leases and the value of tenant relationships, based in each case 
on management’s determination of fair value.  

Upon the acquisition of real estate, we assess the fair value of acquired assets (including land, buildings and 
improvements, and identified intangibles such as above and below market leases and acquired in-place leases and 
customer relationships) and acquired liabilities in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(“SFAS”) No. 141: Business Combinations and SFAS No. 142: Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and we allocate 
purchase price based on these assessments.  We assess fair value based on estimated cash flow projections and utilize 
appropriate discount and capitalization rates and available market information.  Estimates of future cash flows are based 
on a number of factors including the historical operating results, known trends, and market/economic conditions that may 
affect the property.  Our properties, including any related intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment if events or 
circumstances change indicating that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. 
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We also invest in mezzanine loans.  In connection with these mezzanine loans, we may also acquire an ownership 
interest in the borrower that allows us to participate in a percentage of the underlying property’s cash flow from 
operations as well as proceeds from a sale or refinancing.  At the inception of each such investment, management 
determines whether such investment should be accounted for as a loan, preferred equity, venture or as real estate.  This 
requires management judgment in evaluating the substance of the investment and how a loan is classified impacts the 
timing and amount of income recognized from the investment.  We currently classify all of our mezzanine loans, where 
we also acquire an ownership interest in the borrower and receive a preferred return as preferred equity investments.  

In addition, our loan assets are periodically evaluated for possible impairment in order to determine whether it is 
necessary to establish a loan loss reserve.  In some instances, if a borrower is experiencing difficulties making loan 
payments, we may assist the borrower to address the problems, which could include extending the loan term, making 
additional advances, or reducing required payments.  A loan is considered to be impaired when, based on current 
information and events, it is probable that the Trust will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the existing 
contractual terms of the loan.  Impairment is then measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows or if 
the loan is collateral dependent, the fair value of the collateral.  When a loan is considered to be impaired, the Trust will 
establish a reserve for loan losses and record a corresponding charge to earnings.  Significant judgments are required in 
determining impairment.  The Trust does not record interest income on impaired loans.  Any cash receipts on impaired 
loans are recorded as a recovery reducing the reserve for loan losses.  As of December 31, 2007, the Trust recorded a 
$1,266,000 provision for loss on loan receivable related to one of its loans. 

We invest in REIT equity interests which are classified as available for sale securities.  A decline in the market value of 
any available-for-sale marketable security below its cost that is deemed to be other-than-temporary results in a reduction 
in carrying amount to fair value.  The impairment is charged to operations and a new cost basis for the security is 
established.  The determination of whether an available-for-sale marketable security is other-than-temporarily impaired 
requires significant judgment and requires consideration of available quantitative and qualitative evidence in evaluating 
the potential impairment.  Factors evaluated to determine whether the investment is other-than-temporarily impaired 
include: significant deterioration in the issuer’s earnings performance, credit rating, asset quality, business prospects of 
the issuer, adverse changes in the general market conditions in which the issuer operates, most importantly length of time 
that the fair value has been below our cost, our expected future cash flows from the security and our intent and ability to 
retain the investment for a sufficient period of time to allow for recovery in the market value of the investment.  
Judgments associated with these factors are subject to future market and economic conditions, which could differ from 
our assessment.  During 2007, we determined that certain securities had sustained other-than-temporary impairments and, 
as a result, we recognized impairment losses of $18,218,000.  This impairment loss was primarily due to our investment 
in Lexington.  Our decision with respect to the Lexington shares was made primarily due to our determination that, 
although we have no present intention to sell the shares, their value has been below our carrying value for over twelve 
months and we cannot assume that the value of the Lexington shares will, in the near term, increase to our carrying value. 

Our investments in equity and venture investments are reviewed for impairment, periodically, if events or circumstances 
change indicating that the carrying amount of our investments may not be recoverable.  The ultimate realization of our 
equity investments is dependent on a number of factors including the performance of each investment and market 
conditions.  We will record an impairment change if we determine that a decline in value of an investment is other than 
temporary.  See Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data – Note 8 – Concord Debt Holdings LLC for 
information relating to impairment on the loan securities held by Concord. 

Finally, estimates are used when accounting for the allowance for contingent liabilities and other commitments.  All of 
the estimates and evaluations are susceptible to change and actual results could differ from the estimates and evaluations. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No.159, The Fair Value Option Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.  
This Statement provides a “Fair Value Option” under which a company may irrevocably elect fair value as the 
measurement attribute for certain financial assets and liabilities.  This Fair Value Option will be available on an 
instrument by instrument basis with changes in fair value recognized in earnings as those changes occur.  The effective 
date of this Statement is the beginning of the first fiscal year end that begins after November 15, 2007.  We believe that 
the adoption of SFAS No. 159 will not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements. 
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In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”).  SFAS No. 
157 provides guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities.  This statement clarifies the principle that fair
value should be based on the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability.  SFAS 
No. 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy, giving the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and the lowest 
priority to unobservable data.  SFAS No. 157 applies whenever other standards require assets or liabilities to be 
measured at fair value.  SFAS No. 157 also provides for certain disclosure requirements, including, but not limited to, the 
valuation techniques used to measure fair value and a discussion of changes in valuation techniques, if any, during the 
period.  This statement is effective in fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, except for nonfinancial assets and 
nonfinancial liabilities that are not recognized or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis, for which the effective date 
is fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008.  We are currently evaluating the impact and believes that the adoption 
of this standard will not have a material effect on our financial position and results of operations.   

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of 

FASB Statement No. 109. This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an 
enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. This 
Interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and 
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. This Interpretation also provides guidance on 
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. This 
Interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006.  We adopted this standard effective 
January 1, 2007 and it resulted in a $1,916,000 increase to shareholders’ equity which has been classified as a cumulative 
effect of a change in accounting principle.  Such adjustment resulted from management’s assessment that a liability 
previously established for an uncertain tax position pursuant to FAS 5 “Accounting for Contingencies” was no longer 
required.  In accordance with the provision of FIN 48, we deemed it more likely than not that the relevant tax position 
would be sustained.  As of December 31, 2007, we have no liability established for uncertain tax positions. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141(R)”), 
which establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer shall recognize and measure in its financial 
statements the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and goodwill 
acquired in a business combination.  This statement is effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date 
is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  We are 
currently assessing the potential impact that the adoption of SFAS 141(R) will have on our financial position and results 
of operations. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements 
– an Amendment of ARB No. 51” (“SFAS 160”), which establishes and expands accounting and reporting standards for 
minority interests, which will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests, in a subsidiary and the deconsolidation of a 
subsidiary.  SFAS 160 is effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of 
the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  This statement is effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  We are currently assessing the potential impact that the adoption of SFAS 160 
will have on our financial position and results of operations. 
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Risk

We have exposure to fluctuations in market interest rates.  Market interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors 
beyond our control.  Various financial vehicles exist which would allow management to mitigate the potential negative 
effects of interest rate fluctuations on our cash flow and earnings.

Among our liabilities are both fixed and variable rate debt.  As discussed in “Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations – Overview - Interest Rate Environment,” we seek to limit 
our risk to interest rate fluctuations through match financing on our loan assets and loan securities as well as through 
hedging transactions.  In this regard, we entered into the following agreements:  

an interest rate swap with a $40,000,000 notional amount that effectively converted the interest 
rate on that portion of principal of our note payable to KeyBank from a floating rate equal to 
LIBOR plus 1.75% to a fixed rate of 5.80%.  The Trust made a $40,000,000 prepayment on its 
floating rate debt during the second quarter of 2007.  As a result, the Trust settled a portion of its 
existing interest rate swap with a notional amount of $14,000,000 for $366,000 resulting in an 
unrealized gain which will be amortized to income over the remaining life of the swap.  At 
December 31, 2007, the outstanding balance on the mortgage note payable is $28,884,000; and  

an interest rate swap with a balance guaranty on our Repurchase Agreement with respect to our 
first mortgage whole-pool loan certificates which bears interest at LIBOR minus 0.002%, 
effectively fixing our rate at 4.055% on that financing.  The notional amount of the balance 
guaranty swap was $54,021,000 at December 31, 2007 which matured in January. 

The fair value of our fixed rate debt, based on discounted cash flows at the current rate at which similar loans would be 
made to borrowers with similar credit ratings for the remaining term of such debt, was less than its carrying value by 
$1,101,000 at December 31, 2007 and exceeded its carrying value by $1,283,000 at December 31, 2006.

The following table shows what the annual effect a change in the LIBOR rate would have on interest expense based upon 
the unhedged balances in variable rate debt at December 31, 2007 (in thousands):

 Change in LIBOR 
     -3%    -2%   -1%   1%   2%    3% 

       
Change in consolidated interest expense (1) $     (372) $     (248) $    (124) $       124   $       248   $       372   
Pro-rata share of change in interest expense 
    of debt on non-consolidated entities (2)  (9,686) (6,457) (3,228) 3,228 6,457 9,686
Minority partners share          114             76            38         (38)         (76)        (114)
Proforma (increase) decrease in net income $  (9,944) $   (6,629) $ (3,314)  $    3,314 $    6,629 $    9,944

(1) Does not reflect impact of $28,277,000 of floating rate repurchase agreements paid off in January 2008.
(2) Represents our pro-rata share of a change in interest expense in our equity investment – Concord.

We believe that due to our significant investment in a non-consolidated entity (Concord), the presentation of our pro-rata 
share of a change in interest expense from this entity is important to fully understand our exposure to fluctuations in 
interest rates. 

We may utilize various financial instruments to mitigate the potential negative impact of interest rate fluctuations on our 
cash flows and earnings, including hedging strategies, depending on our analysis of the interest rate environment and the 
costs and risks of such strategies.  In addition, we have a pro-rata share through our Concord venture of notes and 
mortgage loans receivable aggregating $453,353,000 as of December 31, 2007, which are based on variable rates and 
partially mitigate our exposure to change in interest rates. 
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Market Value Risk

Our hedge transactions using derivative instruments also involve certain additional risks such as counterparty credit risk, 
the enforceability of hedging contracts and the risk that unanticipated and significant changes in interest rates will cause 
a significant loss of basis in the contract.  The counterparties to our derivative arrangements are major financial 
institutions with high credit ratings with which we and our affiliates may also have other financial relationships.  We do 
not anticipate that any of these counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.  There can be no assurance that we will 
adequately protect against the foregoing risks and will ultimately realize an economic benefit that exceeds the related 
amounts incurred in connection with engaging in such hedging strategies.

Our mortgage-backed securities are reflected at their estimated fair value of $78,141,000 at December 31, 2007 with 
unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income pursuant to 
SFAS No. 115 “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.”  The estimated fair value of these 
securities fluctuates primarily due to changes in interest rates and other factors; however, given that these securities are 
guaranteed as to principal and/or interest by an agency of the U.S. Government, such fluctuations are generally not based 
on the creditworthiness of the mortgages securing these securities.  Generally, in a rising interest rate environment, the 
estimated fair value of these securities would be expected to decrease; conversely, in a decreasing interest rate 
environment, the estimated fair value of these securities would be expected to increase.  

These securities were sold in February 2008 for a gain of $233,000. 

Prepayment Risk 

As we receive prepayments of principal on mortgage-backed securities, premiums paid on such securities are amortized 
against interest income using the effective yield method through the expected maturity dates of the securities.  In general, 
an increase in prepayments will accelerate the amortization of purchase premiums, thereby reducing the interest income 
earned on the securities.  Our unamortized premium at December 31, 2007 was $383,000. 

These securities were sold in February 2008 for a gain of $233,000. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of Winthrop Realty Trust 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations and 

comprehensive income, shareholders' equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

of Winthrop Realty Trust and subsidiaries (the “Trust”) (formerly known as First Union Real Estate Equity and 

Mortgage Investments) at December 31, 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year ended 

December 31, 2007 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  In 

addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material 

respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. 

Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 

as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the 

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  The Company's management is 

responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.  Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial 

statements, financial statement schedule and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our 

integrated audit in 2007.  We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 

Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control 

over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  Our audit of the financial statements included 

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 

presentation.  Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal 

control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk.  Our audit also included performing such other 

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 

our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 

and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 

management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 

financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 

deteriorate.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts 
for uncertain tax positions in 2007.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Boston, Massachusetts

March 17, 2008 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Trustees  
and Shareholders of  
Winthrop Realty Trust  
Boston, Massachusetts  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Winthrop Realty Trust and subsidiaries (the “Trust”) 
(formerly known as First Union Real Estate Equity and Mortgage Investments) as of December 31, 2006, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the 
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.  Our audits also included the 2006 and 2005 information included in the 
financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15.  These financial statements and financial statement schedule 
are the responsibility of the Trust’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements 
and financial statement schedule based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Winthrop Realty Trust and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows 
for each of the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America.  Also, in our opinion the 2006 and 2005 information included in the financial statement 
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic 2006 and 2005 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, 
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.  

/s/DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
Boston, Massachusetts 
March 16, 2007 
(October 2, 2007 as to the restatement as discussed in Note 22)
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION  

REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS)  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

December 31, 

2007 2006

ASSETS

Investments in real estate, at cost   
   Land  $ 21,325       $       19,510 
   Buildings and improvements              244,965          227,891

266,290 247,401 
   Less – accumulated depreciation            (19,214)       (12,932)

   Investments in real estate, net 247,076 234,469 
   Cash and cash equivalents 36,654 89,463 
   Restricted cash held in escrows 5,978 4,447 
   Mortgage-backed securities available for sale pledged under repurchase agreements 78,141 115,810 
   Loans receivable, net of reserve of $1,266 and $0, respectively 12,496 81,415 
   Accounts receivable, net of reserve of $163 and $1, respectively 20,835 12,412 
   Available for sale securities 51,804 95,148 
   Preferred equity investment 74,573 73,127 
   Equity investments 179,475 98,101 
   Lease intangibles, net 31,964 36,402 
   Deferred financing costs, net 5,309 6,354 
   Assets of discontinued operations 1,112 1,159 
   Other assets                       30            3,313

      TOTAL ASSETS       $          745,447 $     851,620

LIABILITIES

   Mortgage loans payable       $          236,925 $     232,768 
   Repurchase agreements                      75,175 111,911 
   Series B-1 Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial 
      Interest, $25 per share liquidating preference, 3,930,657 and 3,990,000 shares 
      authorized and outstanding in 2007 and 2006, respectively                    98,266 99,750
   Loans payable                             - 30,004 
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                    12,046 10,306 
   Dividends payable                     16,242 7,844 
   Below market lease intangibles, net                       5,021 4,572 
   Liabilities of discontinued operations                             -              828

      TOTAL LIABILITIES             443,675       497,983

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

MINORITY INTEREST                9,978         30,051

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

   Common shares of beneficial interest, $1 par, unlimited authorized, 
      66,291,837 and 65,369,734 outstanding in 2007 and 2006, respectively       66,292 65,370
   Additional paid-in capital 358,145 353,719 
   Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (8,090) 5,037 
   Accumulated distributions in excess of net income              (124,553)     (100,540)

      Total Shareholders’ Equity               291,794       323,586

      TOTAL LIABILITIES, MINORITY INTEREST AND 
         SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     $            745,447 $    851,620

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION  

REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND  

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31, 

2007 2006 2005

Revenue    
   Rents and reimbursements      $          40,470 $           38,822 $     25,454 
   Interest and dividends                  10,829              14,035          5,286
    
                 51,299              52,857        30,740
Expenses    

Property operating                  5,851 4,054 1,205 
   Real estate taxes                  2,139 1,879 220 
   Depreciation and amortization                 12,713 11,216 6,994 
   Interest                31,477 31,057 20,902 
   Impairment loss on available for sale securities                18,218 - - 
   Provision for loss on loan receivable                  1,266 - - 
   State and local taxes                     417 234 500 
   General and administrative                   8,341              2,680         5,949
    
                 80,422            51,120       35,770
Other income (loss)    
   Legal settlement                          - - 11,000 
   Assignment of exclusivity agreement – net lease assets                          - 9,500 10,500 
   Earnings from preferred equity investments                11,836 6,849 4,066 
   Equity in earnings of equity investments                   3,647 8,569 304 
   Gain on exchange of equity investment                          - 9,285 - 
   Other income                    700 530 75 
   Gain on sale of available for sale securities                10,187 8,130 243 
   Gain on sale of other assets                   1,997                       -                 - 
   Loss on early extinguishment of debt                    (369)               (646)                 - 
   Interest income                  3,149               1,630         2,111
    
                31,147             43,847       28,299
Income from continuing operations before 

   minority interest               2,024 45,584 23,269 
      Minority interest                     578              2,764            179
    
Income from continuing operations                1,446 42,820 23,090 

   
Discontinued operations    

Income from discontinued operations                1,035                 116             531
   

Net income                 2,481 42,936 23,621 
Preferred dividend                          -                      -       (2,064)

   
Net income applicable to Common Shares of 

   Beneficial Interest     $           2,481 $         42,936 $     21,557

(Continued on next page) 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION  

REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS) 

CONSOLIDATED  STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND  

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(In thousands, except per share data)
(Continued) 

Years Ended December 31, 

2007 2006 2005

Comprehensive income (loss)    
   Net income  $            2,481 $         42,936 $        23,621 
   Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale   
       securities arising during the period             (19,704) 6,115 3,254 
   Change in unrealized gain (loss) on mortgage-backed 
       securities available for sale arising during the period                 1,250 406 (1,393) 
   Change in unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate  
      derivative arising during the period                (1,553) (269) 2,263 
   Change in unrealized loss from equity investments                 (8,390) - - 
   Less reclassification adjustment included in net income                 15,270            (8,130)             (243)
    
Comprehensive income (loss)     $        (10,646) $          41,058 $        27,502
    
Per Common Share Data – Basic:    
Income from continuing operations     $              0.02 $              0.74 $            0.50 
Income from discontinued operations                    0.02                      -               0.02
    
Net income     $              0.04 $              0.74 $            0.52
    
Per Common Share Data – Diluted:    
Income from continuing operations     $              0.02 $              0.71 $            0.50 
Income from discontinued operations                    0.02                      -               0.02
    
Net income     $              0.04 $              0.71 $            0.52
    
Basic Weighted-Average Common Shares               65,823             46,639           32,451

   
Diluted Weighted-Average Common Shares               65,888             69,365            32,499

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive

Shares Shares Income Total

Balance, December 31, 2004 983        $ 23,131      31,059    $ 31,059     $ 207,968      $ (145,050)     $ 3,034       $ 120,142    

Net income -            -               -             -              -                 23,621        -              23,621      

Dividends paid or accrued on Series A

preferred shares ($2.10 per share) -            -               -             -              -                 (2,064)         -              (2,064)      

Dividends accrued on common shares

($.11 per share) -            -               -             -              -                 (3,914)         -              (3,914)      

Change in unrealized gain on available for 

sale securities, net of reclassification

adjustments for amounts included

in net income -            -               -             -              -                 -                  3,011       3,011        

Change in unrealized loss on mortgage backed 

securities held for sale -            -               -             -              -                 -                  (1,393)     (1,393)      

Change in unrealized gain on interest

   rate derivatives -            -               -             -              -                 -                  2,263       2,263        

Issuance of common shares -            -               4,522      4,522       13,418        -                  -              17,940      

Balance, December 31, 2005 983        23,131      35,581    35,581     221,386      (127,407)     6,915       159,606    

Net income -            -               -             -              -                 42,936        -              42,936      

Dividends paid or accrued on common

shares of beneficial interest

($0.30 per share) -            -               -             -              -                 (16,069)       -              (16,069)    

Change in unrealized loss on available for

sale securities, net of reclassification

adjustments for amounts included 

in net income -            -               -             -              -                 -                  (2,015)     (2,015)      

Change in unrealized loss on mortgage

backed securities held for sale -            -               -             -              -                 -                  406          406           

Change in unrealized gain on interest rate 

derivatives -            -               -             -              -                 -                  (269)        (269)         

Redemption of Series A-1 preferred

shares for common shares (983)      (23,131)    4,837      4,837       18,294        -                  -              -               

Conversion of Series B-1 preferred

shares to common shares -            -               56           56            194             -                  -              250           

Issuance of common shares through

rights offering -            -               5,220      5,220       21,902        -                  -              27,122      

Issuance of common shares -            -               19,550    19,550     91,264        -                  -              110,814    

Stock issued pursuant to dividend 

     reinvestment plan -            -               126         126          679             -                  -              805           

Balance, December 31, 2006 -            -               65,370    65,370     353,719      (100,540)     5,037       323,586    

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle -            -               -             -              -                 1,916          -              1,916        

Net income -            -               -             -              -                 2,481          -              2,481        

Dividends paid or accrued on common

shares of beneficial interest

($0.43 per share) -            -               -             -              -                 (28,410)       -              (28,410)    

Change in unrealized loss on available for

sale securities, net of reclassification

adjustments for amounts included 

in net income -            -               -             -              -                 -                  (4,434)     (4,434)      

Change in unrealized gain on mortgage

backed securities held for sale -            -               -             -              -                 -                  1,250       1,250        

Change in unrealized loss on interest rate 

derivatives -            -               -             -              -                 -                  (1,553)     (1,553)      

Change in unrealized loss from 

equity investments -            -               -             -              -                 -                  (8,390)     (8,390)      

Stock issued pursuant to dividend 

     reinvestment plan -            -               592         592          3,329          -                  -              3,921        

Conversion of Series B-1 preferred

shares to common shares -            -               330         330          1,097          -                  -              1,427        

Balance, December 31, 2007 -            $ -               66,292    $ 66,292     $ 358,145      $ (124,553)     $ (8,090)     $ 291,794    

WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

in Excess of

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2006 AND 2005

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net Income 

Series A                  

Preferred Shares of 

Beneficial Interest

Common                  

Shares of Beneficial Interest

Additional

Paid-In

CapitalAmount Amount

Accumulated

Distributions

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION REAL ESTATE 

EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities         
   Net income $ 2,481 $ 42,936  $ 23,621
   Adjustments to reconcile net income         
    to net cash provided by operating activities         
       Depreciation and amortization (including amortization  
           of deferred financing costs)  8,086  7,809   5,598
       Amortization of lease intangibles 7,673  5,595   2,562
       Straight-lining of rental income (1,825)  (1,920)  (1,436)
       Earnings of preferred equity investments less than (in excess of) 
            distributions (12)  35  (490)
       Earnings in excess of distributions of equity investments (1,563)  (170)  (304)
       Restricted cash held in escrows                        (148)  (45) -
       Minority interest 578                         2,764    179
       Gain on assignment of exclusivity agreement -  (9,500)  (10,500)
       Gain on sale of available for sale securities (10,187)  (8,130)  (243)
       Gain on sale of equity investment - (9,285) -
       Winn-Dixie legal settlement income                                - (1,108) -
       Loss on early extinguishment of debt 369  126  -
       Impairment loss 18,218 - -
       Provision for loss on loan receivable 1,266 - -
       Decrease in deferred income - - (68)
       Bad debt (recovery) expense                             71  (22)   99
       Interest receivable on loans 435  54  (806)
       Net changes in other operating assets and liabilities (3,288)  (1,452)   (2,342)

          Net cash provided by operating activities 22,154  27,687   15,870

Cash flows from investing activities         
   Investments in real estate (9,716)  (38,749)  (67,453)
   Purchase of mortgage-backed securities available for sale -  (23,850)   (149,134)
   Proceeds from repayments of mortgage-backed securities  
      available for sale 38,694  34,352   21,463
   Investment in equity investments (98,201) (96,812)  (50,000)
   Investment in preferred equity investments (17,669)  (1,843)  (77,937)
   Return of equity on equity investments 10,000  - -
   Return of capital distribution from available for sale    
       securities 10,047 - -
   Proceeds from preferred equity investments 16,162  7,108 -
   Purchase of available for sale securities (3,172)  (4,986)  (17,965)
   Proceeds from sale of available for sale securities 24,004  29,831   1,654
   (Increase) decrease in restricted cash held in escrows (1,523)  (3,776)  (626)
   Issuance and acquisition of loans receivable (9,224)  (22,554)  (63,888)
   Collection of loans receivable 64,360  8,589   5,580
   Cash relating to foreclosure on property 1,347 - -

          Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 25,109  (112,690)  (398,306)

     
     

(Continued on next page) 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION REAL ESTATE  

EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands)  
(Continued)

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Cash flows from financing activities           
   Borrowings under repurchase agreements  -   23,070   144,161
   Repayment of borrowings under repurchase agreements   (36,736)  (32,875)   (22,445)
   Proceeds from mortgage loans payable  51,693  89,522   22,600
   Principal payments of mortgage loans payable  (47,536)  (32,281)  (8,031)
   Restricted cash held in escrows 140 - -
   Proceeds from loans payable  -  -   30,000
   Payments of loans payable  (30,004)  (21)  (19)
   Proceeds from revolving line of credit  -  77,000   16,000
   Payment of revolving line of credit - (93,000) -
   Deferred financing costs  (887)  (1,813)  (6,594)
   Contribution by minority interests 787 3,246 27,347
   Distribution to minority interests (21,438) (3,486) -
   Issuance of Common Shares  -  110,814   17,940
   Issuance of Common Shares through rights offering - 27,122 -
   Issuance of Common Shares through dividend  
      reinvestment plan  3,921  805   -
   Issuance of Series B-1 Cumulative Convertible Redeemable 
      Preferred Shares  -  -   100,000
   Dividends paid on Series A Preferred Shares  -  (516)  (2,064)
   Dividends paid on Common Shares (20,012) (12,139) -

          Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (100,072)  155,448   318,895

   Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (52,809)  70,445   (63,541)
   Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  89,463  19,018   82,559

   Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 36,654  $ 89,463  $ 19,018

   Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information         
   Interest paid $ 27,056  $ 28,886  $ 19,133

   Taxes paid $ 513  $ 667  $ 162

   Supplemental Disclosure on Non-Cash Investing 

   and Financing Activities         
   Dividends accrued on Common Shares $ 16,242  $ 7,844  $ 3,914
   Dividends accrued on Preferred Shares -  -  516
   Stock received for assignment of exclusivity rights - 
      net lease assets  -  -  (20,000)
   Redemption of Class A-1 Preferred Shares to Common   
      Shares  - 23,131 -
   Conversion of Series B-1 Preferred Shares into 
      Common Shares 1,484 - -
   Capital expenditures accrued 120 - -
   Impact of adoption of FIN 48 1,916 - -
   River City foreclosure:   
      Loan and interest receivable 12,082 - -
      Land (1,149) - -
      Buildings and improvements (9,989) - -
      Lease intangibles (1,944) - -
      Below market lease intangibles 1,290 - -
      Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,057 - -

          Net cash provided by foreclosure of River City $ 1,347 - -

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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1.  Business

Winthrop Realty Trust (formerly known as First Union Real Estate Equity and Mortgage Investments) (the “REIT”) is an 
unincorporated association in the form of a business trust organized in Ohio under a Declaration of Trust dated August 1, 
1961, as amended and restated on December 31, 2005, which has as its stated principal business activity the ownership and 
management of, and lending to, real estate and related investments. 

Effective January 1, 2005, the REIT conducts its business through WRT Realty L.P. (formerly First Union REIT L.P.), a 
Delaware limited partnership (the “Operating Partnership”). The REIT is the sole general partner of, and owns directly and 
indirectly, 100% of the limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership. The transfer of the REIT’s assets and 
liabilities to the Operating Partnership had no effect on the REIT’s financial statements.  All references to the “Trust” refer
to the REIT and its consolidated subsidiaries, including the Operating Partnership.

The Trust is engaged in the business of owning real property and real estate related assets which it categorizes into three 
specific areas:  (i) ownership of operating properties (“Operating Properties”); (ii) origination and acquisition of loans and 
debt securities secured directly or indirectly by commercial real property (“Loan Assets and Loan Securities”), including 
collateral mortgage-backed securities and collateral debt obligation securities; and (iii) equity interests in other REITs 
(“REIT Equity Interests”).   

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements represent the consolidated results of the REIT, its wholly-owned taxable REIT 
subsidiary, WRT-TRS Management Corp. (formerly known as First Union Management, Inc.) (“FUMI”), the Operating 
Partnership, and wholly-owned subsidiaries and certain partially-owned entities in which the Operating Partnership owns 
either (i) a controlling interest or (ii) is the primary beneficiary.  Under a trust agreement, all of the outstanding shares of
stock of FUMI were held for the benefit of the shareholders of the REIT.  Effective July 1, 2005, the REIT consummated a 
business combination with FUMI pursuant to which FUMI became a wholly owned subsidiary of the REIT.  FUMI’s sole 
asset is a 0.2% ownership interest in the Operating Partnership. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates that are particularly susceptible
to change relate to management’s estimate of the impairment of real estate, loans and investments in ventures and whether 
there have been other-than-temporary impairments to the value of the Trust’s real estate securities for sale and mortgage-
backed securities available for sale. In addition, estimates are used when accounting for the allowance for doubtful 
accounts.  All of the estimates and evaluations are susceptible to change and actual results could differ from the estimates 
and evaluations. 

Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances have been reclassified in order to conform to the current year presentation due to the reporting 
of discontinued operations for assets classified as held for sale in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standard No. 144 (“SFAS No. 144”), Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.

Out of Period Adjustment

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Trust determined that there was an error in the amortization period of certain in 

place lease and above market lease assets.  The Trust determined that the intangible assets were not being amortized over 

the appropriate tenant lease term. Amortization was understated by $1,024,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 

$256,000 for each of the quarters ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2007.  The Trust has concluded that this 

adjustment is not material to any prior periods consolidated financial statements.  The Trust has also concluded that the 

cumulative adjustment was not material to the year ended December 31, 2007. As  
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Out of Period Adjustment (Continued)

such, the cumulative effect which totaled $1,792,000 was recorded in the consolidated statement of operations as an out of 

period adjustment in the fourth quarter of 2007.  The effect of this adjustment for the year ended December 31, 2007 

decreased income from continuing operations by approximately $1,024,000.  There was no associated net impact on our 

cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions in determining the values of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated interim financial statements and the amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  The 
estimates that are particularly susceptible to change relate to management’s estimate of the impairment of real estate, loans 
and investments in ventures and whether there have been other-than-temporary impairments to the value of the Trust’s real 
estate securities for sale and mortgage-backed securities available for sale.  In addition, estimates are used when accounting 
for the allowance for doubtful accounts.  All of the estimates and evaluations are susceptible to change and actual results 
could differ from the estimates and evaluations. 

Investments in Real Estate

Real estate assets are stated at historical cost.  Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 
Significant renovations that extend the useful life of the properties are capitalized.  Depreciation for financial reporting 
purposes is computed using the straight-line method.  Buildings are depreciated over their estimated useful lives of 40 
years, based on the property’s age, overall physical condition, type of construction materials and intended use.  
Improvements to the buildings are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the improvement or the 
remaining useful life of the building at the time the improvement is completed.  Tenant improvements are depreciated over 
the shorter of the estimated useful life of the improvement or the life of the lease of the tenant.  The Trust reviews its 
portfolio of properties for any impairment losses if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of 
the real estate may not be recoverable.   

Upon the acquisition of real estate, we assess the fair value of acquired assets (including land, buildings and improvements, 
and identified intangibles such as above and below market leases and acquired in-place leases and customer relationships) 
and acquired liabilities in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141: Business 

Combinations and SFAS No. 142: Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and we allocate purchase price based on these 
assessments.  We assess fair value based on estimated cash flow projections and utilize appropriate discount and 
capitalization rates and available market information.  Estimates of future cash flows are based on a number of factors 
including the historical operating results, known trends, and market/economic conditions that may affect the property.   

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long-lived assets, such as real estate investments and purchased intangibles subject to 
amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of an asset group may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the 
carrying amount of an asset to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset.  If the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.  Assets to be disposed of are separately presented 
in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer 
depreciated.  The assets and liabilities are classified separately as discontinued operations in the consolidated balance sheet.   

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments purchased with maturities of three months or less.  The 
Trust maintains cash and cash equivalents in financial institutions in excess of insured limits, but believes this risk is 
mitigated by only investing in or through major financial institutions.  Previously, the Trust reported interest income earned 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued)

in cash and cash equivalents as revenue.  Commencing in 2007, the Trust determined that it should classify interest income 
earned on cash and cash equivalents as other income.  Although the Trust believes this interest income was not material to 
prior periods, the Trust has elected to revise the prior period classification for consistency purposes. 

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash in escrow accounts and deposits securing a loan payable include cash reserves for tenant improvements, 
leasing commissions, real estate taxes and other expenses pursuant to the loan agreements. 

Mortgage-Backed Securities

All of the Trust’s mortgage-backed securities are designated as available-for-sale and are carried at their estimated fair 
value with unrealized gains and temporary losses excluded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income or 
loss, a component of shareholders’ equity.  Charges for other than temporary impairments are included in net income. 

The Trust’s mortgage-backed securities consist of a portfolio of whole pool adjustable rate mortgage-backed securities 
issued by Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”).  All of the Trust’s mortgage-backed securities are 
pledged as collateral under the Trust’s repurchase agreements. 

Interest income is accrued based on the outstanding principal balance of the investment securities and their contractual 
terms. Premiums and discounts associated with the purchase of investment securities are amortized and recorded in interest 
income over the life of such securities using the effective yield method, adjusted for actual prepayment activity.  Sales of 
securities are recorded on the trade date and gains or losses are determined on the specific identification method. 

When the fair value of a security is less than the cost, the Trust considers whether there is an other-than-temporary 
impairment in the value of the security.  If, in its judgment, an other-than-temporary impairment exists, the cost basis of the
security is written down to the then-current fair value, and this loss is realized and charged against earnings.  The 
determination of other-than-temporary impairment is a subjective process, and different judgments and assumptions could 
affect the timing of loss realization. 

Loans Receivable

The Trust’s policy is to record loans receivable at cost, net of unamortized loan origination fees unless such loan is deemed 
to be impaired.  The Trust evaluates the collectibility of both interest and principal of each of its loans, if circumstances 
warrant, to determine whether it is impaired.  In accordance with SFAS No. 114, “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment 
of a Loan,” a loan is considered to be impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Trust 
will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the existing contractual terms of the loan.  Impairment is then 
measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows or if the loan is collateral dependent, the fair value of 
the collateral.  When a loan is considered to be impaired, the Trust will establish a reserve for loan losses and record a 
corresponding charge to earnings.  Significant judgments are required in determining impairment.  The Trust does not 
record interest income on impaired loans.  Any cash receipts on impaired loans are recorded as a recovery reducing the 
reserve for loan losses.  As of December 31, 2007, the Trust recorded a $1,266,000 provision for loss on loan receivable 
related to one of its loans.  The Trust also considers the need for loan loss allowance pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 
No. 5 “Accounting for Contingencies.” 

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is 
the Trust’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the Trust’s existing accounts receivable.  The Trust 
reviews its allowance for doubtful accounts monthly.  Past due balances over 90 days and over a specified amount are 
reviewed individually for collectibility.  Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of  
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Accounts Receivable (Continued)

collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote.  The Trust does not have any off-
balance sheet credit exposure related to its tenants.

Available for Sale Securities

The Trust classifies investments in securities with readily determinable fair values on the balance sheet as available for sale
because these securities are held principally for investment purposes and not for sale in the short term.  Accordingly, the 
Trust records these investments at fair value and unrealized gains and losses are recognized through shareholders’ equity, 
as a component of other comprehensive income (loss).  Realized gains and losses and charges for other than temporary 
impairments are included in net income.  Sales of securities are recorded on the trade date and gains or losses are 
determined on the specific identification method. 

On a periodic basis, the Trust assesses whether there are any indicators that the value of the available for sale securities 
may be impaired.  An available for sale security is impaired only if the Trust’s estimate of fair value of the security is less
than the carrying value of the security and such difference is deemed to be other-than-temporary.  To the extent impairment 
has occurred, the loss shall be measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the security over the estimated fair value 
of the security. 

Preferred Equity Investment

The Trust invests in mezzanine loans in which the Trust also holds an ownership interest in the borrower that allows the 
Trust to participate in a percentage of the proceeds from a sale or refinancing of the underlying property.  At the inception 
of each such investment, management must determine whether such investment should be accounted for as a loan, 
preferred equity, venture or as real estate.  The Trust classifies all of its current portfolio of mezzanine loans as preferred
equity investments and they are accounted for using the equity method because the Trust has the ability to significantly 
influence, but not control, the entity’s operating and financial policies.  Earnings for each investment are recognized in 
accordance with each respective investment agreement and where applicable, based upon an allocation of the investment’s 
net assets at adjusted book value as if the investment was hypothetically liquidated at the end of each reporting period.  

Equity Investments

The Trust accounts for its investments in companies in which it has the ability to significantly influence but does not have a 
controlling interest, by using the equity method of accounting.  Factors that are considered in determining whether or not 
the Trust exercises control include (i) the right to remove the general partner in situations where the Trust is the general 
partner, and (ii) substantive participating rights of partners in significant business decisions including: dispositions and 
acquisitions of assets, financing, operations and capital budgets and other contractual rights.  Under the equity method, the 
investment, originally recorded at cost, is adjusted to recognize the Trust’s share of net earnings or losses as they occur and
for additional contributions made or distributions received.  Equity investments are evaluated for other-than-temporary 
impairment if the fair value of the Trust’s investment declines below its carrying amount. 

On a periodic basis, the Trust assesses whether there are any indicators that the value of the equity investments may be 
impaired.  An investment’s value is impaired only if the Trust’s estimate of the fair value of the investment is less than the 
carrying value of the investment and such difference is deemed to be other-than-temporary.  To the extent impairment has 
occurred, the loss shall be measured as the excess of the carrying amount of the investment over the estimated fair value of 
the investment. 

Lease Intangibles

The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as if it were vacant, and 
the "as-if-vacant" value is then allocated to land, building and improvements and fixtures and equipment based on 
management's determination of the relative fair values of these assets.  Factors considered by management in performing 
these analyses include an estimate of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods, current market conditions and  



WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION 

REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

73

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Lease Intangibles (Continued)

costs to execute similar leases.  In estimating carrying costs, management includes real estate taxes, insurance and other 
operating expenses and estimates of lost rental revenue during the expected lease-up periods based on current market 
demand.  Management also estimates costs to execute similar leases including leasing commissions. 

In allocating the fair value of the identified intangible assets and liabilities of an acquired property, above-market and 
below-market in-place lease values are recorded based on the difference between the current in-place lease rent and a 
management estimate of current market rents.  Below-market lease intangibles are recorded as part of deferred revenue and 
amortized into rental revenue over the non-cancelable periods of the respective leases.  Above-market leases are recorded 
as part of intangible assets and amortized as a direct charge against rental revenue over the non-cancelable portion of the 
respective leases. 

Deferred Financing Costs

Direct financing costs are deferred and amortized over the terms of the related agreements as a component of interest 
expense.

Variable Interest Entities

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46 (Revised) – Consolidation of Variable Interest 

Entities (“FIN 46R”) requires a variable interest entity (“VIE”) to be consolidated by its primary beneficiary.  The primary 
beneficiary is the party that incurs a majority of the VIE’s anticipated losses and/or a majority of the expected returns. 

The Trust has evaluated its loans and investments to determine whether they are variable interests in a VIE.  This 
evaluation resulted in the Trust determining that certain of its loans, preferred equity investments and other investments 
were potentially variable interests in VIEs.  For each of these investments, the Trust has evaluated (1) the sufficiency of the
applicable entity’s equity investments at risk to absorb expected losses, (2) whether as a group the holders of the equity 
investments at risk have (a) the direct or indirect ability through voting rights to make decisions about the entity’s 
significant activities, (b) the obligation to absorb the expected losses of the entity and whether their obligations are 
protected directly or indirectly, and (c) the right to receive the expected residual return of the entity without a cap on the 
return, (3) whether the voting rights of these investors are not proportional to their obligations to absorb the expected losses
of the entity, their rights to receive the expected returns of the equity or both, and (4) whether substantially all of the 
entity’s activities involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor that has disproportionately few voting rights.  As of 
December 31, 2007, the Trust has identified each of (i) the loan acquired by WRT Marc RC LLC (the “River City Loan”) 
(see Note 5), (ii) its interest in WRT-Vision Holding LLC (“WRT-Vision Holding”), (iii) its joint venture with Sealy & 
Company, Inc. (“Sealy”) in Nashville, Tennessee and (iv) four convertible mezzanine loans related to its preferred equity 
investment in the Marc Realty portfolio to be variable interests in a VIE.   

The Trust has determined that (i) it is not the primary beneficiary of the underlying borrowing entity of the River City Loan 
and accounts for this investment as a loan receivable, (ii) it is the primary beneficiary of WRT-Vision Holding and 
consolidates this investment, (iii) it is not the primary beneficiary in the Sealy Joint Venture and utilizes equity accounting
for this investment, and (iv) it is not the primary beneficiary of the underlying borrowing entity of the four mezzanine loans 
and accounts for this investment as a preferred equity investment. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments held by the Trust include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, mortgage-backed securities 
available for sale, real estate securities available for sale, loans receivable, interest rate swap agreements, accounts 
receivable, revolving line of credit, accounts payable, long term debt and repurchase agreements.  The fair value of the 
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, mortgage-backed securities available for sale, real estate securities available for
sale, interest rate swap agreements, accounts receivable, accounts payable and repurchase agreements approximate their  



WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION 

REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

74

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued)

current carrying amounts.  The fair value of the Trust’s mortgage loans payable, loans payable and revolving line of credit 
are less than their current carrying amounts by $1,101,000 at December 31, 2007 and exceeds their current carrying 
amounts by $1,283,000 at December 31, 2006. 

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Trust accounts for its interest rate swap agreements in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative 

Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended and interpreted. In accordance with SFAS No. 133, all interest rate swap 
agreements are carried on the balance sheet at their fair value, as an asset if their fair value is positive, or as a liability if 
their fair value is negative.  Since the Trust’s derivatives are designated as “cash flow hedges,” the change in the fair value
of any such derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income or loss for hedges that qualify as effective and the 
change in the fair value is transferred from other comprehensive income or loss to earnings as the hedged liability affects 
earnings.  The ineffective amount of all interest rate swap agreements, if any, is recognized in earnings.  To date, the Trust 
has not recognized any change in the value of its interest rate swap agreements in earnings as a result of the hedge or a 
portion thereof being ineffective.  Accordingly, changes in value are recorded through other comprehensive income.  The 
fair value of the Trust’s interest rate swaps are approximately $(173,000) and $1,669,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively.  At December 31, 2007 approximately $30,000 is included in other assets and $203,000 is included in 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  At December 31, 2006 the swap value is included in other assets.  Such fair value 
estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that would be recognized upon disposition of the Trust’s derivative 
financial instruments.  During the next twelve months, the Trust expects to reclassify as additional interest expense 
approximately $29,000 from other comprehensive income. 

Upon entering into hedging transactions, the Trust documents the relationship between the interest rate swap agreements 
and the hedged liability.  The Trust also documents its risk management policies, including objectives and strategies, as 
they relate to its hedging activities.  The Trust assesses, both at inception of a hedge and on an on-going basis, whether or 
not the hedge is highly “effective,” as defined by SFAS No. 133.  The Trust discontinues hedge accounting on a 
prospective basis with changes in the estimated fair value reflected in earnings when: (i) it is determined that the derivative
is no longer effective in offsetting cash flows of a hedged item (including forecasted transactions); (ii) it is no longer 
probable that the forecasted transaction will occur; or (iii) it is determined that designating the derivative as a hedge or not
is no longer appropriate.  To date, the Trust has not discontinued hedge accounting for any of its interest rate swap 
agreements.  The Trust utilizes interest rate swap agreements to manage interest rate risk and does not intend to enter into 
derivative transactions for speculative or trading purposes. 

Repurchase Agreements

The Trust finances the acquisitions of its mortgage-backed securities through the use of repurchase agreements. Although 
structured as a sale and repurchase obligation, a repurchase agreement operates as a financing under which the Trust 
pledges its securities as collateral to secure a loan which is equal in value to a specified percentage of the estimated fair 
value of the pledged collateral, while the Trust retains beneficial ownership of the pledged collateral.  At the maturity of a 
repurchase agreement, the Trust is required to repay the loan and concurrently receives back its pledged collateral from the 
lender or, with the consent of the lender, the Trust may renew such agreement at the then prevailing financing rate.  Margin 
calls, whereby the lender requires the Trust to pledge additional collateral to secure borrowings under its repurchase 
agreement with the lender, may be experienced by the Trust as the current face value of its mortgage-backed securities 
declines due to scheduled monthly amortization and prepayments of principal on such mortgage-backed securities. In 
addition, margin calls may also occur when the fair value of the mortgage-backed securities pledged as collateral declines 
due to increases in market interest rates or other market conditions. 

The original term to maturity of the Trust’s repurchase agreements is one month.  Should the counterparty decide not to 
renew a repurchase agreement at maturity, the Trust must either refinance it elsewhere or satisfy the obligation, which 
might require the Trust to liquidate a portion or all of its investment in mortgage-backed securities. 
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Stock Options

There were no stock option grants during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and all previously issued options 
are fully vested.

Revenue Recognition

The Trust accounts for its leases with tenants as operating leases with rental revenue recognized on a straight-line basis 
from the later of the date of the commencement of the lease or the date of acquisition of the property subject to existing 
leases, which averages minimum rents over the terms of the leases.  The cumulative difference between lease revenue 
recognized under this method and contractual lease payment terms is recorded as “accrued rent receivable” on the 
accompanying balance sheets.  The straight line amounts at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $5,961,000 and $4,136,000, 
respectively.  The straight-line rent adjustment increased revenue by approximately $1,825,000 in 2007, $1,920,000 in 
2006 and $1,436,000 in 2005.  Accordingly, deferred rental income is recorded from tenants for the amount that is 
expected to be collected over the lease term rather than currently.  When a property is acquired, the term of existing leases 
is considered to commence as of the acquisition date. 

Pursuant to the terms of the lease agreements with respect to net lease properties, the tenant at each property is required to 
pay all costs associated with the property including property taxes, ground rent, maintenance costs and insurance.  These 
costs are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  

Tenant leases that are not net leases generally provide for (i) billings of fixed minimum rental and (ii) billings of certain 
operating costs. The Trust accrues the recovery of operating costs based on actual costs incurred. These amounts are 
included in accounts receivable at December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

Income Taxes

The Trust operates in a manner intended to enable it to continue to qualify as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under 
Sections 856-860 of the Internal Revenue Code.  In order to qualify as a REIT, the Trust is generally required each year to 
distribute to its shareholders at least 90% of its taxable income (excluding any net capital gains).  There is also a separate 
requirement to distribute net capital gains or pay a corporate level tax.  The Trust intends to comply with the foregoing 
minimum distribution requirements. 

Effective July 1, 2005, the Trust consummated a business combination with FUMI pursuant to which FUMI became a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Trust.  In connection with the business combination, FUMI elected to be treated for 
Federal income tax purposes as a taxable REIT subsidiary.  In order for the Trust to continue to qualify as a REIT, the 
value of the FUMI stock cannot exceed 20% of the value of the Trust’s total assets.  At December 31, 2007, FUMI did not 
exceed 20% of the value of the Trust’s total assets.  The net income of FUMI is taxable at regular corporate tax rates.  
Current income taxes are recognized during the period in which transactions enter into the determination of financial 
statement income, with deferred income taxes being provided for temporary differences between the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and such values as determined by income tax laws.  Changes in 
deferred income taxes attributable to these temporary differences are included in the determination of income.  The Trust 
and FUMI do not file consolidated tax returns. 

Earnings Per Share

The Trust has calculated earnings per share in accordance with SFAS No.128, Earnings Per Share and EITF 03-06, 
“Participating Securities and the Two Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128 Earnings Per Share.”  SFAS No.128 
requires that common share equivalents be excluded from the weighted-average shares outstanding for the calculation of 
basic earnings per share.  EITF 03-06 requires that computation of earnings per share reflect the impact of participating 
securities.  The holders of the Series B-1 Preferred Shares are entitled to receive cumulative preferential dividends equal to 
the greater of (i) 6.5% of the liquidation preference or (ii) cash dividends paid on the common shares.  The reconciliation 
of shares outstanding for the basic and diluted earnings per share calculation is as follows (in thousands, except per-share 
data): 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Earnings Per Share (Continued)

    2007   2006   2005 

Basic           
Income from continuing operations  $ 1,446  $ 42,820   $ 23,090 
Preferred dividend   -    -   (2,064) 

            
Income from continuing operations, net of preferred dividend   1,446     42,820   21,026 
Income from discontinued operations   1,035     116    531 
Allocation of undistributed earnings to Series B-1 Preferred Shares   -   (8,655)   (4,837) 

Net income applicable to Common Shares for earnings per share  
     purposes $ 2,481 

   
$ 34,281 

   
$ 16,720 

            
Basic weighted-average Common Shares   65,823     46,639    32,451 

          
Income from continuing operations, net of preferred dividend  $ 0.02   $ 0.74  $ 0.50 
Income from discontinued operations   0.02     -    0.02 

Net income per Common Share  $ 0.04   $ 0.74   $ 0.52 

            
Diluted          
Income from continuing operations  $ 1,446   $ 42,820   $ 23,090 
Preferred dividend of Series A Preferred Shares   -   -   (2,064) 
Preferred dividend of Series B-1 Preferred Shares   -     6,635   - 

            
Income from continuing operations, net of preferred  dividend   1,446     49,455   21,026 
Allocation of undistributed earnings to Series B-1 Preferred Shares   -   -   (4,837) 
Income from discontinued operations   1,035     116    531 

Net income applicable to Common Shares for earnings per share  
     purposes $ 2,481 

   
$ 49,571 

   
$ 16,720 

           
Basic weighted-average Common Shares   65,823     46,639    32,451 
Convertible Preferred Shares   -     22,663    - 
Stock Options   65     63    48 

Diluted weighted-average Common Shares   65,888     69,365    32,499 

            
Income from continuing operations, net of preferred dividend  $ 0.02   $ 0.71  $ 0.50 
Income from discontinued operations   0.02     -    0.02 

Net income per Common Share  $ 0.04   $ 0.71   $ 0.52 

The Trust’s Series A Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest (“Series A Shares”) and 
Series B-1 Cumulative Convertible Redeemable Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest (“Series B-1 Preferred Shares”) are 
antidilutive for the year ended December 31, 2005 and, accordingly, are not included in the weighted average shares 
outstanding for the diluted earnings per share.  The Series A Preferred Shares, which were redeemed for the Trust’s 
common shares of beneficial interest (“Common Shares”) on February 7, 2006, and Series B-1 Preferred Shares were 
dilutive for the year ended December 31, 2006.  The Series B-1 Preferred Shares are anti-dilutive for the year ended 
December 31, 2007 and are not included in the weighted average shares outstanding for the diluted earnings per share. 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No.159, The Fair Value Option Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.  This 
Statement provides a “Fair Value Option” under which a company may irrevocably elect fair value as the measurement 
attribute for certain financial assets and liabilities.  This Fair Value Option will be available on an instrument by instrument
basis with changes in fair value recognized in earnings as those changes occur.  The effective date of this Statement is the  
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2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Recently Issued Accounting Standards (Continued)

beginning of the first fiscal year end that begins after November 15, 2007.  The Trust believes that the adoption of SFAS 
No. 159 will not have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements. 
      
In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”).  SFAS No. 157 
provides guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities.  This statement clarifies the principle that fair value
should be based on the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability.  SFAS No. 157 
establishes a fair value hierarchy, giving the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to 
unobservable data.  SFAS No. 157 applies whenever other standards require assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value.  
SFAS No. 157 also provides for certain disclosure requirements, including, but not limited to, the valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value and a discussion of changes in valuation techniques, if any, during the period.  This statement is 
effective in fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, except for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that 
are not recognized or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis, for which the effective date is fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2008.  The Trust is currently evaluating the impact and believes that the adoption of this standard will not 
have a material effect on its financial position and results of operations.   

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of 

FASB Statement No. 109. This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an 
enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. This 
Interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and 
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. This Interpretation also provides guidance on 
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. This 
Interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006.  The Trust adopted this standard effective 
January 1, 2007 and it resulted in a $1,916,000 increase to shareholders’ equity which has been classified as a cumulative 
effect of a change in accounting principle.  Such adjustment resulted from management’s assessment that a liability 
previously established for an uncertain tax position pursuant to FAS 5 “Accounting for Contingencies” was no longer 
required.  In accordance with the provision of FIN 48, the Trust deemed it more likely than not that the relevant tax 
position would be sustained.  As of December 31, 2007, the Trust has no liability established for uncertain tax positions. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141(R)”), which 
establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer shall recognize and measure in its financial statements the 
identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and goodwill acquired in a 
business combination.  This statement is effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after 
the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  the Trust is currently assessing 
the potential impact that the adoption of SFAS 141(R) will have on its financial position and results of operations. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements – 

an Amendment of ARB No. 51” (“SFAS 160”), which establishes and expands accounting and reporting standards for 
minority interests, which will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests, in a subsidiary and the deconsolidation of a 
subsidiary.  SFAS 160 is effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of 
the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  This statement is effective for fiscal years 
beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  The Trust is currently assessing the potential impact that the adoption of SFAS 
160 will have on its financial position and results of operations. 

3. Real Estate Investments

At December 31, 2007, real estate assets were comprised of 20 net lease retail, office and industrial properties, five multi-
tenanted office properties, one residential property, and one multi-tenant warehouse property.   
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3.  Real Estate Investments (Continued)

Acquisitions 

Corporetum Properties 

On February 16, 2006, the Trust acquired from an unaffiliated third party three office buildings located at 550-650, 701 and 
1050 Warrenville Road, Lisle, Illinois, a Chicago suburb.  The gross purchase price for the 550-650 and 701 properties (the 
"Wholly-Owned Properties") was $31,750,000 and the purchase price for the 1050 property was $3,500,000, which was 
acquired in a venture owned 60% by the Trust and 40% by the principals of Marc Realty, who are not affiliates of the Trust.  
The Wholly-Owned Properties, which contain approximately 236,000 square feet, are 97% occupied and the 1050 property, 
which contains approximately 54,000 square feet of office space was 100% leased in January 2007 pursuant to a lease 
commencing in May 2007 and expiring in April 2018. 

Creekwood Property 

On March 29, 2007, the Trust acquired in a venture with an affiliate of Vision Property Services, LLC (“Vision”) a multi-
family apartment complex containing 230 units located in Kansas City, Kansas (“Creekwood Apartments”) for a gross 
purchase price of $6,793,000. 

River City

On March 29, 2006, the Trust through a consolidated venture, in which the Trust holds a 60% interest and an entity owned 
by the principals of Marc Realty owns the remaining 40% interest, acquired a loan with a principal balance of $11,750,000 
which is secured by a first leasehold mortgage on approximately 241,000 square feet of commercial space and an indoor 
parking garage with 133 spaces located at 800 South Wells, Chicago, Illinois and commonly referred to as River City (the 
“Commercial Loan”).  The Commercial Loan was in default at the time of acquisition.  In connection with the acquisition 
and modification of the Commercial Loan, the venture that held the Commercial Loan (the “Commercial Loan JV”) 
entered into an option agreement with an unaffiliated third party pursuant to which the third party had an option to acquire 
the indoor parking structure should the Commercial Loan JV acquire title to the commercial space and the indoor parking 
secured by the Commercial Loan.  As consideration for entering into the option agreement, Commercial Loan JV received 
a deed for the land underlying the River City property. 

On October 2, 2007, the venture’s foreclosure on the Commercial Loan was confirmed and finalized and the Commercial 
Loan JV acquired title to the property.  Effective October 2, 2007, the Trust now accounts for this as a real estate 
investment on its Balance Sheet and records property operations in its Statement of Operations.  Additionally, the 
unaffiliated third party did not exercise its option to acquire the indoor parking structure. 

Future Minimum Lease Payments 

Future minimum lease payments scheduled to be received under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows (amounts 
in thousands): 

Tenant Concentration 

Three tenants contributed approximately 41% of the base rental revenues of the Trust for the year ended December 31, 
2007.  Three tenants accounted for approximately 44% of the base rental revenues of the Trust in 2006.  Five tenants 
accounted for approximately 82% of the base rental revenues of the Trust in 2005. 

2008 $       34,697
2009         33,374
2010         29,823
2011         21,371
2012         20,317
Thereafter       116,910
 $    256,492
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4.  Mortgage-Backed Securities Pledged Under Repurchase Agreements 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, all of the Trust’s mortgage-backed securities, consisting of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac 
whole pool certificates, were classified as available-for-sale and, as such, were carried at their estimated fair value based on
prices obtained from a third party. 

The following table presents the amortized cost and fair value of the Trust’s whole pool agency mortgage-backed securities 
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands): 

    December 31, 2007    December 31, 2006

   
Cost     $                    77,101         $             115,725 
Unrealized gain                   382                    - 
Unrealized loss                 (118)              (986) 
Interest payment receivable                  394                463 
Unamortized premium                               382                                 608

Carrying value/estimated fair value     $                    78,141       $             115,810

The unrealized losses at December 31, 2006 were the result of changes in interest rates and principal prepayments 
subsequent to the acquisition of the securities.  The impact of the principal prepayments is to accelerate the amortization of 
the premium.  All the securities are performing according to their terms.  Although not rated, whole pool agency mortgage-
backed securities carry an implied AAA rating and are guaranteed as to principal and interest by Fannie Mae.  Accordingly, 
although there was a period of continuous unrealized loss position for more than twelve months, the Trust determined that 
these impairments were temporary and in 2007 the value recovered to an unrealized gain position.  See subsequent event 
(Note 23) related to the sale of these securities. 

The mortgage-backed securities bear interest at a weighted average interest rate of 4.983% and 4.684% based on balances 
outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.  At December 31, 2007, the mortgage-backed securities had a 
weighted average life of 30.28 years. 

5.  Loans Receivable 

The following table summarizes the Trust’s loans receivable at December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands):

               Carrying Amount 
              December 31,

Property Location      Interest Rate       Maturity         2007         2006
      
Toy Building (1) New York, NY LIBOR plus 5.6% 

         (9.72%)      
    April 2008    $              -   $     59,816 

    
River City – Commercial (2) Chicago, IL           9.75%  February 2006                    -          12,082 
    
River City – Land (3) Chicago, IL              10% December 2007                    -            4,117 
    
Marc Realty - Various (4) (5) Chicago, IL              8.5%           (4)           12,496            4,148 
    
Vision Term Loan (6) Partnership  

Interests 
              
              15% December 2011                    -            1,252

    
TOTAL      $      12,496   $     81,415

The carrying amount includes accrued interest of $52 and $834 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.   



WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION 

REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

80

5.  Loans Receivable (Continued) 

(1) This loan was satisfied in May 2007. 
(2) This loan was foreclosed, and the foreclosure was confirmed and finalized in October 2007.  The balance is now 

included with the Trust’s operating property in compliance with FAS 141. 
(3) This loan was satisfied in October 2007. 
(4) Tenant improvement and capital expenditure loans with respect to certain of the properties in the Marc Realty 

portfolio which mature from July 2012 to November 2013. 
(5) Collateralized by a subordinate mortgage or the ownership interests in the property owner. 
(6) Due to the uncertainty as to the collectibility of the Vision Term Loan, the Trust has recorded a provision for loan 

loss of $1,266,000, representing the total loan receivable balance including accrued interest of $16,000 at 
December 31, 2007.

Activity related to mortgage loans is as follows (in thousands): 

               2007                 2006
    
Balance at January 1    $       81,415      $        67,504 
Purchases and advances made               9,224                22,554 
Interest (received) accrued, net                (435)                     (54) 
Repayments            (64,360)                (8,589) 
Allowance for loan loss              (1,266)                         - 
Foreclosure            (12,082)                         -
    
Balance at December 31    $        12,496      $        81,415

6.  Available for Sale Securities

Available for sale securities as of December 31, 2007 are as follows (in thousands): 

Name Date Acquired
Cost at  

December 31, 2007

Unrealized Gain 
(Loss) at  

December 31, 2007
Balance at 

December 31, 2007
     
Lexington Realty Trust (1) 12/31/06    $         50,820 $                     -     $            50,820 
     
Other real estate securities Various                 1,063                  (79)                        984
     
      $         51,883       $                 (79)     $            51,804

(1) See Note 8 for description of the Lexington transaction. 

During 2007, the Trust determined that certain securities had sustained other-than-temporary impairments and, as a result, 
the Trust recognized a realized loss on available for sale securities of $18,218,000.  This loss was primarily due to the 
Trust’s investment in Lexington.  The Trust’s decision with respect to the Lexington shares was made due to the Trust’s 
determination that, although the Trust has no present intention to sell the shares, the decline in market value has been 
below the Trust’s carrying value for over twelve months and the Trust cannot assume that the value of the Lexington 
shares will, in the near term, increase to the Trust’s carrying value. 
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6.  Available for Sale Securities (Continued)

Available for sale securities as of December 31, 2006 are as follows (in thousands):

Name Date Purchased
Cost at  

December 31, 2006
Unrealized Gain (Loss) at  

December 31, 2006
Balance at 

December 31, 2006
     
America First Apartment 
Investors, Inc. Various $  9,951 $  4,453 $  14,404 
     
Lexington Realty Trust (1) 12/31/06 78,470 - 78,470 
     
Other real estate securities 12/6/06 1,264 (29) 1,235 
     
Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. 12/21/06      1,108       (69)      1,039
     
  $ 90,793 $ 4,355 $ 95,148
     

(1) See Note 8 for description of the Lexington transaction. 

7.  Preferred Equity Investment

At December 31, 2007, the Trust’s Marc Realty portfolio consisted of one first mortgage bridge loan, two participating 
second mortgage loans and 19 convertible mezzanine loans, together with an equity investment in each mezzanine 
borrower, in the aggregate amount of approximately $73,255,000.  Each loan is collateralized by the applicable borrower's 
ownership interest in a limited liability company (each a "Property Owner") that in turn owns an office building or 
complex primarily in the Chicago business district or suburban area.  Each borrower holds a 100% interest in the 
applicable Property Owner other than with respect to one property, in which the borrower holds a 75% interest in the 
Property Owner. Each loan, other than the first mortgage bridge loan, bears interest at 7.65%, matures on April 18, 2012 
and requires monthly payments of interest only.  The first mortgage bridge loan, in the amount of $17,669,000, bears 
interest at 7.32%, requires monthly payments of interest only and matures on June 20, 2008.  The Trust recognized 
earnings from preferred equity investments of approximately $5,481,000, $5,865,000 and $4,066,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

The second mortgage and mezzanine loan agreements contain conversion rights.  The Trust has the right to cause each loan 
to be converted into an ownership interest.  Marc Realty will have the right to convert the Trust’s loan into an ownership 
interest commencing February 2008. 

In connection with the equity interest acquired in each of the borrowers,  the Trust is entitled to participate in capital 
proceeds derived from the sale or refinancing of the applicable property to the extent such proceeds generate amounts in 
excess of that required to fully satisfy all of the debt encumbering that property, including the respective loan, and a return
to the borrower of its deemed equity (the agreed value of the applicable property at inception of the loans less all debt 
encumbering that property including the loan made by the Trust) plus a 7.65% return thereon. 

During 2007, two of the properties underlying the mezzanine loans were sold.  Upon the sale of these two properties, 
exclusive of interest, the Trust received an aggregate of $17,866,000 on its original investment of $11,333,000. 

During 2006, four of the properties underlying the mezzanine loans were sold.  Upon the sale of these four properties, 
exclusive of interest, the Trust received an aggregate of $7,716,000 on its original investment of $6,635,000. 

There were no property sales during 2005. 

In addition, in connection with the original Marc Realty transaction both the Trust and Marc Realty committed to each 
provide up to $7,350,000 in additional financing (“TI/Capex Loans”) to cover the costs of tenant improvements and capital 
expenditures at the properties underlying the Marc Realty portfolio.  During 2007, TI/Capex Loans in excess of the 
$7,350,000 commitment were required.  Accordingly, although neither the Trust nor Marc Realty has committed to provide  
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7.  Preferred Equity Investment (Continued) 

additional TI/Capex Loans, at December 31, 2007 both the Trust and Marc Realty had each advanced approximately 
$12,444,000 in TI/Capex Loans.  The TI/Capex Loans bear interest of 8.50% per annum, mature in 2012 and are secured 
by a subordinate loan on the applicable property.  

Summary financial information for the Property Owner entities on a combined basis is as follows (in thousands): 

   December 31, 2007  December 31, 2006 

Condensed Balance Sheets       
   Investment in real estate, net   $ 168,755  $ 147,919 
   Prepaid expenses and deposits in escrow    8,446    5,895 
   Cash and cash equivalents    3,290    1,861 
   Receivables and other assets    32,469    27,170 

    Total Assets   $ 212,960  $ 182,845 

       
   Nonrecourse mortgage debt   $ 278,868  $ 259,547 
   Other liabilities    28,159                   23,595 

   Total liabilities    307,027    283,142 
          
Partners' Deficit    (94,067)    (100,297) 

       
    Total Liabilities and Partners’ Deficit   $ 212,960  $ 182,845 

       
On the Trust's Consolidated Balance Sheets:       
   Preferred Equity Investment (1)   $ 74,573  $ 73,127 

(1) Includes capitalized acquisition costs of $812 and $1,169 at December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

Year Ended  
December 31, 

2007

Year Ended  
December 31, 

2006

 For the Period 
April 19, 2005 

(Date of Inception) to 
December 31, 2005

      
Condensed Statements of Operations       
   Revenues  $         65,959          $         68,496           $              48,610 
   Operating expense  (28,003)  (33,382)  (21,311) 
   Interest expense  (19,608)  (18,984)  (12,300) 
   Real estate taxes  (11,265)  (11,640)  (7,503) 
   Depreciation and amortization  (14,529)  (14,209)  (10,618) 
   Other expenses, net  (2,839)  (3,000)  (2,075) 
   Gain on sale of properties              37,823              23,939                 -
          
   Net income(loss)  $          27,538  $          11,220  $          (5,197)
       
On the Trust’s  Consolidated Statements of   
   Operations and Comprehensive Income:  
   Equity in earnings of Preferred Equity  
     Investment $          11,836 $          6,849 $             4,066
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8.  Equity Investments 

The Trust’s equity investments at December 31, 2006 and 2007 are summarized as follows (in thousands): 

Concord Debt 
Holdings LLC

Newkirk 
Realty Trust

Sealy
Northwest 
Atlanta, LP

Sealy Airpark 
Nashville, L.P.

Lex-Win
Acquisition LLC Total

      
Equity investments,  
    December 31, 2005    $                    -  $       70,304 

       
  $               -     $                  -  $                   - $    70,304 

Investments              91,342                  -             5,470                       -                   -       96,812 
Distributions/return  
    of capital                        -           (8,399)                   -                      -                  -       (8,399)
Equity in earnings  
    (loss)                1,340           7,280               (51)                     -                  -         8,569 
Gain on exchange                       -          9,285                   -                     -                  -      9,285
Conversion to real  
    estate securities                      -        (78,470)

                       
                   -                    -                  -     (78,470)

    
Equity investments,    
    December 31, 2006              92,682                -           5,419                      -                       -       98,101 

 Investments             76,071                    -                   -           9,308          12,822      98,201
 Distributions/return  
    of capital       (10,000)                       -             (194)                      -          (1,890)     (12,084)
 Equity in other  
    comprehensive loss             (8,390)                    -                    -                  -                        -        (8,390)
 Equity in earnings  
     (loss)               5,098                    -             (470)                  (936)                   (45)         3,647
      
 Equity investments,  
     December 31, 2007  $       155,461 $                 -

      
  $       4,755   $          8,372    $          10,887  $ 179,475

Concord Debt Holding LLC 

In March 2006 the Trust formed together with Lexington (F/K/A Newkirk) a venture called Concord Debt Holdings LLC 
(“Concord”) for the purpose of acquiring and originating a diversified portfolio of real estate loans.  At December 31, 2007, 
both the Trust and Lexington have each committed to invest $162,500,000 in Concord, of which $157,413,000 was 
contributed at December 31, 2007.  In addition to the capital contributions made by the Trust and Lexington, Concord 
currently seeks to finance its loan assets and loan securities through various financing structures including, repurchase 
facilities, credit lines, term loans and securitizations.  Concord may also seek additional capital through sales of preferred 
or common equity in Concord. 

Concord is managed by WRP Sub-Management LLC (the “Concord Advisor), which is an affiliate of, and has substantially 
the same executive officers as, FUR Advisors LLC, the Trust’s external advisor.  See Note 19.  Investments and other 
material decisions with respect to Concord’s business require the consent of both the Trust and Lexington or the Trust’s 
and Lexington’s representatives on Concord’s investment committee. 

Concord’s business is to acquire and originate loans and debt securities collateralized by real estate assets including 
mortgage loans (commonly referred to as whole loans), subordinate interests in whole loans (either through the acquisition 
of a B-Note or a participation interest), mezzanine loans, and preferred equity and commercial real estate securities 
including collateralized mortgage-backed securities, with the intent to hold such loan assets and loan securities to maturity. 

The Trust accounts for this investment using the equity method. 
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8.  Equity Investments (Continued) 

Concord Debt Holding LLC (Continued) 

Summary financial information of Concord is as follows (in thousands):      

 December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
   
Condensed Balance Sheets   
Cash and restricted cash   $           19,094 $       148,261 
Real estate debt investments, net 952,035 352,737 
Available for sale securities 188,073 98,133 
Other assets              12,770            10,744
   
Total assets  $      1,171,972 $       609,875
   
Accounts payable and other liabilities 11,975 2,717 
Collateralized debt obligations 376,650 376,650 
Repurchase agreements 472,324 43,893
   
Total liabilities 860,949 423,260 
   
Minority interest 102 100 
Accumulated other comprehensive income  
     (loss) (16,781) 1,151 
Members’ capital            327,702          185,364
   
Total liabilities and members’ capital     $       1,171,972 $       609,875

On the Trust’s Consolidated Balance Sheets:   
    Equity investment in venture  $          155,461 $         92,682

Year Ended 
December 31, 2007

 For the Period March 31 
(Date of Inception) to 
December 31, 2006

    
Condensed Statement of Operations    
   Interest and other income $             65,854       $                   13,212 
   Interest expense      (41,675)  (9,356) 
   General and administrative (5,541)                      (1,572) 
   Impairment loss on available for sale securities (11,028)                                     - 
   Interest income on bank deposits 2,599                                 396 
   Minority interest                     (13)                                     -
    
   Net income     $             10,196  $                     2,680
    
On the Trust’s Consolidated Statement of Operations  
and Comprehensive Income:  
      Equity in earnings of equity investment     $               5,098 $                     1,340
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8.   Equity Investments (Continued) 

Concord Debt Holdings LLC (Continued)

Concord’s loan assets are intended to be held to maturity and, accordingly, are carried at cost, net of unamortized loan 
origination costs and fees, repayments and unfunded commitments unless such loan is deemed to be impaired.  Concord’s 
loan securities are treated as available for sale securities and, accordingly, are marked-to-market on a quarterly basis based 
on management’s assessment which includes valuations provided by an independent third party.   

During the year ended December 31, 2007, Concord’s portfolio of available for sale securities experienced declines in fair 
value to amounts below their amortized cost basis totaling approximately $18,864,000.  For three available for sale 
securities, Concord determined that the decline in fair value was other-than-temporary in nature as defined by FASB 
Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities and related interpretations.  
Accordingly, Concord has written-down its cost basis of these securities to their estimated fair values at December 31, 
2007 and has recognized in earnings realized losses on the other-than-temporary impairment of these securities totaling 
$11,028,000. 

Unrealized losses represent declines in the fair value of available for sale securities that Concord did not consider other-
than-temporary impairment at December 31, 2007.  There were approximately 37 securities comprising the unrealized loss 
balance of $7,836,000 that had been in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 months and were not considered other-
than-temporarily impaired.     

In assessing whether declines in the fair value of available for sale securities represent other-than-temporary impairment, 
Concord considered the duration and extent of unrealized losses, its ability to hold such securities until a full recovery of its
cost basis, and the financial prospects of the collateral underlying the CMBS, CDO and REMIC securities.

Information pertaining to the repurchase agreements collateralized by Concord’s loan assets and loan securities as of 
December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 is as follows (dollars in thousands): 

Line

Amount

Repurchase agreement with Column Financial 

Inc. as counter-party, expiration March 30, 2009,

renewable monthly, interest is variable based on

one month LIBOR plus 85 to 135 basis points,

weighted average of 5.84% and 6.70%, respectively $ 350,000       $ 308,508     $ 412,561      $ 30,293       $ 47,250                  

Repurchase agreement with Bear, Stearns Funding, 

Inc. as counter-party, expiration November 15, 2008,

renewable monthly, interest is variable based on

one month LIBOR plus 85 to 115 basis points, weighted

average of 5.49% and 5.67%, respectively 150,000       48,710       83,258        13,600       17,000                  

Repurchase agreement with Greenwich Capital Financial 

Properties, matures on December 30, 2012, interest is

variable based on 1-month LIBOR rate plus 1% or 5.85%. -                   59,613       70,146        -                 -                           

Repurchase agreement with Greenwich Capital Financial

Properties, matures on December 15, 2008, interest is 

based on 1-month LIBOR rate plus 1% or 5.9%. -                   39,079       55,827        -                 -                           

Repurchase agreement with Column Financial Inc., 

matures on March 9, 2009, interest is variable based 

on 1-month LIBOR rate plus 1% or 5.95%. -                   16,414       25,270        -                 -                           

$ 500,000     $ 472,324   $ 647,062    $ 43,893       $ 64,250                 

Value

Collateral 

Carrying Value

December 31 2007 December 31, 2006

Value

Debt Carrying Collateral 

Carrying Value

Debt Carrying
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8.   Equity Investments (Continued) 

Concord Debt Holdings LLC (Continued)

In addition to its repurchase facilities, on March 7, 2008 Concord entered into a $100 million secured revolving credit 
facility with KeyBank National Association.  The credit facility enables Concord to finance existing unlevered assets as 
well as new assets acquired by Concord.  The initial maximum borrowings under the loan are $100 million, expandable to 
$350 million, upon compliance with certain conditions.  Borrowings under the facility will bear interest at spreads over 
LIBOR ranging from 1.75% to 2.25% depending on the underlying loan asset or debt security for which such borrowing is 
made.  The facility, inclusive of extension rights, will mature in March 2011. 

Collateralized Debt Obligations 

The following table outlines borrowings under Concord’s collateralized debt obligations as of December 31, 2007 and 
December 31, 2006 (in thousands): 

                             December 31, 2007                               December 31, 2006            
             Debt                   Collateral                     Debt                       Collateral 
                                                                        Carrying Value    Carrying Value           Carrying Value         Carrying Value
CDO I – Issued seven investment  
grade tranches December 21, 2006.   
Reinvestment period through  
December 21, 2011.  Interest rate  
variable based on one-month LIBOR; 
the weighted average note rate was  
5.37% and 5.855%, respectively   $       376,650      $      464,601            $       376,650        $       361,635  

Newkirk Realty Trust

On November 7, 2005, the Trust acquired 3,125,000 shares of common stock in Newkirk Realty Trust, Inc. (“Newkirk”) 
for a per share purchase price of $16.00, for a total purchase price of $50,000,000.  In addition, the Trust assigned to 
Newkirk all of its rights under an Exclusivity Services Agreement with Michael Ashner, Newkirk’s Chief Executive 
Officer, relating to business opportunities generated by or offered to Mr. Ashner relating to net lease assets, as defined. In 
consideration for the assignment of these rights, Newkirk issued to the Trust 1,250,000 shares of Newkirk’s common stock 
(the “Exclusivity Shares”) valued at $16.00 per share for a total consideration of $20,000,000 and a participation in any 
incentive fee earned and paid to NKT Advisors LLC (“NKT”), the external advisor of Newkirk and an entity owned in part 
and controlled by Michael Ashner and other executive officers of the Trust and FUR Advisors.  

The foregoing transactions were consummated in connection with the closing of Newkirk’s initial public offering, resulting 
in the Trust owning approximately 22.58% of Newkirk’s outstanding common shares (6.8% on a fully diluted basis). 

At the time of issuance of the Exclusivity Shares, 625,000 of the 1,250,000 shares were subject to forfeiture (reducing by 
17,361 shares per month) upon the occurrence of certain events.  In addition, all of the Trust’s shares in Newkirk were 
subject to a lock-up agreement pursuant to which the Trust agreed not to sell, transfer, pledge, redeem or otherwise dispose 
of its shares of common stock in Newkirk for a period equal to the earlier of (i) November 7, 2008 or (ii) at such time as 
NKT was no longer providing advisory services to Newkirk; provided, however, in no event would such period terminate 
prior to November 7, 2006. 

Effective December 31, 2006, Newkirk was merged into Lexington Corporate Properties Trust (the “Merger”) and the 
name of the surviving entity was changed to Lexington Realty Trust (“Lexington”).  As result of the Merger, among other 
things, the Trust’s 4,375,000 shares in Newkirk were converted into 3,500,000 common shares in Lexington or an 
approximately 5% interest in Lexington. 
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8.  Equity Investments (Continued) 

Newkirk Realty Trust (Continued) 

Upon consummation of the Merger, (i) the Exclusivity Shares became no longer subject to forfeiture, (ii) the assignment of 
the exclusivity rights with respect to net lease assets were vested in Lexington, and (iii) the lock-up restrictions on the 
Newkirk common stock were terminated.  

Also in connection with the Merger, Michael Ashner became a trustee and executive officer of Lexington pursuant to the 
terms of an employment agreement between Mr. Ashner and Lexington.  The Trust entered into an agreement with Mr. 
Ashner which provides that in the event Lexington makes a real estate investment other than in a net lease asset, Mr. 
Ashner is obligated to terminate his employment and other positions with Lexington, unless a majority of the Trust’s 
independent trustees consent to his remaining with Lexington.  Further, Mr. Ashner is not permitted to agree to certain 
amendments to his employment agreement without the consent of a majority of the Trust’s independent trustees. 

The Trust’s investment in Newkirk was accounted for using the equity method during 2005 and through December 31, 
2006.  The Trust accounts for investments on the equity method when the requirements for consolidation are not met, and it 
has significant influence over the operations of the investment.  At December 31, 2006, as a result of the Merger, the 
Trust’s investment in Lexington is accounted for as an available for sale real estate security as the Trust believes it does not
exercise significant influence over Lexington.  In connection with the Merger, the Trust recognized a gain of approximately 
$9,300,000 resulting from the exchange of all Newkirk common stock held by the Trust for common stock in Lexington, 
based on the fair value of the Lexington common stock received as compared with the carrying amount of the Newkirk 
investment. 

During the fourth quarter of 2005, Newkirk declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.27 per share of common stock 
resulting in the receipt by the Trust of $1,180,000 in January 2006.  During each of the first three quarters of 2006, 
Newkirk declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.40 per share of common stock resulting in the receipt by the Trust of 
$1,750,000 in April, July and October 2006.  In December 2006, Newkirk declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.40 per 
share and a special dividend of $0.05 per share which was paid on January 17, 2007.  The total dividends received of 
$1,969,000 reduced the carrying amount of the Trust’s equity investment in Newkirk prior to the consummation of the 
merger between Newkirk and Lexington on December 31, 2006. 

Summary financial information of Newkirk is as follows (in thousands): 

 Year Ended  
December 31, 2006

For the Period November 7  
to December 31, 2005

   
Condensed Statement of Operations   
   Revenues  $   218,093  $     35,308 
   Interest expense (55,248) (8,683) 
   General and administrative (23,644) (1,274) 
   Compensation expense (9,500) (10,500) 
   Depreciation and amortization (38,763) (7,236) 
   Other expenses (43,517) (2,917) 
   Income from discontinued operations 19,725                                  - 
   Minority interest                (35,176)                 (3,349)

   Net income  $               31,970         $         1,349
   
On the Trust’s  Consolidated Statement of  
   Operations and Comprehensive Income: 
        Equity in earnings of equity investment      $                 7,280         $                   304



WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION 

REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

88

8.  Equity Investments (Continued) 

Sealy Northwest Atlanta, L.P. 

On December 12, 2006, the Trust acquired a 60% limited partnership interest in Sealy Northwest Atlanta, L.P. to acquire 
12 flex properties containing an aggregate of 472,000 square feet of space located in Atlanta, Georgia for a gross purchase 
price of $35,845,000.  The Trust invested approximately $5,470,000, and the general partner, an affiliate of Sealy and 
Company, Inc., invested $3,647,000 for their 40% interest in the venture.  The Trust accounts for this investment on the 
equity basis and recorded equity in loss of $470,000 and $51,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 and the period 
from acquisition through December 31, 2006, respectively. 

Sealy Airpark Nashville L.P. 

On April 17, 2007, the Trust acquired, through a venture with Sealy & Company Inc., 13 light distribution and service 
center properties in Nashville, Tennessee.  The purchase price for the properties was $87,200,000 which was financed 
through $65,383,000 of proceeds net of escrows and closing costs from a $74,000,000 first mortgage loan and a $3,600,000 
bridge loan from Sealy.  Both Sealy and the Trust contributed $9,308,000 for a 50% ownership in the venture.  The Trust 
accounts for this investment on the equity basis and recorded equity in loss of $936,000 for the period from acquisition 
through December 31, 2007. 

Lex-Win Acquisition LLC 

On May 25, 2007, Lex-Win Acquisition LLC (“Lex-Win”), an entity in which the Trust holds a 28% ownership interest, 
commenced a tender offer to acquire up to 45,000,000 shares of common stock in Wells Real Estate Investment Trust, Inc. 
(“Wells”) (now known as Piedmont Office Realty Trust, Inc.) at a price per share of $9.30.  The tender offer expired on 
July 20, 2007.  At December 31, 2007, Lex-Win held 3,885,616.25 shares in Wells at a per share price of $9.30, 
representing approximately .79% of the total outstanding shares in Wells. 

The Trust accounts for this investment on the equity basis and recorded equity in loss of $45,000 for the period from 
acquisition through December 31, 2007. 

9.   Repurchase Agreements

Information pertaining to the repurchase agreements relating to the Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac mortgage-backed securities as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006 is as follows (dollars in thousands): 

 December 31 ,2007 December 31, 2006
 Debt Carrying 

Value
Collateral

Carrying Value
Debt Carrying 

Value
Collateral

Carrying Value
Repurchase agreement with Bear Stearns & Co., Inc. as counter-
party, expiration January 25, 2008, renewable monthly, interest is 
variable based on one-month LIBOR minus 2 basis points     $       46,898     $        48,589 $       72,545 $       75,029 

    
Repurchase agreement with Bear Stearns & Co., Inc. as counter-
party, expiration January 25, 2008, renewable monthly, interest is 
variable based on one-month LIBOR minus 2 basis points              9,289                9,624 16,296 16,893 

    
Repurchase agreement with Bear Stearns & Co., Inc. as counter-
party, expiration January 25, 2008, renewable monthly, interest is 
variable based on one-month LIBOR minus 2 basis points            18,988              19,928           23,070             23,888

    
     $       75,175     $       78,141 $      111,911 $      115,810

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the average borrowing rate on the Trust’s repurchase agreements was LIBOR minus 3 
basis points (4.845% and 5.33%, respectively) and is renewable monthly.  Subsequent to December 31, 2007, each 
repurchase agreement was renewed through January 25, 2008.  See Note 23 – Subsequent Events. 
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10.  Debt 

The Trust had outstanding mortgage loans payable of $236,925,000 and $232,768,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively.  The mortgage loan payments of principal and interest are generally due monthly, quarterly or semi-annually. 
The mortgage loans payable are collateralized by applicable real estate of the Trust. 

The Trust’s mortgage loans payable at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

 Maturity
Spread Over 

LIBOR/Prime
Interest Rate as of 

December 31, 2007
Balance as of 

December 31, 2007
Balance as of  

December 31, 2006

Mortgage Loans Payable:
     

Fixed Interest Rate:
     

      
Amherst, NY October 2013 -- 5.65%   $             17,276  $  17,622 
Indianapolis, IN April  2015 -- 5.82% 4,447   4,508 
Houston, TX April 2016 -- 6.49% 69,801  72,270 
Andover, MA February 2011 -- 6.60% 6,503          6,610 
S. Burlington, VT February 2011 -- 6.60% 2,787          2,833 
Chicago, IL March 2016 -- 5.75% 21,600          21,600 
Lisle, IL June 2016 -- 6.26% 24,600          24,600 
Lisle, IL March 2017 -- 5.55% 5,600 - 
Kansas City, KS June 2012 -- 7.04% 5,893 - 
Orlando, FL July 2017 -- 6.40% 40,034 - 
      
Variable Interest Rate:      
      
Various June 2009 LIBOR + 1.75% (1) 28,884     69,549 
Chicago, IL March 2008 Prime + 0.50% 8.75% 9,500          9,500 
Chicago, IL March 2008 Prime + 0.50% (2)                          -                    3,676
      
Total Mortgage Loans Payable    $            236,925 $             232,768

      
Loans Payable:      
      
Collateralized by venture 
participation in the Toy Building 
Loan 

April 2008 LIBOR + 3.00 (3) $                       - $             30,000 

Miscellaneous February 2007 -- 7.50%                         -                        4
      
    $                       - $             30,004
Revolving Line of Credit:      
      
$70,000,000 revolving  
   line of credit 

December 2008 LIBOR + 2.25%  $                       - $                       -

(1) As a result of the Trust entering into an interest rate swap agreement in the notional amount of $26,000,000, the 
Trust has effectively converted the floating interest rate to a fixed rate of 5.80% through December 2009.  The 
remaining principal amount of $2,884,000 remains variable at LIBOR plus 1.75% (which equated to 7.00% at 
December 31, 2007). 

(2) Loan was paid on July 9, 2007.  
(3) Loan was paid on May 16, 2007. 

As of December 31, 2007 the principal repayments required for the next five years and thereafter are as follows (in 
thousands): 

2008     $ 14,872 
2009 32,476 
2010 5,298 
2011 14,385 
2012 12,103 
Thereafter           157,791

Total $        236,925
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10.  Debt (Continued) 

Loans Payable

Loans payable consisted primarily of a $30,000,000 loan which bore interest at LIBOR plus 300 basis points, 8.35% at 
December 31, 2006, maturing on April 9, 2008, was subject to a one-year extension, and required monthly payments of 
interest only.  The loan was secured by a venture participation interest in the Toy Building Loan (Note 5).  The loan could 
be prepaid at any time without premium or penalty.  This loan was satisfied on May 16, 2007.

11.  Revolving Line of Credit

On December 16, 2005, the Trust entered into a Revolving Loan Agreement with KeyBank National Association 
(“KeyBank”).  Pursuant to the line of credit, the Trust can presently borrow on a revolving basis up to $70,000,000, subject 
to increase up to $100,000,000.  The revolving credit line matures December 16, 2008 with the option on the part of the 
Trust to extend the term for an additional year.  Amounts borrowed under the revolving credit line bear interest at rates 
based on the Trust’s leverage ratio and range from LIBOR plus 1.5% to LIBOR plus 2.25%.  In addition, to the extent the 
Trust maintains cash balances at KeyBank in excess of a certain threshold, the interest rate is reduced to LIBOR plus 
1.35%.  The Trust is required to pay a 15 or 25 basis point fee on the unused portion of the line, depending upon the 
outstanding balance borrowed.  The Trust paid fees $177,000 and $137,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively, on the unused portion of the line. 

The revolving credit line requires monthly payments of interest only.  To the extent that the amounts outstanding under the 
revolving credit line are in excess of the borrowing base (as calculated), the Trust is required to make a principal payment 
to reduce such excess.  The Trust may prepay from time to time without premium or penalty and reborrow amounts prepaid 
under the credit line.  The revolving credit line is secured by substantially all of the Trust’s assets. 

The revolving line of credit requires the Trust to maintain a (i) minimum consolidated debt service coverage ratio, (ii) 
maximum leverage ratio, (iii) liquid assets of $10,000,000, and (iv) a minimum net worth.  The Trust is in compliance with 
these requirements at December 31, 2007. 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, there were no amounts outstanding under the credit line. 

12.  Hedge Instruments

In connection with the Trust’s interest rate risk management, the Trust periodically hedges a portion of its interest rate risk
by entering into derivative financial instrument contracts such as interest rate swaps, which in effect modify the repricing 
characteristics of the Trust’s repurchase agreements and floating rate mortgage debt agreements.  The use of interest rate 
swaps results in adjustments to cash flows for such liabilities.  However, hedging instruments create exposure to potential 
losses if the counterparties to these instruments fail to perform their obligations under the contracts.  In the event of a 
default by the counterparty, the Trust would not receive payments provided for under the terms of the hedging instrument 
and could have difficulty taking possession of assets pledged by the Trust as collateral for the interest rate swaps.  The 
Trust, however, does not anticipate default by its counterparty. 

The Trust has entered into the following agreements in order to limit its exposure to interest rate volatility:  

an interest rate swap with a $40,000,000 notional amount that effectively converted the interest rate on 
that portion of principal of the Trust’s mortgage note payable to KeyBank from a floating rate equal to 
LIBOR plus 1.75% to a fixed rate of 5.80%.  The Trust made a $40,000,000 prepayment on its floating 
rate debt during the second quarter of 2007.  As a result, the Trust decreased the notional amount of its 
existing interest rate swap by $14,000,000 and received $366,000, resulting in an unrealized gain which 
will be amortized to interest expense over the remaining life of the swap.  At December 31, 2007, the 
outstanding balance on the mortgage note payable is $28,884,000, $26,000,000 of which was covered by 
the swap.  The remaining principal amount of $2,884,000 remains variable at LIBOR plus 1.75%;  
an interest rate swap on its repurchase agreements, which bears interest at LIBOR minus 0.002%, 
effectively fixing the rate at 4.055% on that financing. 
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12.  Hedge Instruments (Continued)

The table below presents information about the Trust’s interest rate swaps at December 31, 2007 (dollars in thousands): 

(1) Represents a swap agreement related to the KeyBank loan collateralized by the Finova portfolio. 
(2) Represents a swap agreement related to the repurchase agreements with Bear Stearns & Co. 

No hedge ineffectiveness as defined by FAS No. 133 on cash flow hedges was recognized for the year ended December 31, 
2007. 

The table below presents information about the Trust’s interest rate swaps at December 31, 2006 (dollars in thousands): 

Active Period 
Through Swap Rate 

 Notional 
Amount of 

Hedged Liability
Cost of 
Hedge 

 Estimated 
Fair Value/ 

Carrying Value 

 Gross Unrealized Loss 
for the Year Ended 
December 31, 2006 

           
November 2007        5.800%  $               40,000  $         -  $                   995  $                            (13) 
January 2008        4.045%  $               72,545  $         -  $                   674  $                          (256) 
           

No hedge ineffectiveness on cash flow hedges was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. 

13.  Convertible Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest

Series A Preferred Shares 

On February 7, 2006, in accordance with the terms of the Certificate of Designations for the Trust’s Series A Preferred 
Shares, the Trust converted all of the Series A Preferred Shares into Common Shares at a rate of 4.92 Common Shares for 
each Series A Preferred Share.  In connection with this conversion, the Trust issued approximately 4,836,763 Common 
Shares and made payments totaling $65 for fractional shares otherwise issuable as a result of the conversion to holders of 
the Trust’s Series A Preferred Shares.

Series B-1 Preferred Shares 

On February 28, 2005 and June 20, 2005, the Trust sold an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of the Trust’s Series B-1 
Preferred Shares to a number of institutional buyers for $100,000,000.  The Trust incurred underwriting, placement agent 
and legal fees to unaffiliated third parties of $5,836,000 in connection with the issuance of the Series B-1 Preferred Shares. 

The sales of the Series B-1 Preferred Shares was effected pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Section 
4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  In connection with the issuance of the Series B-1 Preferred Shares, the 
Trust entered into an Investor Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”) which grants purchasers preemptive rights with 
respect to certain future issuances of securities by the Trust, a co-investment right enabling them to participate in certain  

Maturity
Swap 
Rate

Notional 
Amount of 

Hedge
Cost of 
Hedge

Fair Value/
Carrying 

Value

Unrealized
Gain on 

Settled Swap

Gross Unrealized 
Loss For the Year 

Ended 
December 31, 2007

          
December 2009 5.800%   $26,000 (1)  $        -  $    (203)    $         289    $               (910) 
          
January 2008    4.055%   $54,021 (2)  $        -  $ 30    $             -                     (643)

            $            (1,553)
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13. Convertible Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest (Continued) 

Series B-1 Preferred Shares (Continued) 

future investments by the Trust, tag-along rights, drag-along rights in the event of a sale of substantially all the Trust’s 
securities, and certain other rights.  The Trust has registered the resale of the Common Shares issuable upon conversion of 
the Series B-1 Preferred Shares. 

The Trust has properly classified as liabilities its Series B-1 Preferred Shares under ASR 268 (Rule 5-02.28 of Regulation 
S-X), for which mezzanine equity treatment is appropriate, but a liability presentation can be elected pursuant to EITF D-
98 Classification and Measurement of Redeemable Securities.  Accordingly, capital treatment is appropriate as it relates to 
the conversion of our Series B-1 Preferred Shares to Common Shares. 

The Series B-1 Preferred Shares entitle the holders to cumulative dividends at a minimum rate of 6.5% and can be 
converted into Common Shares at a conversion price of $4.50, subject to anti-dilution adjustments. In addition, the holders 
of the Series B-1 Preferred Shares have the right to elect one trustee to the Board of Trustees as long as 910,000 Series B-1 
Preferred Shares are outstanding.  Commencing February 28, 2008, the Trust may convert all of the Series B-1 Preferred 
Shares if the closing price for the Common Shares for any 20 consecutive trading days within the 25 day period 
commencing on the date of mailing of the conversion notice exceeds 125% of the then conversion price.  The conversion 
price at December 31, 2007 was $4.50. 

During 2006, a holder of the Series B-1 Preferred Shares exercised its right to convert 10,000 of Series B-1 Preferred 
Shares into Common Shares.  The Trust issued 55,556 Common Shares as a result of this conversion. 

During 2007, holders of the Series B-1 Preferred Shares exercised their right to convert 59,343 of Series B-1 Preferred 
Shares into Common Shares.  The Trust issued 329,681 Common Shares as a result of these conversions.  Conversion of 
shares is treated as an equity transaction and any cost related to the Series B-1 Preferred Shares issuance is recorded as a 
reduction in paid in capital. 

14.  Common Shares of Beneficial Interest

The following table sets forth information relating to sales of Common Shares during the years ended December 31, 2007 
and 2006: 

Date of Issuance Number of Shares Issued Price per Share Type of Offering
    

3/29/06 5,220,038 $5.25 Rights Offering(1) 
10/16/06 125,909 $6.39 DRIP(2) 

11/3/06 19,550,000            $6.00(3) Public Offering 
1/16/07 178,000 $6.73 DRIP 
4/16/07 135,000 $6.56 DRIP 
7/16/07 128,000 $6.95 DRIP 

10/15/07 152,000 $6.27 DRIP 

(1) Rights offering pursuant to which each holder of Common Shares and Series B-1 Preferred Shares received one 
basic subscription right for every twelve Common Shares owned, or in the case of Series B-1 Preferred Shares, 
one basic subscription right for every twelve Common Shares issuable upon conversion of such Series B-1 
Preferred Shares. 

(2) The Trust’s Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan 
(3) The Trust received $5.70 per share after underwriters discount. 

15.  Warrants and Share Options to Purchase Shares of Beneficial Interest

In November 1998, the Trust issued warrants to a third party to purchase 500,000 Common Shares as part of the 
consideration for various services provided to the Trust.  The current exercise price of the warrants is $8.37 per Common 
Share.  The warrants expire in November 2008.   
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15.  Warrants and Share Options to Purchase Shares of Beneficial Interest (Continued)

The Trust had the following share option plans for key personnel and Trustees: 

Long-Term Incentive Ownership Plan 

In December 2003, the then members of the Board of Trustees granted 100,000 options under the Long Term Incentive 
Performance Plan to a trustee of the Trust who was also the Interim Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial 
Officer.  Each option has an exercise price of $2.23 and an expiration date of December 16, 2013. None of the options have 
been exercised.  There were no other options granted, cancelled or expired during 2004 and 2005.  In March 2005 the 
Board of Trustees cancelled the plan.

Board of Trustees Share Option Plan 

In May 2007, the Trust’s shareholders approved the Winthrop Realty Trust 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (the "2007 
Plan") pursuant to which the Trust can issue stock options and restricted share awards to its trustees, directors and 
consultants exercisable for up to 500,000 Common Shares.  At December 31, 2007, no stock options or restricted stock 
awards had been issued under the 2007 Plan.

16.  Discontinued Operations  

On December 1, 2004, VenTek International, Inc. (“VenTek”), an entity owned by FUMI, ceased all of its operations and 
transferred its remaining assets to VenTek Transit, Inc. (“Transit”), an entity owned by VenTek’s former employees.  
Under the agreement, Transit agreed to make a nominal payment to VenTek and is obligated to pay VenTek a royalty equal 
to 5% of its annual gross revenues for each of the next five years.  It is not expected that such payments will be material to 
the Trust’s operations.  The Trust received royalties of  $22,000, $18,000 and $0 during the years ended 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively. 

The City of St. Louis has commenced a condemnation proceeding with respect to the Trust’s property in St. Louis, 
Missouri.  The City is seeking to take the property as part of an area-wide redevelopment program.  The property, which is 
currently vacant, is leased to The Kroger Company pursuant to a net lease with a term scheduled to expire October 31, 
2010 and annual rent of $233,000.  Pursuant to the terms of the lease, the tenant is required to make a revocable offer to 
purchase the property at a scheduled price at such time as a condemnation occurs.  The scheduled price, which decreases 
over time, is in excess of the existing principal balance due on the loan collateralized by the property.  A trial has been 
scheduled for August 2008 when it is expected that the property value will be determined, after which the condemnation 
will occur. 

The Trust classifies as discontinued operations in its Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income the 
income and expenses for the St. Louis, Missouri property and VenTek royalties received.  In addition, the Trust classifies 
the assets and liabilities related to such property as Assets of Discontinued Operations and Liabilities of Discontinued 
Operations on its Consolidated Balance Sheets.  Liabilities of discontinued operations at December 31, 2007 were $0 and 
at December 31, 2006 consisted of $828,000 of accounts payable and accrued expenses related to a contingent sales tax 
liability at our former Ventek property.  In September 2007, the statute of limitations expired on this contingent liability.  
The Trust wrote off the liability and recorded $828,000 of income during the year ended December 31, 2007. 

At December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, assets of discontinued operations consist of the St. Louis, Missouri 
property. 
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16.  Discontinued Operations  

The combined results related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are as 
follows (in thousands): 

  2007  2006  2005 

Total revenues  $ 1,067  $ 214  $ 672 
Total expenses   32   98   141 

Income from  
   discontinued operations $ 1,035 $ 116 $ 531 

17. Federal and State Income Taxes

The Trust has made no provision for regular current or deferred federal income taxes and no deferred state income taxes 
have been provided for on the basis that the Trust operates in a manner intended to enable it to continue to qualify as a real 
estate investment trust under Sections 856-860 of the Code.  In order to qualify as a REIT, the Trust is generally required 
each year to distribute to its shareholders at least 90% of its taxable income (excluding any net capital gain).  The Trust 
currently intends to comply with the foregoing minimum distributions requirements.  As of December 31, 2007, the Trust 
has net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $31,213,000 after utilizing $9,838,000 to offset 2007 taxable income, 
which will expire from 2021 through 2023.  As a result of the February 28, 2005 issuance of the Series B-1 Shares (see 
Note 13), the Trust’s net operating loss carryforwards are subject to annual limitations pursuant to Section 382 of the Code.  
The Trust also had capital loss carryforwards of $1,695,430, which were fully utilized as of December 31, 2006.  The Trust 
treats certain items of income and expense differently in determining net income reported for financial and tax purposes.  
Such items resulted in a net decrease in income for tax reporting purposes of approximately $11,544,000 in 2007, a net 
decrease in income of $42,936,000 in 2006, and a net decrease of $23,621,000 in 2005. 

Prior to 2007, the Trust had offset a portion of its federal taxable income by utilizing capital loss carryforwards.  However, 
the capital loss carryforwards are not available in certain states and localities where the Trust has an obligation to pay 
income taxes.  In addition, certain states and localities disallow state income taxes as a deduction and exclude interest 
income from United States obligations when calculating taxable income.  Federal and state tax calculations can differ due 
to differing recognition of net operating losses.  Accordingly, the Trust has recorded $417,000, $234,000, and $500,000 in 
state and local taxes for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, net investment in real estate and lease intangibles for federal tax reporting after accumulated 
depreciation and amortization was approximately $183,917,000 as compared to approximately $280,113,000 for financial 
reporting. 

The 2007, 2006 and 2005 cash dividends per Series A Preferred Share for an individual shareholder’s income tax purposes 
were as follows:

Ordinary 
Dividends

Capital Gains 15% 
Rate

Nontaxable 
Distribution

Total Dividends 
Paid

     
2007 $        - $       - $          - $       - 
2006 - - - - 
2005 2.10 - - 2.10 
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17. Federal and State Income Taxes (Continued)

The 2007, 2006 and 2005 cash dividends per Series B-1 Preferred Share for an individual shareholder’s income tax 
purposes were as follows: 

Ordinary 
Dividends

Capital Gains 15% 
Rate

Nontaxable 
Distribution

Total Dividends 
Paid

     
2007      $        0.96        $      1.43     $              -     $          2.39 
2006         1.13        0.54           -                 1.67 
2005 1.63 - -                 1.63 

The 2007, 2006 and 2005 cash dividends per Common Share for an individual shareholder’s income tax purposes were as 
follows: 

Ordinary 
Dividends

Capital Gains 15% 
Rate

Nontaxable 
Distribution

Total Dividends 
Paid

     
2007      $        0.17      $        0.26      $             -     $         0.43 
2006         0.20         0.10            -                0.30 
2005 0.11 - -                0.11 

18.  Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings 

The Company is involved from time to time in litigation on various matters, including disputes with tenants and disputes 
arising out of agreements to purchase or sell properties.  Given the nature of the Company’s business activities, these 
lawsuits are considered routine to the conduct of its business.  The result of any particular lawsuit cannot be predicted, 
because of the very nature of litigation, the litigation process and its adversarial nature, and the jury system.  The Company 
does not expect that the liabilities, if any, that may ultimately result from such legal actions will have a material adverse 
effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.   

Peach Tree Mall Litigation 

The Trust, as one plaintiff in a consolidated action composed of numerous businesses and individuals, pursued legal action 
against the State of California associated with the 1986 flood of Sutter Buttes Center, formerly Peach Tree Mall.  On 
March 4, 2005 the court approved the settlement of this matter pursuant to which the State of California agreed to pay the 
Trust $11,000,000.  In September 2005 the State of California appropriated funding of the $11,000,000 award to the Trust. 
The funds were received in October 2005 and the $11,000,000 was recorded as legal settlement income. In connection with 
the settlement, the parties exchanged mutual releases. 

19.  Related-Party Transactions 

The activities of the Trust and its subsidiaries are administered by FUR Advisors LLC (“FUR Advisors”) pursuant to the 
terms of the Advisory Agreement between the Trust and FUR Advisors, which agreement was entered into in connection 
with the acquisition by FUR Investors LLC of its interest in the Trust and the other transactions entered into in connection 
therewith. FUR Advisors is controlled by and partially owned by the executive officers of the Trust. Pursuant to the terms 
of the Advisory Agreement, FUR Advisors is responsible for providing asset management services to the Trust and 
coordinating with the Trust’s shareholder transfer agent and property managers. The quarterly base management fee 
payable to FUR Advisors for providing such services equals the lesser of an asset based fee or an equity based fee.   

The asset based fee is calculated as follows: 1% of the gross asset value of the Trust up to $100,000,000, 0.75% of the 
gross asset value of the Trust between $100,000,000 and $250,000,000, 0.625% of the gross asset value of the Trust  
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19.  Related-Party Transactions (Continued) 

between $250,000,000 and $500,000,000 and 0.50% of the gross asset value of the Trust in excess of $500,000,000 (in 
light of the net lease nature of the 16 net lease properties, FUR Advisors agreed to reduce its fee for these properties to 
0.25% of the gross asset value for the portion of that portfolio that is subject to leverage).  

The equity based fee is calculated as follows: (i) 1.5% of the issued and outstanding equity securities of the Trust plus 
(ii) .25% of any equity contribution by a third party to a venture managed by the Trust. For purposes of the equity based 
calculation, the 31,058,913 Common Shares outstanding at January 1, 2005 are to be valued as follows: $2.30 (FUR 
Investors LLC’s tender offer price in its December 2003 tender offer) with respect to 26,058,913 Common Shares and 
$2.60 (the purchase price paid by FUR Investors LLC) with respect to the 5,000,000 Common Shares acquired on 
December 31, 2003. The Trust’s Series A Preferred Shares were valued at their liquidation preference amount of $25 per 
share until their conversion into Common Shares on February 7, 2006, at which time the Common Shares issued in 
connection therewith are valued at $5.0825 per Common Share. All Preferred and Common Shares issued subsequent to 
January 1, 2005 are to be valued at the net issuance price including any Common Shares issued in connection with the 
conversion of the Preferred Shares. 

FUR Advisors is entitled under both the asset based fee and the equity based fee to receive (i) property and construction 
management fees at commercially reasonable rates as determined by the independent trustees and (ii) an incentive fee.  The 
incentive fee entitles FUR Advisors to receive (a) an amount equal to 20% of all distributions paid to beneficiaries of 
Common Shares after December 31, 2003 in excess of the Threshold Amount, hereinafter defined, and, (b) upon the  
termination of the Advisory Agreement, an amount equal to 20% of the “liquidation value” of the Trust in excess of the 
Threshold Amount at the termination date. As defined in the Advisory Agreement, the Threshold Amount is equal to (x) 
$71,300,000, increased by the net issuance price of all Common Shares, with an adjustment for Preferred Shares converted, 
issued after December 31, 2003, and decreased by the redemption price of all Common Shares redeemed after December 
31, 2003, plus (y) a return on the amount, as adjusted, set forth in (x) equal to 7% per annum compounded annually. The 
incentive fee is reduced by any direct damages to the Trust if the Advisory Agreement is terminated by the Trust for cause.  

Although the foregoing calculation of the incentive fee is based on the closing price of the Common Shares on December 
31, 2007, if the Advisory Agreement were terminated, the actual incentive fee payable would be based on an appraised 
valuation or the liquidation proceeds received for the Trust’s assets, which may be substantially in excess of the amount 
calculated based on the market price of the Common Shares.

Winthrop Management L.P., an affiliate of FUR Advisors and the Trust’s executive officers, assumed property 
management responsibilities for various properties owned by the Trust. Pursuant to the terms of the property management 
agreement, Winthrop Management L.P. receives a fee equal to 3% of the monthly revenues, which fee has been approved 
by the Conflicts Committee. 

The following table sets forth the fees and reimbursements paid by the Trust for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 
and 2005 to FUR Advisors and Winthrop Management L.P. (in thousands): 

 2007 2006 2005
    
Asset Management (1)     $     5,263  (3) $         3,681 (4) $         2,660 
Loan Servicing Fee (1) - -  - 
Property Management (2) 269 217 44 
Construction Management (2) 9 - - 

(1) Payable to FUR Advisors  
(2) Payable to Winthrop Management L.P.  
(3) Before credit of $189 discussed below  
(4) Before credit of $4,400 discussed below 

In connection with the Newkirk/Lexington merger, the advisory agreement between NKT Advisors and Newkirk was 
terminated, and NKT Advisors received a payment of $5,500,000 attributable to its incentive fee.  As a result of the 
incentive fee being paid by Newkirk and in accordance with the Advisory Agreement between the Trust and FUR Advisors,  
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19.  Related-Party Transactions (Continued) 

the Trust received a $4,400,000 credit (80% of total fee paid) to be utilized on a go forward basis in offsetting the quarterly
advisory fees payable under the Advisory Agreement or in cash if the credit was not fully utilized.  The Trust utilized 
$3,241,000 and $1,159,000 of this amount to offset the base management fee payable for the years ended December 31, 
2007 and 2006, respectively.  As of December 31, 2007, the Trust has fully utilized the credit to offset future base 
management fees. 

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Concord venture agreement provided that Concord would pay to such 
person, including a member of Concord or its affiliate, a fee in the amount not to exceed 50 basis points of the face value of 
any loan acquired.  In lieu of paying the full 50 basis point fee, Concord paid to an affiliate of FUR Advisors, a total fee of
approximately $1,066,000 which represented the costs of the employees dedicated to Concord’s business and equaled 
approximately 21 basis points of the face value of the loans acquired.  The fee for the period March 31, 2006 (the date of 
the Trust’s initial investment) to December 31, 2006 was $980,000.   

The Concord Advisor provides accounting, collateral management and loan brokerage services to Concord and its 
subsidiaries, including CDO-1.  For providing these services, Concord reimburses the Concord Advisor for the costs 
incurred by Concord Advisor solely for the benefit of Concord, including salaries of employees dedicated to Concord’s 
business.  These costs amounted to $2,571,000 and $1,066,000 in 2007 and 2006, respectively.  The fee for the period 
March 31, 2006 (the date of the Trust’s initial investment) to December 31, 2006 was $980,000.  An affiliate of both of 
FUR Advisors and the Concord Advisor provides accounting and other non-loan origination and loan acquisition services 
for the Concord Advisor.  In connection with providing these services, the Concord Advisor reimburses such affiliate for 
the estimated costs associated with providing these services (the “Concord Credit Amount”).  Because the Trust holds a 
50% interest in Concord, the Trust effectively pays 50% of the Concord Credit Amount.  Accordingly, because the 
Concord Credit Amount is paid to an affiliate of FUR Advisors, the Trust receives a credit against the advisory fee payable 
to FUR Advisors equal to 50% of the Concord Credit Amount, which credit amounted to $189,000 for 2007.   

20.  Business Segments 

SFAS No. 131 establishes standards for the way that public business enterprises report information about operating 
segments in financial statements and requires that those enterprises report selected financial information about operating 
segments in financial reports issued to shareholders. 

The Trust has determined that it has three reportable operating segments:  Operating Properties, Loan Assets and Loan 
Securities and REIT Equity Interests.  The reportable segments were determined based on the Trust’s method of internal 
reporting. 

The Operating Properties segment includes all of the Trust’s wholly and partially owned operating properties. 

The Loan Assets and Loan Securities segment includes all of the Trust’s activities related to senior and mezzanine real 
estate loans. 

The REIT Equity Interests segment includes all of the Trust’s activities related to the ownership of securities in other 
publicly traded real estate companies.   

In addition to our three business segments, the Trust reports non-segment specific income and expense under Corporate 
Income (Expense).  

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 2.
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20.  Business Segments (Continued) 

The following table presents a summary of the Trust’s assets held in each business segment for the years ended December 
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and capital expenditures incurred with respect to the Trust’s operating properties for the years 
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

  2007    2006   2005 

    (in thousands) 
Identifiable Assets               
    Operating properties   $ 293,241  $ 271,991   $ 244,902 
    Loan assets and loan securities    320,671   363,089     272,094 
    REIT equity interests    71,353   104,392     104,604 
    Other (1)    60,182   112,148     37,248 

           
Total Assets   $ 745,447  $ 851,620   $ 658,848 

         
Capital Expenditures           

Operating Properties   $ 1,755  $ 1,483   $ 684 

(1) Includes cash and cash equivalents. 

The following table presents a summary of revenues from Operating Properties, Loan Assets and Loan Securities and 
REIT Equity Interests and expenses incurred by each business segment for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 
2005.  The Trust defines net operating income for each segment presented as the segment’s revenue and other income less 
operating expenses.  Interest on cash reserves, general and administrative expenses and other non-segment specific income 
and expense items are reported under Corporate Income (Expense). 

   2007    2006   2005 

    (in thousands) 
Operating Properties               
    Rents and reimbursements  $ 40,470   $ 38,822  $ 25,454 
    Operating expenses   (5,851)    (4,054)    (1,205) 
    Real estate taxes   (2,139)    (1,879)    (220) 
    Loss on extinguishment of debt   (369)   (646)   - 
    Equity in loss of Sealy Northwest Atlanta, L.P.   (470)   (51)   - 
    Equity in loss of Sealy Airpark Nashville, L.P.   (936)   -   - 

         Net operating income    30,705    32,192   24,029 

         
Loan Assets and Loan Securities               
    Interest   7,826    12,962   3,664 
    Equity in earnings of preferred equity investment   11,836    6,849   4,066 
    Equity in earnings of Concord Debt Holdings, LLC   5,098   1,340   - 
    Gain on sale of limited partnership interest   1,997   -   - 
    Loan fee income   -    -   75 
    Provision for loss on loan receivable   (1,266)   -   - 

          Net operating income   25,491    21,151   7,805 
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20.  Business Segments (Continued) 

  2007    2006   2005 

    (in thousands) 
REIT Equity Interests               
    Dividends   3,003    1,073   1,622 
    Gain on sale of real estate securities   10,187    8,130   243 

      Impairment loss on available for sale securities   (18,218)   -   - 
      Assignment of exclusivity agreement – net lease assets   -   9,500   10,500 

    Equity in earnings of Newkirk Realty Trust   -    7,280   304 
    Gain on exchange of equity investment   -   9,285   - 
    Equity in loss of Lex-Win Acquisition, LLC   (45)   -   - 

           Net operating income (loss)   (5,073)    35,268   12,669 

           
Net Operating Income   51,123   88,611   44,503 

         
Less - Depreciation and Amortization   12,713    11,216   6,994 
           
Less - Interest Expense               
    Operating properties   14,369    14,304   12,475 
    Loans   6,377    8,258   2,515 
           
Corporate Income (Expense)               
    Interest income   3,149    1,630   2,111 
    General and administrative (1)   (8,341)    (2,680)   (5,949) 
    Interest expense   (10,731)    (8,495)   (5,912) 
    Legal settlement   -    -   11,000 
    State and local taxes   (417)    (234)   (500) 
    Other   700   530   - 

           
          
          
          

20.  Business Segments (Continued)          
          
Income from continuing operations before minority interest   2,024    45,584   23,269 
Minority interest   (578)    (2,764)   (179) 

           
Income from continuing operations   1,446    42,820   23,090 
Income from discontinued operations   1,035   116   531 

         
Net Income  $ 2,481  $ 42,936  $ 23,621 

         
 (1) After credits – See Note 19. 



WINTHROP REALTY TRUST (FORMERLY KNOWN AS FIRST UNION 

REAL ESTATE EQUITY AND MORTGAGE INVESTMENTS) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

100 

21. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following is an unaudited condensed summary of the results of operations by quarter for the years ended December 31, 
2007 and 2006.  The Trust believes all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) necessary to present fairly 
such interim combined results in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
have been included.

Quarters Ended

(In thousands, except per-share data) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

             
2007             
              
Revenues  $ 14,070  $ 14,844  $ 12,355  $        10,030 

Net income (loss)  $ 8,701  $ 12,776  $ 5,370  $ (24,366) 

Net income applicable to Common 
Shares $ 7,713 $ 10,764 $ 5,234 $ (24,366) 

Per share             
Net income (loss) applicable to 

Common Shares, basic $ 0.12 $ 0.16 $ 0.08 $ (0.37) 

Net income (loss) applicable to 
Common Shares, diluted $ 0.12 $ 0.16 $ 0.08 $ (0.37) 

             
2006                
                 
Revenues  $ 11,794  $ 13,226  $ 13,291  $ 14,713 

Net income  $ 10,163  $ 3,441  $ 5,186  $ 24,146 

Net income (loss) applicable to 
Common Shares $ 7,475 $ 3,441 $ 4,583 $ 19,025 

 Per share             
Net income (loss) applicable to 

Common Shares, basic $ 0.19 $ 0.08 $ 0.10 $ 0.32 

Net income (loss ) applicable to 
Common Shares, diluted $ 0.19 $ 0.08 $ 0.10 $ 0.32 

As noted in footnote 2, the Trust determined that the intangible assets were not being amortized over the appropriate tenant 

lease term. Amortization was understated by $1,024,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006 and by $256,000 for each 

of the quarters ended March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2007.  The Trust has concluded that the cumulative adjustment 

was not material to the quarter or the year ended December 31, 2007. As such, the cumulative effect which totaled 

$1,792,000 was recorded in the consolidated statement of operations as an out of period adjustment in the fourth quarter of 

2007. There was no associated net impact on our cash flow from operations for the year ended December 31, 2007. 

22.  Restatement 

On August 7, 2007, subsequent to the filing of the December 31, 2006 financial statements, the Trust concluded that it 
needed to correct the Trust’s previously reported net income per Common Share of Beneficial Interest– basic for the years 
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for certain interim periods within those years.  The Trust determined that its prior 
calculations of basic net income per common share had not appropriately considered the provisions of EITF 03-06 with 
respect to the dividend participation rights of the Series B-1 preferred shares, and that net income per Common Share of 
Beneficial Interest – basic should have been determined using the two-class method described in that pronouncement, as 
described in Note 21 (not presented herein) to the consolidated financial statements appearing under Item 8 of the 
Company's 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A filed on January 7, 2008.
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23. Subsequent Events

During the first quarter of 2008, a property in the Marc Realty portfolio, 600 West Jackson Street, was transferred pursuant 
to an installment sales contract.  Upon satisfaction of the remaining condition, the property will be conveyed for a purchase 
price of $14.5 million, subject to adjustment.  The entity that holds title to the property has already received $1,000,000 on 
account of the purchase price.  It is presently anticipated that the remaining condition will be satisfied during the second 
quarter of 2008.  

Also during the first quarter of 2008, a contract was entered into for the sale of the property in the Marc Realty portfolio 
located at 999 East Touhy for a gross purchase price of $11,600,000.  It is expected that this property will be sold during 
the first quarter of 2008. 

In January, the Trust sold all of its mortgage-backed securities available for sale resulting in a gain on sale of $233,000 and
the repayment of the then outstanding balance of the repurchase agreements for which the securities had been pledged as 
collateral. 
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2007.  Based on such evaluation, the 
Trust’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the 
Trust’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Trust’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting.   The Trust’s internal control over financial reporting is a process which was designed under the 
supervision of the Trust’s principal executive and principal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Trust’s financial statements for external 
reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As of December 31, 2007, the Trust’s management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Trust’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  The Trust’s management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in "Internal Control - Integrated Framework." 
Based on that assessment and those criteria, we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting is 
effective as of December 31, 2007.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets; provide 
reasonable assurances that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and the trustees of the Trust; and provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Trust’s 
assets that could have a material affect on our financial statements.

The effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited 
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report 
appearing in this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our last fiscal quarter that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

Required information is provided in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Required information is provided in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 

AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Required information is provided in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 

INDEPENDENCE.

Required information is provided in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

Required information is provided in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules.

(1) Financial Statements: 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on page 66 of Item 8. 

Management’s Report on Effectiveness of Internal Controls over Financial Reporting on page 107 of Item 9A. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets - December 31, 2007 and 2006 on page 68 of Item 8.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income - For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 
and 2005 on page 69 of Item 8. 

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity - For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 on page 
71 of Item 8. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 on page 72 of 
Item 8. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 74 through 106 of Item 8. 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules: 

Schedule III - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation. 

All Schedules, other than III, are omitted, as the information is not required or is otherwise furnished.

(b) Exhibits.

The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index on page 124 are filed as a part of this Report or incorporated by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Trust 
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

  WINTHROP REALTY TRUST

Dated: March 31, 2008 By: /s/ Michael L. Ashner

Michael L. Ashner

Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 31, 2008 By: /s/ Thomas Staples 

Thomas Staples

Chief Financial Officer
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SCHEDULE III  
REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  

(amounts in thousands)

The following is a reconciliation of real estate assets and accumulated depreciation:

Year Ended December 31, 

2007 2006  2005 

    
Real Estate          
   Balance at beginning of period          $   247,401 $     215,918  $     91,528 
   Additions during the period:          
        Consolidation of 5400 Westheimer                         - -   69,543 
        Consolidation of River City             11,138 - -
        Land                      666 6,915   1,591 
        Buildings and improvements                  7,085 24,568   53,256 
    
   Balance at end of period          $  266,290 $   247,401  $     215,918 
    
Accumulated Depreciation          
   Balance at beginning of period          $    12,932 $       9,267  $     4,750 
   Additions charged to operating expenses                 6,282  3,665   4,387 
   Consolidation of 5400 Westheimer                        -  -   130 
    
   Balance at end of period          $    19,214  $      12,932  $      9,267 
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Exhibit 31.1  
WINTHROP REALTY TRUST

FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

CERTIFICATIONS  

I, Michael L. Ashner, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Winthrop Realty Trust; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control 
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the 
period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control 
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and 
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the 
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent 
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the 
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal 
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who 
have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 31, 2008      /s/ Michael L. Ashner 
Michael L. Ashner 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 31.2

WINTHROP REALTY TRUST

FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

CERTIFICATIONS  

I, Thomas C. Staples, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K/A of Winthrop Realty Trust; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control 
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the 
period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control 
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and 
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the 
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial 
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent 
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the 
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal 
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who 
have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 31, 2008      /s/ Thomas C. Staples
Thomas C. Staples 
Chief Financial Officer 



114 

Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Winthrop Realty Trust (formerly known as First Union Real Estate 

Equity and Mortgage Investments (the “Company”) on Form 10-K/A for the annual period ended December 31, 
2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, in 
the capacities and on the date indicated below, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted, 
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements 
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the information contained in the 
Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 31, 2008      /s/ Michael L. Ashner 
Michael L. Ashner 
Chief Executive Officer 

Date: March 31, 2008      /s/ Thomas C. Staples
Thomas C. Staples 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 99.1 

CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and  

the Period March 31, 2006 (Inception) 

through December 31, 2006 
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CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC  

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm--------------------------------------------------------------- 117 

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007 and 2006------------------------------------------------------------- 118 

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and the Period March 31, 2006 
(Inception) through December 31, 2006 -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 119 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and the Period 
March 31, 2006 (Inception) through December 31, 2006 ------------------------------------------------------------------ 120 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Members’ Capital for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and the 
Period March 31, 2006 (Inception) through December 31, 2006 ---------------------------------------------------------- 121 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and the Period March 31, 2006 
(Inception) through December 31, 2006 -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 122 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements --------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 124
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Members of Concord Debt Holdings LLC:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations, 

comprehensive income, changes in members' capital and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of Concord Debt Holdings LLC at December 31, 2007 and the results of its operations and its cash 

flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit of these statements in 

accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).  Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 

estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our 

audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 

Boston, Massachusetts 

March 17, 2008 
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(Not covered by 

Auditor's Report)

December 31, December 31, 

2007 2006

Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,505                   52,131$                 

Restricted cash 5,589                     96,130                   

Real estate debt investments, net 952,035                 352,737                 

Available for sale securities 188,073                 98,133                   

Interest receivable 5,103                     2,215                     

Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization 7,054                     7,872                     

Other assets 613                        657                        

Total assets $ 1,171,972            609,875$              

Repurchase agreements $ 472,324                 43,893$                 

Collateralized debt obligations 376,650                 376,650                 

Other liabilities 11,605                   2,347                     

Due to related party 370                        370                        

Total liabilities 860,949                 423,260                 

Minority interest 102 100                        

Members' capital 327,702                 185,364                 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (16,781)                  1,151                     

Total members' capital 310,921                 186,515                 

Total liabilities and members' capital $ 1,171,972              609,875$               

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Assets:

Liabilities and Members' Capital:

(in thousands)
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(Not covered by 

Auditor's Report)

2007 2006

65,854$               13,212$                

Total income 65,854                 13,212                  

Interest 41,675                 9,356                    

11,028                 -                           

Fees and expenses paid to related party 2,802                   980                       

General and administrative 2,739                   592                       

Total expenses 58,244                 10,928                  

Other income:

Interest income on bank deposits 2,599                   396                       

10,209                 2,680                    

   Minority interest 13                        -                           

Net income 10,196$               2,680$                  

CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and  

the Period March 31, 2006 (Inception) to December 31, 2006

(in thousands)

Income:

Expenses:

Interest income on real estate debt investments 

    and available for sale securities

Income before minority interest

Impairment loss on available for sale securities 
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(in thousands)

(Not covered by 

Auditor's Report)

2007 2006

Net income $ 10,196                   2,680$                   

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges (9,580)                    635                        

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments classified as available for sale (8,352)                    516                        

Other comprehensive income (loss) (17,932)                  1,151                     

Comprehensive income (loss) $ (7,736)                  3,831$                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and 

the Period March 31, 2006 (Inception) to December 31, 2006
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Winthrop Lexington Total

Initial capitalization (see Note 1) 10,864$            10,864$            21,728$            

Contributions 80,478              80,478              160,956            

Net income 1,340                1,340                2,680                

Balance, December 31, 2006 92,682              92,682              185,364            

Contributions 76,071              76,071              152,142            

Distributions (10,000)            (10,000)            (20,000)            

Net income 5,098                5,098                10,196              

Balance, December 31, 2007 163,851$         163,851$         327,702$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

the Period March 31, 2006 (Inception) to December 31, 2006 (not covered by Auditor's Report)

(in thousands)

CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' CAPITAL

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and 
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(Not covered by 

Auditor's Report)

2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 10,196                           2,680$                          

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by 

operating activities

Amortization and accretion of interest (1,580)                           (473)                             

Amortization of deferred financing costs 922                                230                               

Impairment loss on available for sale securities 11,028                           -                                    

Minority interest 13                                  -                                    

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Interest receivable (2,888)                           (2,109)                          

Other assets (601)                              398                               

Other liabilities 702                                2,191                            

Net cash provided by operating activities 17,792                           2,917                            

Cash flows from investing activities:

Real estate debt investments purchased (715,660)                       (310,615)                      

Real estate debt investments repaid 117,699                         733                               

Available for sale securities purchased (120,269)                       (90,634)                        

Available for sale securities repaid 11,193                           4,250                            

Change in restricted cash 90,541                           (96,130)                        

Net cash used in investing activities (616,496)                       (492,396)                      

Cash flows from financing activities:

Cash relating to the formation of the entity -                                   138                              

Proceeds from repurchase agreements 563,224                         251,147                        

Payments on repurchase agreements (134,793)                       (239,279)                      

Proceeds from issuance of collateralized debt obligation -                                    376,650                        

Payment of deferred financing costs (95)                                (8,102)                          

Contributions from Members 152,142                         160,956                        

Distributions to members (20,000)                         -                                    

Contributions by minority interest 2                                    100                               

Distributions to minority interest (13)                                -                                    

Interest rate contract settlement (389)                              -                                    

Net cash provided by financing activities 560,078                         541,610                        

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (38,626)                         52,131                          

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 52,131                           -                                    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 13,505                         52,131$                       

Supplemental cash flow information:

Interest paid $ 40,453                         7,891$                         

CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

the Period March 31, 2006 (Inception) to December 31, 2006

(in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and 



123 

(Not covered by 

Auditor's Report)

2007 2006

Supplemental non cash investing and financing activities:

Contribution by Lexington:

Assets contributed

Cash and cash equivalents -$                       138$                       

Real estate debt investments -                         42,454                    

Available for sale securities -                         11,161                    

Interest receivable -                         106                         

Other assets -                         420                         

Total assets contributed -$                       54,279$                 

Liabilities contributed

Repurchase agreements -$                       32,025$                  

Other liabilities -                         156                         

Payable - related party -                         370                         

Total liabilities contributed -$                       32,551$                 

Net capital contributed -$                       21,728$                 

Winthrop initial contribution -$                       10,864$                  

Lexington initial contribution -                         10,864                    

Initial total capitalization -$                       21,728$                 

CONCORD DEBT HOLDINGS LLC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

the Period March 31, 2006 (Inception) to December 31, 2006

(in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007 and
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Note 1 - Description of Business and Basis of Presentation 

Concord Debt Holdings LLC (f/k/a 111 Debt Holdings LLC) (the “Company”) is a Delaware limited liability 
company that was formed on March 31, 2006.  The Company is owned 50% each by Winthrop Realty Trust 
("Winthrop") and Lexington Master Limited Partnership ("Lexington"), collectively the Members.  In 
connection with the formation of the Company, Lexington contributed existing real estate debt investments and 
other assets totaling $54,279,000 and repurchase agreements and other liabilities of $32,551,000, which had 
been acquired in anticipation of the formation of the venture.  Concurrently with the formation of the Company, 
Winthrop contributed $10,864,000 in exchange for 50% of the net equity of the Company at March 31, 2006.   

Through its wholly-owned direct and indirect subsidiaries, the Company acquires real estate whole loans and 
subordinate real estate debt investments such as B-notes, mezzanine loans and preferred equity, and 
commercial real estate securities including collateralized mortgage backed securities, collateralized debt 
obligations and real estate mortgage investment conduits. 

The Company formed Concord Debt Funding Trust (the “REIT”) on November 3, 2006.  The REIT issued 
100,000 common shares and 102 shares of 12% cumulative redeemable preferred shares.  The Company owns 
100% of the common shares while the preferred shares are owned by individuals associated with Winthrop and 
Lexington.  At any time after January 31, 2007, the REIT shall have the right to redeem the preferred shares if 
the Board of Trustees of the REIT determines that either (i) it is no longer required or necessary for the entity 
to qualify as a REIT or (ii) keeping the preferred shares outstanding is no longer necessary for the entity to 
qualify as a REIT. 

On December 21, 2006, the Company completed a non-recourse collateralized debt obligation (“CDO”) 
transaction, whereby certain real estate related and other assets were contributed to a  newly-formed 
consolidated subsidiary, Concord Real Estate CDO 2006-1 Ltd (the “Issuer”), which wholly owns Concord 
Real Estate CDO 2006-1 LLC (the “Co-Issuer”).  The Issuer and Co-Issuer issued $413,850,000 of investment 
grade floating-rate notes and $51,150,000 of preferred shares.  These proceeds were used to repay outstanding 
debt under the Company's repurchase agreements and resulted in a decreased cost of funds relating to the assets 
contributed to the CDO.  The REIT retained ownership of the preferred shares, $18,600,000 of the Class G 
notes and $18,600,000 of the Class H notes. 

The Members have committed to contribute up to $162,500,000.  Each Member has funded $157,413,000 of 
their total commitment to the Company as of December 31, 2007.   

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, and its subsidiaries, which are 
either majority owned or controlled by the Company.   In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards 
Board Interpretation No. 46 (Revised), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, the Company identifies 
entities for which control is achieved through means other than through voting rights (a "variable interest 
entity" or "VIE") and determines when and which business enterprise, if any, should consolidate the VIE.  In 
addition, the Company discloses information pertaining to such entities wherein the Company is the primary 
beneficiary or other entities wherein the Company has a significant variable interest.  All significant 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.   
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Use of Estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
in determining the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during 
the reporting period.  Significant estimates in the consolidated financial statements include the valuation of the 
Company's real estate debt investments and available for sale securities and estimates pertaining to credit.  
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less are considered to be cash 
equivalents.  The Company places its cash and cash equivalents in major financial institutions.   

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Company maintains cash deposits and restricted cash deposits with major financial institutions, which 
from time to time may exceed federally insured limits. The Company believes it mitigates risk of loss by 
maintaining its cash deposits with major financial institutions.  To date, the Company has not experienced any 
losses of its cash deposits.  Real estate debt investments and available for sale securities can potentially subject 
the Company to concentrations of credit risk.  Management of the Company performs ongoing credit 
evaluations of borrowers and valuations of the real property and interests that collateralize the Company's 
investments. The Company does not believe that these concentrations of credit risk represent a material risk of 
loss with respect to its financial position.  

Restricted Cash

The Company had restricted cash of $5,589,000 and $96,130,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006 on deposit in 
escrow accounts.  During 2006, the restricted cash balance primarily represented the proceeds of the CDO (see 
Note 6) which was used to purchase new loans and investments as additional collateral, as necessary, for the 
CDO.  During 2007, the restricted cash consisted of $589,000 of proceeds from the repayment of principal of 
real estate debt investments that the Company is required to reinvest under the terms of its CDO indenture, 
$3,000,000 held in an escrow account as collateral for the Company’s repurchase agreements and $2,000,000 
held by an escrow agent for the funding of future lending commitments for certain real estate debt investments. 

Real Estate Debt Investments

Management considers all of its real estate debt investments to be held for investment or held to maturity.  
Such investments are recorded at cost.  Discounts and premiums on purchased assets are amortized over the 
life of the investment using the effective interest method.  The amortization is reflected as an adjustment to 
interest income.  Other costs incurred in connection with acquiring loans, such as marketing and administrative 
costs, are charged to expense as incurred. 

Allowances for real estate debt investment losses are established based upon a periodic review of the 
investments.  This evaluation is inherently subjective as it requires material estimates, all of which may be 
subject to significant change; accordingly, the amounts ultimately realized from the real estate debt 
investments may differ materially from the carrying value at the balance sheet date.  In performing this review, 
management considers the estimated net recoverable value of its loans through an evaluation of several factors 
including the fair market value of the collateral, the amount and status of any senior debt, the prospects for the 
borrower, economic conditions and trends, and historical and industry loss experience.  The Company has 
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experienced no losses on its real estate debt investments since its inception.  As of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, no allowance for real estate investment losses has been established.   

Real estate debt investments are considered impaired when it is probable that the Company will be unable to 
collect all amounts due according to the terms of the relevant loan agreement.  Loans for which payment or 
maturity default has been declared are generally considered impaired.  The Company had no real estate debt 
investments which were considered impaired at December 31, 2007. 

The Company invests in certain preferred equity interests in entities that have interest in real estate that, in 
some cases, allow the Company to participate in a percentage of the underlying property’s cash flows from 
operations and proceeds, if any, from a sale or refinancing.  At the inception of each such investment, 
management must determine whether such investment should be accounted for as a loan, joint venture or as 
real estate.  To date, management has determined that all such investments are accounted for and reported as 
loans. 

Available for Sale Securities   

The Company determines the appropriate classification of its investment in securities at the time of purchase 
and reevaluates such determination at each balance sheet date.  Securities for which the Company does not 
have the intent or ability to hold to maturity are classified as available for sale.  Securities available for sale are 
carried at estimated fair value with the net unrealized gains or losses reported as a component of accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statement of members' capital.  The Company's 
investments in available for sale securities are relatively illiquid and their value must be estimated by 
management.  Fair value is based primarily upon broker quotes and estimates made by management based on 
available market information.   

When the fair value of an available for sale security declines to an amount below its amortized cost basis, 
management considers whether the fair value of the security is other than temporarily impaired.  Other than 
temporary impairment losses are deemed to exist if management believes the cost basis of its investment is not 
recoverable, generally within the next year.  If other than temporary impairment is deemed to exist, the cost 
basis of the security is written down to its then current fair value and corresponding realized loss is charged to 
earnings.  

Deferred Financing Costs 

Fees and costs incurred to obtain long-term financing have been deferred and are being amortized on the 
straight line method over the terms of the related financing, which approximates the effective interest method.  

Minority Interest

Minority interest represents the preferred shareholders’ interest in the REIT.  The preferred dividend payable to 
the preferred shareholders is reflected as an expense in the accompanying income statement. 

Members’ Capital 

Capital contributions, distributions and profits and losses are allocated in accordance with the terms of the 
limited liability company agreement. 

Revenue Recognition

Interest income from the Company’s real estate debt investments is recognized on an accrual basis over the life 
of the investment using the effective interest method.  
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When, in the opinion of management, full recovery of principal and interest of a loan becomes doubtful, 
accrual basis income recognition is suspended and income for such loans is recognized on the cash basis as 
proceeds are received.  Income recognition on the accrual basis is resumed when the loan becomes 
contractually current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed.   

Interest income from debt securities available for sale is recognized on the accrual basis of accounting over the 
life of the investment on a yield-to-maturity basis. 

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is recorded in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 130, “Reporting 
Comprehensive Income” which establishes standards for reporting comprehensive income (loss) and its 
components in the financial statements. Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of net income, as presented 
in the consolidated statements of operations, adjusted for changes in unrealized gains or losses on debt 
securities available for sale and changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments accounted for as 
cash flow hedges. 

Income Taxes

The REIT, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company, is organized and conducts its operations to qualify as a 
real estate investment trust and to comply with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code with respect 
thereto.  A real estate investment trust is generally not subject to federal income tax on the portion of its REIT 
taxable income (“Taxable Income”), which is distributed to its stockholders, provided that at least 90% of 
Taxable Income is distributed and certain other requirements are met.   

Income taxes are not considered in the accompanying consolidated financial statements since the Company is 
not a taxable entity.  Taxes on income, as applicable, are the responsibility of the individual Members; 
accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes has been recorded. 

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

In the normal course of business, the Company uses derivative instruments to manage, or hedge interest rate 
risk. The Company recognizes derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and 
measures those instruments at fair value. The fair value adjustments made each period will affect the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company differently depending on whether the derivative instrument 
qualifies as a hedge for accounting purposes and, if so, the nature of the hedging activity. 

The Company generally enters into cash flow hedges and must designate them at the time of entering into the 
derivative. The derivatives entered into by the Company are intended to qualify as hedges under accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States, unless specifically stated otherwise. Toward this end, the 
terms of hedges are matched closely to the terms of hedged items. The Company assesses the effectiveness of 
the cash flow hedges both at inception and on an on-going basis and determines whether the hedge is highly 
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item. For qualifying hedges, the Company records 
the effective portion of changes in the estimated fair value in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
and subsequently reclassifies the related amount of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to earnings 
over the life of the hedged item when the hedging transaction occurs. The ineffective amount of the hedge 
agreements, if any, is recorded in earnings.  If it is determined that a derivative has ceased to be a highly 
effective hedge, the Company will discontinue hedge accounting for such transaction. 

With respect to derivative instruments that have not been designated as hedges, any net payments under, or 
fluctuations in the fair value of, such derivatives are recognized currently in income. 
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The Company’s derivative financial instruments contain credit risk to the extent that its bank counterparties 
may be unable to meet the terms of the agreements. The Company minimizes such risk by limiting its 
counterparties to major financial institutions with good credit ratings. In addition, the potential risk of loss with 
any one party resulting from this type of credit risk is monitored. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In June 2007, the Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“AICPA”) issued Statement of Position 07-1, “Clarification of the Scope of the Audit and 
Accounting Guide Investment Companies and Accounting by Parent Companies and Equity Method Investors 
for Investments in Investment Companies” (“SOP 07-1”). SOP 07-1 addresses when the accounting principles 
of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide “Investment Companies” must be applied by an entity and whether 
investment company accounting must be retained by a parent company in consolidation or by an investor in the 
application of the equity method of accounting. In addition, SOP 07-1 includes certain disclosure requirements 
for parent companies and equity method investors in investment companies that retain investment company 
accounting in the parent company’s consolidated financial statements or the financial statements of an equity 
method investor. On February 14, 2008, FSP SOP 07-1-1 was issued to delay indefinitely the effective date of 
SOP 07-1 and prohibit adoption of SOP 07-1 for an entity that has not early adopted SOP 07-1 before issuance 
of the final FSP. The Company has determined that it is not an investment company under the provisions of 
SOP 07-1 and does not expect to retain specialized investment company accounting for any of its consolidated 
or equity method investments where the investment entity may be deemed an investment company.  

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS No. 157”). SFAS 
No. 157 provides guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. This statement clarifies the 
principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing 
the asset or liability. SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy, giving the highest priority to quoted 
prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable data. SFAS No. 157 applies whenever other 
standards require assets or liabilities to be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 157 also provides for certain 
disclosure requirements, including, but not limited to, the valuation techniques used to measure fair value and a 
discussion of changes in valuation techniques, if any, during the period. This statement is effective in fiscal 
years beginning after November 15, 2007, except for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities that are 
not recognized or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis, for which the effective date is fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company believes that the adoption of this standard will not have a 
material effect on its financial position and results of operations.  

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and 

Financial Liabilities” (“SFAS 159”), which gives entities the option to measure eligible financial assets, 
financial liabilities and firm commitments at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis, that are otherwise 
not permitted to be accounted for at fair value under other accounting standards. The election to use the fair 
value option is available when an entity first recognizes a financial asset or financial liability or upon entering 
into a firm commitment. Subsequent changes (i.e., unrealized gains and losses) in fair value must be recorded 
in earnings. Additionally, SFAS 159 allows for a one-time election for existing positions upon adoption, with 
the transition adjustment recorded to beginning retained earnings. This statement is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company does not expect to adopt SFAS 159.  

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” ("SFAS 
141(R)"), which establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer shall recognize and measure in its 
financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the 
acquiree and goodwill acquired in a business combination. This statement is effective for business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period 
beginning on or after December 15, 2008. This statement will have no impact on the Company unless 
management enters into a business combination after January 1, 2009. 
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In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial 
Statements — an Amendment of ARB No. 51” ("SFAS 160"), which establishes and expands accounting and 
reporting standards for minority interests, which will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests, in a 
subsidiary and the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is effective for business combinations for which 
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 
December 15, 2008. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  The 
Company is currently assessing the potential impact that the adoption of SFAS 160 will have on its financial 
position and results of operations.  

In February 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 140-3, or FSP 140-3, “Accounting for Transfers of 
Financial Assets and Repurchase Financing Transactions.”  FSB 140-3 provides guidance on the accounting 
for a purchase of a financial asset from a counterparty and contemporaneous financing of the acquisition 
through repurchase agreements with the same counterparty.  Under this guidance, the purchase and related 
financing are linked, unless all of the following conditions are met at the inception of the transaction:  1) the 
purchase and corresponding financing are not contractually contingent; 2) the repurchase financing provides 
recourse; 3) the financial asset and repurchase financing are readily obtainable in the marketplace and are 
executed at market rates; and 4) the maturity of financial asset and repurchase are not conterminous.  A linked 
transaction would require a determination under FAS 140 to conclude if the transaction meets the requirements 
for sale accounting.  If the linked transaction does not meet sale accounting requirements, the net investment in 
the linked transaction is to be recorded as a derivative with the corresponding change in fair value of the 
derivative being recorded through earnings.  The value of the derivative would reflect changes in the value of 
the underlying debt investments and changes in the value of the underlying credit provided by the counterparty.  
The Company currently presents these transactions gross, with the acquisition of the financial assets in total 
assets and the related repurchase agreements as financing in total liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets 
and the interest income earned on the debt investments and interest expense incurred on the repurchase 
obligations are reported gross on the consolidated income statements.  FAS 140-3 is effective for financial 
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008.  The Company is currently evaluating 
the effect, if any, that this pronouncement will have on its future financial position or results of operations.  

Note 3 - Real Estate Debt Investments  

The following table is a summary of the Company’s real estate debt investment at December 31, 2007 and 
2006: 

Unpaid Principal 
December 31, 2007 

(in thousands)
Loan 
Count

Weighted Average 
Interest Rate (%)

Weighted 
Average Years 

to Maturity
     
Whole loans $183,460 8    6.72 1.96 
B-notes 316,140 18 7.00 2.13 
Mezzanine loans 469,453 29 7.01 3.63 
Discount on loans   (17,018)    
Total loans $952,035    
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Unpaid Principal 
December 31, 2006 

(in thousands)
Loan 
Count

Weighted Average 
Interest Rate (%)

Weighted 
Average Years to 

Maturity
     
Whole loans $   83,900 4 6.93    5.15 
B-notes 136,536 7 7.89 3.55 
Mezzanine loans 109,554 10 8.00 4.44 
Preferred equity investments      30,000 1 8.50 0.53 
Discount on loans     (7,253)    
Total loans $ 352,737    
     

The following table sets forth the maturity dates for the real estate debt investments at December 31, 2007: 

Year of Maturity 
 Number of Loan 

Assets Maturity 
  Carrying Value 

(in thousands) 

      
2008  15  $ 310,683 
2009  13   254,582 
2010  7   128,368 
2011  2   27,200 
2012  4   77,985 
Thereafter  14   153,217 

      
Total  55  $ 952,035 

      

Whole loans are loans to borrowers who are typically seeking short term capital to be used in an acquisition of 
property and are predominantly collateralized by first mortgage liens on the property.  B-Notes are junior 
positions of whole loans. 

Mezzanine loans are loans that are subordinate to a conventional first mortgage loan and senior to the 
borrower’s equity in a transaction.  These loans may be in the form of a junior participating interest in the 
senior debt.  Mezzanine financing may take the form of loans secured by pledges of ownership interests in 
entities that directly or indirectly control the real property or subordinated loans collateralized by second 
mortgage liens on the property. 

Preferred equity investment is another form of financing in which preferred equity investments are made in 
entities that directly or indirectly own real property.  In cases where the terms of a first mortgage prohibit 
additional liens on the ownership entity, investments structured as preferred equity in the entity owning the 
property serve as viable financing substitutes.  With preferred equity investments, the Company typically 
becomes a special limited partner or member in the ownership entity.  During 2006, the Company acquired a 
preferred equity interest in a venture for $30,000,000 which was subsequently redeemed in 2007.   

In 2007 and 2006, no single loan or investment represented 10% or more of the Company’s total assets.  In 
2007, no single loan represented 10% or more of the Company’s revenue.  Two loans generated approximately 
25.0% of revenue in 2006. 
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Note 4 - Available for Sale Securities 

The Company's portfolio of available for sale securities was comprised of purchased beneficial interests in 38 
commercial mortgage-backed securities ("CMBS"), and 3 collateralized debt obligations ("CDO").  The 
following is a summary of the Company’s available for sale securities at December 31, 2007 (in thousands): 

December 31, 
2007 Face Value Carrying Value

Impairment 
Loss

Unrealized
Loss

Estimated Fair 
Value

      
CMBS $  174,405 $  173,810 $              - $    (7,836) $    165,974 
CDO       35,000       33,127    (11,028)                -        22,099
Total available 
for sale securities $  209,405 $  206,937 $ (11,028) $   (7,836) $   188,073

During the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company's portfolio of available for sale securities experienced 
declines in fair value to amounts below their amortized cost basis totaling approximately $18,864,000.  For 
three available for sale securities, the Company determined that the decline in fair value was other than 
temporary in nature as defined by FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and 

Equity Securities and related interpretations.  Accordingly, the Company has written-down its cost basis of 
these securities to their estimated fair values at December 31, 2007 and has recognized in earnings impairment 
losses on the other than temporary impairment of these securities totaling $11,028,000.   

Unrealized losses represent declines in the fair value of available for sale securities that the Company did not 
consider other than temporary impaired at December 31, 2007.  There were approximately 37 securities 
comprising the unrealized loss balance of $7,836,000 that  had been in an unrealized loss position for less than 
12 months and were not considered other than temporarily impaired. 

In assessing whether declines in the fair value of available for sale securities represent other than temporary 
impairment, the Company considered the duration and extent of unrealized losses, its ability to hold such 
securities until a full recovery of its cost basis, and the financial prospects of the collateral underlying the 
CMBS and CDO securities.   

The following is a summary of the Company's available for sale securities at December 31, 2006 (in 
thousands): 

December 31, 2006 Face Value
Carrying 

Value
Unrealized

Gain
Unrealized

Loss
Estimated Fair 

Value
      
CMBS $         77,566 $       76,924 $              50  $            (25) $          76,949 
CDO            22,500          20,693               577              (86)             21,184
Total available for sale 
securities $       100,066 $       97,617 $            627 $          (111) $          98,133

Note 5 - Variable Interest Entities 

The Company has evaluated its real estate debt investments to determine whether they constitute a variable 
interest in a variable interest entity (“VIE”).  FIN 46 requires a VIE to be consolidated by its primary 
beneficiary (“PB”).  The PB is the party that absorbs a majority of the VIE’s anticipated losses and/or a 
majority of the expected returns. 

At December 31, 2007, the Company held five real estate debt investments with aggregate carrying amounts 
totaling $87,948,000 that were considered variable interests in variable interest entities.  At December 31,  
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2006, the Company held four real estate debt investments with aggregate carrying amounts totaling 
$44,063,000 that were considered variable interests in variable interest entities. 

For these variable interests, the Company has determined it is not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and as 
such, the VIEs should not be consolidated in the Company’s financial statements.  The Company estimates that 
its maximum exposure to loss under these arrangements would not exceed the carrying amount of such 
investments at December 31, 2007.   

Note 6 - Repurchase Agreements 

The following table outlines borrowings under the Company’s repurchase agreements as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006: 

 2007 2006 

 Debt Carrying 
Value

Collateral 
Carrying Value 

Debt Carrying 
Value

Collateral 
Carrying Value 

 (in thousands) 
Greenwich Capital Financial Properties, 
matures on December 30, 2012,  
interest is variable based on 1-month 
LIBOR rate plus 1% or 5.85%.     $   59,613    $       70,146     $            -     $            - 
     
Greenwich Capital Financial Properties, 
matures on December 15, 2008, interest 
is variable based on 1-month LIBOR rate 
plus 1% or 5.9%.          39,079 

              

            55,827 - -

     
Column Financial Inc., matures on 
March 9, 2009, interest is variable 
based on 1-month LIBOR plus 1%, the 
rate was 5.95%.      16,414            25,270 

                   

                   - -
     
Column Financial Inc., $350 million 
committed line, expiration March 30, 
2009, interest is variable based on 1-
month LIBOR plus 0.85% to 1.35%, the 
weighted average was 5.84% and 6.7%, 
respectively.   308,508          412,561 

          

          30,293 

          

           47,250 
     
Bear, Stearns Funding, Inc., $150 
million committed line, expiration 
November 15, 2008, interest is variable 
based on 1-month LIBOR plus 0.85% to 
1.15%, the weighted average was 5.49% 
and 5.67%, respectively.         48,710           83,258         13,600          17,000
     
Total repurchase agreements  $   472,324   $    647,062   $      43,893    $      64,250
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In certain circumstances, the Company has financed the purchase of its real estate debt investments and 
available for sale securities from a counterparty through a repurchase agreement with the same counterparty.  
The Company currently records these investments in the same manner as other investments financed with debt, 
with the investment recorded as an asset and the related borrowing as a liability on the Company's consolidated 
balance sheets.  Any change in fair value of the investment is reported through other comprehensive income 
pursuant to FAS 115.  Interest income earned on the investments and interest expense incurred on the 
repurchase obligations are reported separately on the consolidated statements of operations. 

At December 31, 2007, the carrying amount of the Company’s repurchase agreements exceeded their fair value 
by approximately $69,194,000.  The Company believes the estimated fair value of the Repurchase Agreements 
approximates their carrying value at December 31, 2006.   

The Company’s repurchase agreements contain covenants that are both financial and non-financial in nature.  
Significant financial covenants require Concord to maintain certain loan to asset value ratios, a minimum net 
worth and minimum liquidity.  At December 31, 2007, Concord was in compliance with its covenants.  In 
addition, all of the repurchase facilities require that Concord pay down borrowings under these facilities as 
principal payments on the loan assets and loan securities pledge to these facilities are received. 

Note 7 - Collateralized Debt Obligations 

The Issuer holds assets, consisting primarily of whole loans, mezzanine loans and available for sale securities 
totaling approximately $464,601,000, which serve as collateral for the CDO.  The Issuer issued investment 
grade rated notes with a principal amount of approximately $376,650,000 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company purchased the G and H tranches and preferred equity interests of the Issuer.  The seven 
investment grade tranches were issued with floating rate coupons with a combined weighted average rate of 
5.37% and 5.825% at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.  The Company has the ability to contribute 
additional assets to the Issuer through December 31, 2011 in order to replenish the assets of the Issuer to the 
extent that an asset of the Issuer is repaid prior to such date.  Thereafter, the outstanding debt balance will be 
reduced as loans are repaid.  The Company incurred approximately $7,774,000 of issuance costs which is 
being amortized on a straight line basis over the average estimated life of the Issuer, estimated to be 
approximately 10 years.  The Company intends to own the portfolio of real estate-related assets until its 
maturity and accounts for this transaction on its balance sheet as a financing facility.  For accounting purposes, 
the Issuer is consolidated in the Company’s financial statements.  The seven investment grade tranches are 
treated as a secured financing, and are non-recourse to the Company.  Interest proceeds received from 
investments collateralizing the Issuer’s CDO are distributed to holders of the Issuer's CDO notes on a monthly 
basis.

Proceeds from the sale of the seven investment grade tranches issued in the CDO were used to repay 
outstanding debt under the Company’s repurchase agreements.  The assets pledged as collateral were 
contributed from the Company’s existing portfolio of assets. 

The Company’s CDO contains covenants that are both financial and non-financial in nature.  Significant 
covenants include cash coverage and collateral quality tests.  The Company had no covenant violations at 
December 31, 2007. 

At December 31, 2007, the carrying amount of the Issuer's CDO notes exceeded their estimated fair value by 
approximately $61,697,000.  The Company believes the estimated fair value of the CDO notes approximates 
their carrying value at December 31, 2006. 
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Note 8 - Derivative Financial Instruments 

Risk Management 

The Company uses derivatives primarily to manage interest risk exposure.  These derivatives are typically in 
the form of interest rate swap agreements and the primary objective is to minimize interest rate risks associated 
with the Company’s investment and financing activities.  The counterparties of these arrangements are major 
financial institutions with which the Company may also have other financial relationships.  The Company is 
exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by these counterparties; however, the Company does not 
anticipate that any of the counterparties will fail to meet their obligations because of their high credit ratings.  
The objective in using interest rate derivatives is to add stability to interest expense and to manage exposure to 
interest rate movements.   The Company does not intend to utilize derivatives for speculative purposes but only 
for interest rate risk management.   

The following is a summary of derivative financial instruments held by the Company as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006: (in thousands) 

December 31, 2007: 

Notional Expiration Fair 

Hedge Designation Swap Rate Value Date Value

Interest Rate Swap Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 4.917% 90,152$         8/25/2016 (3,518)$

Interest Rate Swap Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 4.893% 47,735           11/25/2016 (1,737)

Interest Rate Swap Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 4.921% 6,075             3/1/2012 (221)

Interest Rate Swap Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 5.112% 15,300           2/1/2017 (695)

Interest Rate Swap Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 5.469% 18,000           3/1/2012 (1,033)

Interest Rate Swap Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 5.710% 15,000           12/1/2016 (1,352)

Interest Rate Swap Non Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 5.742% 11,000 7/14/2016 (941)

203,262$      (9,497)$

December 31, 2006: 

Notional Expiration Fair 

Hedge Designation Swap Rate Value Date Value

Interest Rate Swap Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 4.917% 90,152$          8/25/2016 608$          

Interest Rate Swap Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 4.853% 3,278              12/6/2013 27              

Interest Rate Swap Non Qualifying Cash Flow hedge 5.742% 11,000            7/14/2016 (486)           

104,430$       149$         

At December 31, 2007, $9,497,000 is included in other liabilities.  At December 31, 2006, $635,000 is 
included in other assets and $486,000 is included in other liabilities.  Over the next twelve months, the 
Company expects to reclassify as additional interest expense approximately $1,913,000 from accumulated 
other comprehensive income.   
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Included in interest expense are net settlements and market value fluctuations of derivative investments that 
have not been designated as hedges totaling $455,000 and $3,159,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007 
and for the period March 31, 2006 (inception) through December 31, 2006.  

Credit Risk Concentrations

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of borrowers, tenants or issuers related to the Company’s 
investments are engaged in similar business activities or located in the same geographic location to be similarly 
affected by changes in economic conditions.  The Company monitors its portfolio to identify potential 
concentrations of credit risk.  The Company believes its portfolio is reasonably well diversified and does not 
contain any unusual concentration of credit risks.  The Company’s real estate debt investments contain 
concentrations in the following asset types as of December 31, 2007: office 45.6%, hospitality 37.8%, mixed 
use 5.2%, retail 1.6%, industrial 2.6% and multifamily 7.2%. 

Note 9 - Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company is required to disclose the fair values of its financial instruments under the provisions of SFAS 
No. 107, Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments.  The fair value of a financial instrument is the 
amount at which an instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than 
in a forced sale or liquidation.  The Company utilizes quoted market prices, if available, as estimates of the fair 
value of financial instruments.  Because quoted market prices are not available for several of the Company's 
financial instruments, the fair values of such instruments have been derived based on management estimates 
about the amounts and timing of future cash flows as well as estimated discount rates.  Different assumptions 
could significantly affect these estimates.  Accordingly, net realizable values could differ materially from 
estimated amounts.  

Available for sale securities - The Company has estimated the fair value of such securities using a 
combination of broker quotations and management estimates of fair value based on available market 
information.   

Repurchase agreements and collateralized debt obligation - The Company's repurchase agreements and 
collateralized debt obligation bear interest at fixed credit spreads over LIBOR, which could differ from 
prevailing market credit spreads.  The Company estimated the fair value of its debt obligations using current 
market spreads at which the Company believes it could enter into similar financing. 

Interest rate contracts - The fair value of the Company's interest rate swap contracts is derived from the 
estimated amount at which the Company would receive or pay to terminate the contracts as of December 31, 
2007.   

Note 10 - Dividends

In order for the Company's consolidated subsidiary, Concord Debt Funding Trust (the "Trust"), to maintain its 
election to qualify as a REIT, it must distribute, at a minimum, an amount equal to 90% of its taxable income 
and must distribute 100% of its taxable income to avoid paying corporate federal income taxes.  The Company 
expects that the Trust will distribute all of its taxable income to its shareholders.  Because taxable income 
differs from cash flow from operations due to non-cash revenues and expenses, the Company may generate 
operating cash flow in amounts below or in excess of its dividends.   

At December 31, 2007, the Company’s net members’ capital was $322,890,000 for federal tax reporting as 
compared to $310,921,000 for financial reporting purposes. 
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Note 11 – Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) reflected in members' 
capital is comprised of the following: 

  December 31, 
2007 

 December 31, 
2006 

Unrealized (losses) / gains on cash flow hedges   $     (8,945)  $    635 
Unrealized (losses) / gains on available-for-sale securities   (7,836)  516 

     $   (16,781)   $ 1,151 

     

Note 12 - Related Party Transactions 

During the period ended December 31, 2006, the Company’s joint venture agreement provided that the 
Company would pay to such person, including a member of the Company or its affiliate, a fee in the amount 
not to exceed 50 basis points of the face value of any loan acquired.  In lieu of paying the full 50 basis point fee, 
the Company paid to Winthrop Realty Partners, L.P. (“WRP”), an affiliate of Michael L. Ashner, Winthrop’s 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Lexington’s Executive Chairman and Director of Strategic 
Acquisitions, a total fee of approximately $980,000 which represented the costs of the employees dedicated to 
the Company’s loan acquisition business.  The compensation arrangement was modified effective January 1, 
2007. 

Effective January 1, 2007, WRP Management LLC (“WRP Management”), an entity owned 50% each by 
Winthrop and Lexington, was retained to provide accounting, collateral management and loan brokerage 
services to the Company and its subsidiaries, including Concord Real Estate CDO 2006-1 Ltd.  For providing 
these services, WRP Management is entitled to receive certain compensation based on the assets acquired by 
the Company and the gross amount of each collateral debt obligation or collateral mortgage backed securities 
offering made by the Company or its subsidiaries.  In addition, WRP Management is entitled to receive an 
incentive fee which is effectively equal to 25% of net profits of the Company and WRP Management after a 
10% cumulative annual compounding return on the then equity invested in the Company for such period.  In 
turn, WRP Management is required to pay substantially all of these amounts to its employees who are 
dedicated exclusively to the Company and to cover certain expenses incurred by WRP Management in 
providing such services. 

For the year ended December 31, 2007, the total amount of the compensation contractually due to WRP 
Management was $3,427,000, which was based on a gross amount of loan assets acquired and the net 
outstanding balance of the CDO collateral.  However, WRP Management waived its rights to approximately 
$625,000 of such compensation and, in lieu of the full fee, the Company paid to WRP Management $2,802,000 
which consisted of $2,571,000 in fees related to asset acquisitions and management of the CDO collateral and 
$231,000 for general and administrative expenses.  Additionally, effective January 1, 2007, WRP Management 
retained WRP Sub-Management LLC (“WRP Sub-Management”), a subsidiary of WRP, to perform the 
accounting collateral management and loan brokerage services. WRP Sub-Management was paid for certain 
direct costs incurred associated with advising and managing the Company, including loan brokerage and 
marketing services totaling approximately $1,872,000, accounting and other back office services totaling 
approximately $699,000. 

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company owes Lexington $370,000. 
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Note 13 - Subsequent Events 

Subsequent to December 31, 2007, one real estate debt investment held by the Company, its $44,000,000 
interest in the most senior mezzanine loan secured by a portfolio of four office buildings in New York City 
owned by an entity owned and controlled by Harry Macklowe, went into default when the loan matured and 
remained unpaid.  The Company believes that there is more than sufficient value in the properties 
collateralizing this loan to enable the loan to ultimately be satisfied in full. 

On March 3, 2008 the Company amended its $350,000,000 master repurchase agreement with Column 
Financial Inc., extending the termination date to March 30, 2009 or March 30, 2011 if the total advances under 
the agreement are less than $200,000,000 with an advance rate of 55% or less of the market value of the assets 
collateralizing the agreement. 

On March 7, 2008 the Company entered into a $100,000,000 secured revolving credit facility with KeyBank 
National Association.  The credit facility enables the Company to finance existing unlevered assets as well as 
new assets acquired by the Company.  The initial maximum borrowings under the loan are $100,000,000, 
expandable to $350,000,000, upon compliance with certain conditions.  Borrowings under the facility will bear 
interest at spreads over LIBOR ranging from 1.75% to 2.25%, depending on the underlying loan asset or debt 
security for which such borrowing is made. The facility, inclusive of extension rights, will mature in March 
2011. 

Subsequent to December 31, 2007 through March 17, 2008, the Company has paid approximately $14,687,000 

in margin calls on its repurchase agreements.
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December 31, 2007 and 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Partners of
Chicago Properties 

In our opinion, the accompanying combined balance sheets of the properties known as the Chicago 
Properties as of December 31, 2007, and the related combined statement of revenues, expenses and 
members’ deficit, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2007 present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Chicago Properties at December 31, 2007 and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Properties’ management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audits. 

We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. Chicago Properties is not 
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of internal control over financial reporting.  An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion.  

As described in Note 1 to the financial statements, management has elected to change its policy for reporting 
residual assets for properties sold in 2007. 

/s/ Tauber & Balser 
Atlanta, Georgia 
March 24, 2008 
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CHICAGO PROPERTIES 

COMBINED BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006 

 ($ IN THOUSANDS) 

(Not Covered by

Auditor's Report)

ASSETS

  Investments in real estate, at cost

    Land $ 37,735                      $ 34,794                          

    Buildings and improvements 173,905                    151,415                        

    Construction in progress 21                             2,740                            

211,661                    188,949                        

    Less:  Accumulated depreciation (42,906)                     (41,030)                         

  Investments in real estate, net 168,755                    147,919                        

  Cash 3,290                        1,861                            

  Restricted cash 7,858                        5,491                            

  Tenant receivable, net of allowance of $4,275 and $4,912,

       respectively 507                           45                                 

  Deferred rent receivable 10,944                      10,711                          

  Lease commissions and loan fees, net 10,947                      7,979                            

  Lease intangibles, net 9,986                        7,385                            

  Prepaid expenses 588                           404                               

  Other assets 85                             1,050                            

       TOTAL ASSETS $ 212,960                    $ 182,845                        

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' DEFICIT

  Mortgage & other notes payable $ 278,868                    $ 259,547                        

  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17,383                      18,194                          

  Below market lease intangibles, net 7,942                        1,160                            

  Tenant security deposits and advanced rental deposits 2,834                        4,241                            

       TOTAL LIABILITIES 307,027                    283,142                        

MEMBERS' DEFICIT $ (94,067)                     $ (100,297)                       

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' DEFICIT $ 212,960                    $ 182,845                        

2007 2006
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CHICAGO PROPERTIES 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND MEMBERS’ DEFICIT 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006 AND THE PERIOD FROM APRIL 19, 2005 (DATE 

OF INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2005  

($ IN THOUSANDS) 

(Not Covered by (Not Covered by

Auditor's Report) Auditor's Report)

2007 2006 2005

RENTAL INCOME AND FEES $ 65,959         $ 68,496                $ 48,610                 

OPERATING EXPENSES

Interest expense 19,608         18,984                12,300                 

Real estate taxes 11,265         11,640                7,503                   

Depreciation 8,554           8,650                  6,594                   

Amortization 5,975           5,559                  4,024                   

Management fees 3,042           3,163                  2,096                   

Property operating expense 28,003         33,382                21,311                 

76,447         81,378                53,828                 

OPERATING LOSS (10,488)        (12,882)              (5,218)                 

OTHER INCOME

Interest income 203              163                     21                        

Gain on sale of properties 37,823         23,939                -                          

38,026         24,102                21                        

NET INCOME 27,538         11,220                (5,197)                 

MEMBERS' DEFICIT, BEGINNING OF PERIOD (100,297)      (101,016)            (95,770)               

CURRENT YEAR CONTRIBUTIONS OF CAPITAL 4,746           938                     -                          

CONTRIBUTIONS OF GROUP D PROPERTIES -                   -                         9,794                   

DISTRIBUTIONS (26,054)        (11,439)              (9,843)                 

MEMBERS' DEFICIT, END OF PERIOD $ (94,067)        $ (100,297)            $ (101,016)             
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CHICAGO PROPERTIES 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006 AND FOR THE PERIOD  

FROM APRIL 19, 2005 (DATE OF INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2005  

($ IN THOUSANDS) 

(Not Covered by (Not Covered by

Auditor's Report) Auditor's Report)

2007 2006 2005

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income  (loss) $ 27,538            $ 11,220      $ (5,197)

Adjustments:

  Depreciation 8,554              8,650        6,594         

  Amortization 5,975              5,559        4,024         

  Bad debt (recovery)expense (637)               2,196        -                

  Gain on sale of properties (37,823)          (23,939)     -                

  Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects of property additions and deletions:

      Tenant receivables 175                 396           (1,387)

      Deferred rent receviable (233)               167           (684)          

      Lease commissions (6,274)            (6,318)       (1,940)

      Prepaid expenses (184)               (52)            36              

      Other assets 965                 (977)          35              

      Accounts payable and accrued expenses (811)               958           5,510         

      Tenant security deposits and advanced rental deposits (1,407)            (1,126)       819            

  Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (4,162)            (3,266)       7,810         

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(37,873)          (14,828)     (5,556)

Proceeds from sale of properties 47,819            33,987      -                

(2,367)            156           (1,165)       

        Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 7,579              19,315      (6,721)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

94,465            30,659      9,227         

Principal payments on mortgage payable (75,144)          (37,257)     (511)          

Payment of loan fees (1)                   (264)          -                

Contributions from members 4,746              938           -                

Distributions to members (26,054)          (11,439)     (9,843)

        Net cash used in financing activities (1,988)            (17,363)     (1,127)

1,429              (1,314)       (38)            

1,861              3,175        3,213         

$ 3,290              $ 1,861        $ 3,175         

Purchase of investments in real estate

Decrease(increase) in restricted cash

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Proceeds from mortgages and notes payable

NET INCREASE(DECREASE) IN CASH

OPERATING CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR

OPERATING CASH, END OF YEAR
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying financial statements include the operations of 24 properties for the year ended December 31, 
2007 and 27 properties for the year ended December 31, 2006.  One property was acquired and two properties 
were sold during 2007.  Two properties were acquired and four properties were sold during 2006.  The 22 
properties owned as of December 31, 2007 contain approximately 3,564,000 square feet, substantially all of 
which are located in the Chicago metropolitan and suburban area (the “Chicago Properties”).  The individual 
entities are combined on the basis of common ownership and management.  All intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated.  The carrying values of the assets are at historical cost. 

On April 19, 2005, FT-MARC Loan LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Winthrop Realty Trust (formerly First 
Union Real Estate Equity and Mortgage Investments) (the “Trust”), made convertible mezzanine loans (the 
"Loans") to 22 non-affiliated third party borrowers in the aggregate amount of $69,326,000. Each of the 
borrowers is owned primarily by the principals of Marc Realty, a Chicago-based real estate company.  Each of 
the Loans is secured by the applicable borrower's ownership interest in a limited liability company, which we 
refer to as a Property Owner, which in turn owns an office building/complex.   One Loan is further secured by 
a second mortgage directly on the Property. Each borrower holds a 100% interest in the Property Owner other 
than with respect to two properties, in which the borrower holds a 75% interest in the Property Owner and one 
property in which the borrower holds a 90% interest in the Property Owner. Each of the Loans bears interest at 
7.65%, matures on April 18, 2012 and requires monthly payments of interest only. The amount advanced under 
each Loan together with the equity investment, as described below, was equal to 49% of the difference 
between the agreed upon value of the property and the existing debt encumbering the property. The Loans may 
be converted into an equity interest in the applicable borrower after one year at the request of the Trust or three 
years at the option of the borrower.  No such conversions have been made. 

On February 21, 2006, the Trust made a loan in the amount of $1,484,000 with respect to an additional 
property on the same terms as the Loans except that the amount advanced under the Loans together with the 
equity investment, as described below, was equal to 60% of the difference between the agreed upon value of 
the property and the existing debt encumbering the property.   

On December 28, 2006, the Trust made a loan in the amount of $351,000 with respect to an additional property 
on the same terms as the Loans except that the amount advanced under the Loans together with the equity 
investment, as described below, was equal to 60% of the difference between the agreed upon value of the 
property and the existing debt encumbering the property.   

On June 20, 2007, the Trust made a loan in the amount of $17,669,000 with respect to an additional property.  
The loan is secured by a first mortgage on the property, bears interest at 7.32%, requires monthly payments of 
interest only and matures on June 20, 2008. 

As part of the above transactions, the Trust acquired an equity interest in each of the borrowers in the form of 
Class B equity.  The original owners maintained a Class A interest in the properties which receive the net 
income or loss from the properties after the mezzanine and tenant improvement loans have been serviced. The 
Class B equity interest entitles the Trust to participate in capital proceeds derived from the sale or refinancing 
of the applicable property to the extent such proceeds generate amounts sufficient to fully satisfy all of the debt 
encumbering the property, including the Trust’s loan and a return to the borrower of its deemed equity plus a 
7.65% return thereon. The agreement between the Trust and Marc Realty related to the Chicago Properties will 
terminate April 19, 2025. 



CHICAGO PROPERTIES 

NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Information as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and for the year and the period then ended not covered by Auditor’s Report)

See independent auditors’ report and accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
145 

NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION (CONTINUED) 

In addition, in connection with the original Marc Realty transaction both the Trust and Marc Realty each 
committed to provide up to $7,350,000 in additional financing to cover the costs of tenant improvements and 
capital expenditures at the Chicago Properties.  During 2007, advances in excess of the $7,350,000 
commitment were required.  Accordingly, although neither the Trust nor Marc Realty has committed to 
provide additional advances, at December 31, 2007 both the Trust and Marc Realty had each advanced 
approximately $12,444,000.  The advances bear interest of 8.50% per annum and are secured by a subordinate 
loan on the applicable property. 

The Trust elected to redeem its Class B interest in two properties on September 12 and 13, 2006 for $450,000 
and the properties were subsequently sold on September 14 and 15, 2006 for $19,800,000.   

The Trust also elected to redeem its Class B interest in two additional properties on November 22, 2006, one 
for $630,000 and the other for $0, and the properties were subsequently sold on December 7 and 14, 2006 for 
$29,125,000. 

During 2007, the Trust elected to redeem its Class B interest in two properties.  On February 13, 2007, the 
Trust redeemed its interest in one property for $4,919,000 and the property was subsequently sold on February 
14, 2007 for $34,000,000.  On September 10, 2007, the Trust redeemed its interest in one property for 
$1,614,000 and the property was subsequently sold on September 11, 2007 for $22,650,000.   

The Trust also has the right to co-invest in all other office properties acquired by Marc Realty and their 
affiliates in the Chicago, Illinois metropolitan and suburban areas. 

Chicago Properties included assets and liabilities of properties for which the assets of the properties were sold 
in its December 31, 2006 balance sheet.  Management determined that a change in accounting entity was 
appropriate during 2007 in order to better represent the assets and liabilities of the properties for which the 
loans are outstanding.  Going forward, when properties are sold any remaining assets and liabilities in the 
underlying entity which held the property will be removed from the financial statements presented.  As such, 
these combined financial statements reflect the financial position, results of operations and cash flows if the 
remaining assets and underlying entity which held the property were removed upon sale of the property during 
2006.  The effect of the change was to decrease 2006 assets by $10,760,000 and to decrease liabilities and 
members’ deficit by $389,000 and $10,371,000, respectively.  The change had no effect on 2006 income.  The 
change had the following effect on the 2006 balance sheet: 

Cash  $ (590) 
Restricted Cash  $ (9,673) 
Tenant Receivable  $ (497) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ (373) 
Tenant security deposits and advanced rental deposits  $ (16) 
    
Members’ deficit  $ (10,371) 
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NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Investments in Real Estate 

Real estate assets are stated at cost.  Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.  
Significant renovations that extend the useful life of the properties are capitalized.  Depreciation for financial 
reporting purposes is computed using the straight-line method.  Buildings and building improvements are 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 39 years based on the property’s age, overall physical 
condition, type of construction materials and intended use.  Tenant improvements, which at December 31, 
2007 amounted to $43,495,000, are depreciated over the term of the lease of the tenant. 

Cash  

Cash balances are maintained with financial institutions and at times may be in excess of the FDIC insurance 
limit.  Restricted cash consists of real estate tax reserves, various deposits and construction reserves. 

Tenant Receivables 

Tenant receivables are stated at the amount that management expects to collect.  Management evaluates 
accounts receivable for each property to provide an allowance for uncollectible amounts at the time payment 
becomes unlikely.  The estimate is based on the history of tenant payment experience, tenant creditworthiness 
and a review of current economic developments. 

Lease commissions and loan fees

Lease commissions and loan fees are capitalized and amortized over the periods to which the underlying loan 
is outstanding or the lease is in effect. Amortization expense related to lease commissions and loan costs was 
$3,284,000, $2,243,000 and $1,007,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for the period 
from April 19, 2005 to December 31, 2005, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

The Trust accounts for its leases with tenants as operating leases with rental revenue recognized on a straight-
line basis from the later of the date of the commencement of the lease or the date of acquisition of the property 
subject to existing leases, which averages minimum rents over the terms of the leases.  The cumulative 
difference between lease revenue recognized under this method and contractual lease payment terms is 
recorded as deferred rent receivable on the accompanying balance sheets.  Accordingly, deferred rent 
receivables are recorded from tenants for the amount that is expected to be collected over the lease term rather 
than currently.  When a property is acquired, the term of existing leases is considered to commence as of the 
acquisition date. 

Property Operating Expense

Property operating expense consists of direct expenses of the underlying properties which include utilities, 
insurance, repairs and maintenance, security and safety, cleaning, bad debt expense, and other expenses. 

Income Taxes 

No provision for income taxes is reflected in the accompanying financial statements since income taxes are 
assessed at the individual member level. 
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NOTE B - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The carrying amounts for cash, restricted cash, tenant receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses 
approximate fair value as they are short-term in nature.  The fair market value of the debt instruments 
approximates the carrying value as the applicable interest rates on the majority of the debt instruments are at or 
near current market rates. 

Management’s Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities.  Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

NOTE C – LEASE INTANGIBLES  

Upon the acquisition of certain properties, the acquisition value was allocated to the land, buildings and other 
assets acquired using an “as if vacant” methodology.  As a result, an asset is recorded for the value of the in-
place operating leases.  This asset’s value is comprised of (i) origination value, which represents the “cost 
avoidance” value associated with acquired in-place leases; and (ii) value of the renewal of in-place leases, 
which represents the estimated loss of revenue and costs incurred to renew the operating leases following its 
expiration.  The origination value and the value of the renewal of in-place tenant leases are recorded as a 
deferred charge and are amortized over the remaining lease term. 

The gross amount allocated to the acquired in-place leases was $17,438,000 and $14,253,000 as of December 
31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.  The accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 was 
$10,814,000 and $8,126,000. 

The estimated future amortization expense by year is as follows ($ in thousands): 

2008  $ 2,090 
2009   1,503 
2010   1,056 
2011   834 
2012   538 
Thereafter   629 

Total  $ 6,650 
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NOTE D – RENTAL REVENUES 

Rental revenues are obtained from tenant operating leases. The leases mature on various dates from January 31, 
2008 to December 31, 2035.  Future minimum base rental payments during the primary terms of all tenant 
operating leases as of December 31, 2007 are as follows ($ in thousands): 

2008  $ 50,847 
2009   43,740 
2010   36,218 
2011   29,494 
2012   22,859 
Thereafter   68,439 

Total  $ 251,597 

NOTE E – MORTGAGES & OTHER NOTES PAYABLE 

Mortgages and other notes payable consisted of the following ($ in thousands): 

  Mortgage notes payable, stated interest rates ranging from 5.2% to 
  8.18%, various maturities from June 20, 2008 through  
  December 31, 2017, secured by land and buildings    $   187,574 

  FT-Marc Loans, bearing interest at 7.65%, monthly 
  interest only payments, maturing April 18, 2012, secured by  
  borrower’s interest in the LLC  55,577 

  Wraparound mortgages with NW Loan, LLC, an affiliate of  
  Marc Realty, variable interest rate with a floor of 5.5% and a ceiling of 6.5%, 
  monthly interest only payments, secured by the land and buildings,  
  maturing April 30, 2008 11,010 

  Tenant improvement and capital expenditure loans from FT-Marc Loan, 
  bearing interest at 8.5%, monthly interest only payments, maturing  
  in 2012                                            24,707

    
  Total  $  278,868

Required principal payments for the next five years and in total thereafter are as follows ($ in thousands): 

2008  $ 75,931 
2009   9,854 
2010   2,632 
2011   16,334 
2012   91,729 
Thereafter   82,388 

Total  $ 278,868 
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NOTE F - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Properties are managed by Marc Realty.  The management fee is equal to 5% of rental revenue, expense 
recoveries and other miscellaneous charges paid by tenants.  Total fees incurred were $3,042,000 for 2007, 
$3,163,000 for 2006 and $2,096,000 for the period from April, 19 to December 31, 2005. 

Marc Realty also receives a fee for construction management services of 8% for the first $250,000 of 
construction costs incurred during the applicable Chicago Properties owner’s fiscal year, 7% for the next 
$750,000 of costs and 6% for costs over $1,000,000.  Construction management fees were $1,268,000 for 2007, 
$494,000 for 2006 and $423,000 for the period from April 19 to December 31, 2005. 

Marc Realty was reimbursed for all reasonable expenses incurred in carrying out the Chicago Properties’ 
operating activities under the terms of the management agreement.  The Chicago Properties paid 
reimbursements for payroll and overhead expenses of approximately $3,117,000 for 2007, $3,511,000 for 2006 
and $2,370,000 for the period from April 19 to December 31, 2005.  These reimbursements are recorded as 
revenue. 

Marc Realty also receives lease commissions for new leases signed and tenant lease renewals.  The 
commissions are based on the square footage rented for office leases and on a percentage of the average annual 
rent for retail leases.  These amounts are capitalized and were included in lease commissions and loan fees at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006.  Marc Realty receives lease administration fees of up to $1,500 per renewal of a 
lease and $5,000 per new lease rental to cover its internal legal expenses.  Lease administration fees were 
$1,352,000 for 2007, $854,000 for 2006 and $823,000 for the period from April 19 to December 31, 2005. 

The Chicago Properties owed Marc Realty approximately $1,685,000 and $110,000 at December 31, 2007 and 
2006, respectively, for expenses paid by Marc Realty on their behalf.  This amount is included in accounts 
payable. 

NOTE G – GAIN ON SALE OF PROPERTIES 

The land, buildings and associated improvements for two properties were sold during 2007 and for four 
properties were sold in 2006.  A gain was recorded as follows: 

                        2007                   2006        

Sales price of land, buildings  
     and associated improvements  $56,650,000      $48,925,000 

Closing costs, credits and prorations  
     associated with sales       (8,831,000)      (14,938,000) 

Net book value of land, building  
     and associated improvements     (9,996,000)              (10,048,000)

      
Gain on sale of properties   $37,823,000      $23,939,000
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NOTE H - LITIGATION 

The Chicago Properties are exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft, damage to and destruction of 
assets, errors and omissions and natural disasters for which the Chicago Properties carry commercial insurance. 
The Chicago Properties are a party to certain legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its business. 
Marc Realty, after consulting with legal counsel, currently believes that the ultimate outcome of these 
proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the Chicago 
Properties’ financial position or results of operations. 

NOTE I – SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

On January 1, 2008, one of the Chicago Properties was transferred pursuant to an installment sales contract.  
Upon satisfaction of the remaining condition, the property will be conveyed for a purchase price of 
$14,500,000, subject to adjustment.  The entity that holds title to the property has already received $1,000,000 
as partial payment of the purchase price.  It is presently anticipated that the remaining condition will be 
satisfied during the second quarter of 2008.  The Trust will redeem its Class B interest in the property upon 
payment of the final installment related to the sale. 

Also during the first quarter of 2008, a contract was entered into for the sale of one of the Chicago Properties 
for a gross purchase price of $11,600,000.  It is expected that the sale of this property will be completed in 
March, 2008. 


